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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the management of
the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority and have been prepared in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards. In management's opinion, the consolidated
financial statements have been properly prepared within reasonable limits of materiality,
incorporating management's best judgment regarding all necessary estimates and all other data
available to July 26, 2013.

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the assets and to provide
reasonable assurance that the books and records from which the consolidated financial
statements are derived accurately reflect all transactions in all material respects.

The responsibility of the Auditor General is to express an independent opinion on whether the
consolidated financial statements of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority are fairly
represented in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. The Auditor's
Report outlines the scope of the audit examination and provides the audit opinion.

On behalf of Management,
Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

Lynn Cowley, Chairperson
July 26, 2013
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(FFICE OF THE

AUDITOR GENERAL

MANITOBA

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Legislative Assembly of Manitoba
To the Members of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at March 31,
2013 and the consolidated statements of operations and accumulated surplus, change in net debt and cash
flow for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and ather explanatory
information,

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control
as management detcrmines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit,
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements arc free [rom material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority as at March 31, 2013, and the results of its
operations, its change in net debt and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian
public sector accounting standards.

{"'“(,'/;;W; e ’_Cj\p Nl U L_“l'_,f,u..i}"/(’

Office of the Auditor General
Winnipeg, Manitoba
July 26, 2013

500 - 330 Portage Avenue Winnipeg, Manitoba R3C OC2 office: [204) 945-3790 fax: (204) 945-2169
www.oag.mb.ca
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Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at March 31, 2013

(In Thousands)

March 31, March 31,
2013 2012
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 6) $ 53,884 $ 47,753
Accounts receivable (Note 7) 19,784 20,355
Portfolio investments 9,431 8,332
Inventories for resale 7,811 7,682
90,910 84,122
Liabilities
Working capital advances (Note 8) 13,421 14,315
Accounts payable and accruals 19,063 20,310
Unearned revenue 7,253 5,348
Employee future benefits (Note 9) 9,447 9,246
Capital lease obligations (Note 10) 74 109
Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba (Note 11) 104,668 97,911
153,926 147,239
Net Debt (63,016) (63,117)
Non-financial Assets
Inventories held for use 200 220
Prepaid expenses 4,049 3,969
Tangible capital assets (Note 12) 157,477 149,779
161,726 153,968
Accumulated Surplus (Note 13) $ 98,710 $ 90,851

Designated assets (Note 14)
Commitments (Note 15)
Contingencies (Note 16)

The accompanying notes and schedule are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba
Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus
For the Year Ended March 31, 2013

(In Thousands)

2013 2012
Budget Actual Actual

Revenue

Grants:
Province of Manitoba $ 4,386 $ 4,294 $ 6,095
Federal Government 545 1,077 1,957
Other 2,345 2,591 2,667
Total grants 7,276 7,962 10,719
Revenue from Province of Manitoba entities 133,348 128,116 129,272
Fees and other revenue 86,123 89,999 84,740
Investment income 232 447 354
Total revenue 226,979 226,524 225,085

Expense
Personnel services 66,423 61,140 57,738
Grants/Transfer payments 2,451 2,076 3,463
Transportation 3,876 3,446 3,406
Communication 6,570 6,102 6,309
Supplies and services 75,901 73,414 77,800
Debt servicing 5,018 4,588 4,454
Minor capital 80 281 296
Amortization 26,700 26,093 24,171
Other operating 17,038 15,345 14,870
Total expense 204,057 192,485 192,507

Net income before the transfer of funds

to the Province of Manitoba 22,922 34,039 32,578
Transfer of funds to the Province of Manitoba (Note 17) 26,180 26,180 26,180
Net income (3,258) 7,859 6,398
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 88,032 90,851 84,453
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 84,774 $ 98,710 $ 90,851

The accompanying notes and schedule are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba
Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Debt

For the Year Ended March 31, 2013

(In Thousands)

Net income

Tangible capital assets
Acquisition of tangible capital assets
Amortization of tangible capital assets
Gain on disposal of tangible capital assets
Disposal of tangible capital assets

Net change

Other non-financial assets
(Increase) decrease in inventory held for use
(Increase) in prepaid expense

Net change

(Increase) decrease in net debt

Net debt, beginning of year

Net debt, end of year

The accompanying notes and schedule are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2013 2012

Budget Actual Actual

$ (3,258) 7,859 $ 6,398
(37,549) (36,133) (35,553)

25,718 26,093 24,172
(462) (673) 472)

3,011 3,015 2,398
(9,282) (7,698) (9,455)
- 20 (16)
(501) (80) (73)
(501) (60) (89)
(13,041) 101 (3,146)
(72,592) (63,117) (59,971)
$ (85,633) (63,016) $ (63,117)




Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow
For the Year Ended March 31, 2013

(In Thousands)

2013 2012
Actual Actual
Cash provided by (applied to):
Operating
Net income $ 7,859 $ 6,398
Amortization of tangible capital assets 26,093 24,172
Gain on disposal of tangible capital assets (673) (472)
33,279 30,098
Change in:
Accounts receivable 571 3,523
Inventories (1209) (429)
Accounts payable and accruals (1,247) 561
Unearned revenue 1,905 78
Employee future benefits 201 731
Prepaid expenses (80) (73)
Cash provided by operating activities 34,520 34,489
Capital
Proceeds from disposal of tangible capital assets 3,015 2,398
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (36,133) (35,553)
Cash applied to capital activities (33,118) (33,155)
Investing
Portfolio investments (1,099) 157
Cash provided by (applied to) investing activities (1,099) 157
Financing
Working capital advances (894) 1,405
Capital lease obligations (35) (45)
Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba 19,600 17,070
Debt repayments to the Province of Manitoba (12,843) (11,659)
Cash provided by financing activities 5,828 6,771
Increase in cash 6,131 8,262
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 47,753 39,491
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 53,884 $ 47,753

The accompanying notes and schedule are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Nature of Organization

The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (the "Financing Authority”) is a body
corporate established effective April 1, 1992 under The Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority Act. Under the direction of the Minister of Finance, the Financing
Authority consists of the Chairperson as its sole member and receives staff support from the
Department of Finance.

The Financing Authority provides a mechanism for funding Special Operating Agencies
(SOAs) that operate outside the Consolidated Fund. It functions as a non-operating holding
company, with the mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting from SOA
operations. It finances SOAs through contributed equity, repayable loans, and working
capital advances. This financial framework enables SOAs to operate in a business-like
manner within government policy expectations.

SOAs are designated by regulation under the Act and operate under a charter approved by
the Lieutenant Governor in Council. A management agreement between the Financing
Authority and the Minister responsible for each SOA assigns responsibility to the agency to
manage and account for SOA-related assets and operations on behalf of the Financing
Authority. SOAs remain accountable to their Minister for the results they achieve with the
authority and resources granted.

SOAs in operation during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013 were as follows:

1) Civil Legal Services, Department of Justice

2) Companies Office, Department of Healthy Living, Seniors and Consumer Affairs

3) Crown Lands and Property Agency, Department of Infrastructure and Transportation

4) Food Development Centre, Department of Agriculture, Food and Rural Initiatives

5) Green Manitoba Eco Solutions, Department of Conservation and Water Stewardship

6) Industrial Technology Centre, Department of Innovation, Energy and Mines

7) Manitoba Education, Research and Learning Information Networks (MERLIN),
Department of Innovation, Energy and Mines

8) Manitoba Financial Services Agency (formerly Manitoba Securities Commission),
Department of Finance

9) Manitoba Text Book Bureau, Department of Education

10) Materials Distribution Agency, Department of Infrastructure and Transportation

11) Office of the Fire Commissioner, Department of Family Services and Labour

12) Organization and Staff Development, Civil Service Commission

13) Pineland Forest Nursery, Department of Conservation and Water Stewardship

14) The Property Registry, Department of Healthy Living, Seniors and Consumer Affairs

15) The Public Trustee, Department of Justice

16) Vehicle and Equipment Management Agency, Department of Infrastructure and
Transportation

17) Vital Statistics Agency, Department of Healthy Living, Seniors and Consumer Affairs
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1.

Nature of Organization (continued)
During the year, changes were made to the following SOAs:

a) Treasury Board Secretariat issued a Program Portfolio Management Review (PPMR)
Minute on September 22, 2012 which approved the transfer of the Financial Institutions
Regulation Branch (FIRB) of the Department of Finance to the Manitoba Securities
Commission, effective October 1, 2012. Since that date, this SOA has been operating
as the Manitoba Financial Services Agency.

This change was subsequently reflected in Regulation 29/2013, which provides an
updated listing of the special operating agencies, including the merger of Manitoba
securities Commission and FIRB. As well, it was reflected in the background to the
Order in Council 77/2013.

b) The designation of Organization and Staff Development as a special operating agency
under The Special Operating Agencies Financial Authority Act was revoked by a
Manitoba Order in Council dated March 13, 2013 and its operating charter was
cancelled effective March 31, 2013. As of March 31, 2013 the net assets were
transferred out of the organization to Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
and the capital assets and inventory on hand were then transferred to the Province. On
April 1, 2013 Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority then transferred the
remaining net assets to the Province where Organization and Staff Development will
continue to operate as a branch in the Civil Service Commission.

2. Basis of Accounting
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian Public
Sector Accounting Standards as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board.

3. Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses
of the reporting entity, which is composed of all SOAs as listed in Note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements. These SOAs are controlled by the Financing Authority. Control, as
defined by the Public Sector Accounting Board, is the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of the SOAs with expected benefits or the risk of loss to the Financing
Authority from their activities.

All inter-entity accounts and transactions between these SOAs are eliminated upon
consolidation.
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4.

Significant Accounting Policies

a. Revenue

b.

(i) Government transfers
Government transfers are recognized in the period in which the transactions or
events occurred that gave rise to the revenues. All government transfers are
recorded on an accrual basis, except when the accruals cannot be determined with a
reasonable degree of certainty or when their estimation is impracticable.
Government transfer with eligibility criteria but without stipulations is recognized as
revenue when the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.
Government transfer with or without eligibility criteria but with stipulations is
recognized as revenue in the period the transfer is authorized and all eligibility
criteria have been met, except when and to the extent that the stipulations give rise
to a liability.
(i) Exchange transactions
Product revenue is recognized when the goods are shipped or delivered and title
and risk of loss pass to the customer. Service revenue is recognized when the
rendering of services is completed or substantially completed.
(iii) Other revenue
All other revenues are recorded on an accrual basis.
Expenses
(i) Accrual accounting
All expenses incurred for goods and services are recorded on an accrual basis.
(i) Government transfers

Government transfers are recognized as expenses in the period in which the
transfers are authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met by the recipient.

Financial Assets

(i)

(ii)

Portfolio investments
Portfolio Investments are short-term deposits with original maturities of more than
three months. These investments are recognized at cost or amortized cost.

Inventories for resale
Inventories for resale are recorded at the lower of cost or net realizable value.

Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring prior to
the end of the fiscal year. The settlement of the liabilities will result in the future transfer or
use of assets or other form of settlement. Liabilities are recorded at the estimated amount
ultimately payable.
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4.

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

e.

Non-financial Assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge liabilities of the
Financing Authority. These assets are normally employed to provide future services.

(i) Inventories
Inventories held for use are classified as non-financial assets. Inventories held for
resale are classified as non-financial assets if it is anticipated that the sale will not
be completed within one year.

(i) Prepaid expenses
Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services which will provide economic
benefit in future periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the
year the goods or services are consumed.

(iii) Tangible capital assets
Tangible Capital Assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price
as well as other acquisition costs. The costs of tangible capital assets, less any
residual value, are amortized over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Vehicles - straight line over term of lease
Vehicles, fire engines - 30%, declining balance
Equipment and furniture - 62/3% - 20%, straight line

20% - 30%, declining balance
Rental equipment - 2- 5years, straight line
Computer equipment and software - 4-15 years, straight line

20% - 30%, declining balance
Buildings - 15 years, straight line

5% - 10%, declining balance
Practical training site - 10%, declining balance
Leasehold improvements - 5 - 10 years, straight line

Measurement Uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of
contingencies at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amount of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from
these estimates.

Administrative Expenses Paid by the Province of Manitoba
The Treasury Board Secretariat pays for salaries and certain operating expenses on

behalf of the Financing Authority. These contributions totaling $112 (2012 - $116) are
recorded as expenses and revenue of the Financing Authority.
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Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management

Measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories: (a) fair
value; or (b) cost or amortized cost.

The Financing Authority records its financial assets at cost or amortized cost, which include
cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and portfolio investments. The Financing
Authority also records its financial liabilities at cost or amortized cost, which include working
capital advances, accounts payable and borrowings.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recorded in
accumulated surplus as remeasurement gains and losses until realized. Upon disposition of
the financial instruments, the cumulative remeasurement gains and losses are reclassified to
the consolidated statement of operations. Gains and losses on financial instruments
measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in the consolidated statement of
operations in the period the gain or loss occurs.

The Financing Authority does not incur any remeasurement gains and losses during the year
(2012 - $nil).

Financial risk management - overview

The Financing Authority has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial
instruments: credit risk; liquidity risk and market risk; interest risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation
and causes financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject
the Financing Authority to credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents,
accounts receivable, and portfolio investments.

The maximum exposure of the Financing Authority to credit risk at March 31 is:

2013 2012

Cash and cash equivalents $53,884 $47,753
Accounts receivable 19,784 20,355
Portfolio investments 9,431 8,332
$83,099 $76,440

Cash and cash equivalents, and portfolio investments: The Financing Authority is not
exposed to significant credit risk as these amounts are held by the Minister of Finance or a
Chartered Bank.

Accounts receivable: The Financing Authority is not exposed to significant credit risk as the
majority of its accounts receivable are with related entities. The balance is due from a large
client base, and payment in full is typically collected when it is due. The Financing Authority
manages this credit risk through close monitoring of credit applications and overdue
accounts.
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Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management (continued)

The Financing Authority establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its
estimate of potential credit losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on
management’s estimates and assumptions regarding current market conditions, customer
analysis and historical payment trends. These factors are considered when determining
whether past due accounts are allowed for or written off.

The change in the allowance for doubtful accounts during the year was as follows:

2013 2012
Balance, beginning of the year $ 713 $ 533
Provision for receivable impairment 18 269
Amounts written off (40) (89)
Balance, end of the year $ 691 $ 713

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Financing Authority will not be able to meet its financial
obligations as they come due.

The Financing Authority manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and
by review from the Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet
the obligations.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign
exchange rates, will affect the Financing Authority’s income or the fair values of its financial
instruments.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure
relates to funds on deposit, portfolio investments and borrowings.

The interest rate risk on funds on deposit is considered to be low because of their short-
term nature. The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the
original deposits are reinvested at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.

The Financing Authority manages its interest rate risk on long-term debt through the
exclusive use of fixed rate terms for its long-term debt. A one percent (100 basis points)
movement in interest rates on the working capital advances for an entire year would
increase/decrease debt servicing costs by $139 (2012 - $136).

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Financing
Authority is not exposed to significant foreign currency risk as it does not have any
financial instruments denominated in foreign currency.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, balances with banks and short-term
deposits with original maturities of three months or less.

2013 2012
Restricted $ 2,186 $ 1,851
Unrestricted 51,698 45,902
Total cash and cash equivalents $ 53,884 $ 47,753

The restricted balance represents primarily the amount of customer deposits held in a
separate bank account. These deposits are unearned revenue until services are provided.

Accounts Receivable

2013 2012

Trade $17,815 $17,661
Insurance agency rebate 613 627
Other 1,356 2,067
$19,784 $20,355

Working Capital Advances

The Minister of Finance, with Lieutenant-Governor-in-Council approval by Orders in Council,
has arranged for working capital advances to be available to the Financing Authority. The
aggregate of the outstanding advances is not to exceed $33,120 (2012 - $31,620) at any one
time. As at March 31, 2013, $13,421 (2012 - $14,315) was advanced, leaving an unused
balance of $19,699 (2012 - $17,305). These advances bear interest at prime less 1% and
are not secured by specific assets.

Employee Future Benefits

2013 2012

Pension benefits $ - $ -
Severance benefits 8,343 8,161
Sick pay benefits 1,104 1,085
$ 9,447 $ 9,246
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Employee Future Benefits (continued)
Pension benefits

Employees of SOAs are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of the
Civil Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service Superannuation
Board (CSSB). The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide benefits to
employees of the Manitoba Civil Service and to participating agencies of the Government,
including the SOAs, through the Civil Service Superannuation Fund.

Pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the SOAs are required to pay to
the Province an annual amount equal to the current pension contributions of their
employees. The amount paid for 2013 is $3,391 (2012 - $2,907). Under this agreement, the
pension liability is the responsibility of the Province, and these SOAs have no further pension
liability.

Severance benefits

Effective April 1, 1998 or the date of their creation, whichever is later; SOAs began recording
accumulated severance pay benefits for their employees. The amount of their severance pay
obligations is based on actuarial calculations. The periodic actuarial valuations of these
liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to the actuarial calculations when
actual experience is different from that expected and/or because of changes in actuarial
assumptions used. The resulting actuarial gains or losses are amortized over the expected
average remaining service life of the related employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2011. The
report provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. The special operating
agencies’ actuarially determined net liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2013 is
$8,343 (2012 - $8,161). The actuarial loss of $462 based on actuarial reports is being
amortized over the 15 year expected average remaining service life (EARSL) of the
employee group.

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2011 valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2013 present value of the accrued severance benefit
obligation were:

Annual rate of return

inflation component 2.00%
real rate of return 4.00%
6.00%

Assumed salary increase rates
annual productivity increase 1.00%
annual general salary increase 2.75%
3.75%
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9. Employee Future Benefits (continued)

The severance benefit liability at March 31 includes the following components:

2013 2012
Accrued benefit liability $8,616 $8,464
Less: unamortized actuarial losses (273) (303)
Severance benefit liability $8,343 $8,161
The total expenses related to severance benefits at March 31 includes the following
components:

2013 2012
Interest on obligation $550 $507
Current period benefit cost 270 254
Amortization of actuarial gain over EARSL 31 31
Total expense related to severance benefit $851 $792
Sick pay benefits
The Financing Authority provides sick leave benefits for employees that accumulate but do
not vest. The accrued benefit obligation related to sick leave entitlement earned by
employees is determined using a valuation model developed by an actuary. The valuation is
based on employee demographics, sick leave usage and actuarial assumptions. These
assumptions include a 6.00% annual return and a 3.75% annual salary increase.

10. Capital Lease Obligations

2013 2012
Polaris Leasing Ltd., capital lease due November 1, 2013,
interest at 7.318% per year with annual principal and
interest payments of $43 for the first 4 years and a final
payment of $79 in 2014 $ 74 $ 109

Capital lease obligations are secured by equipment under lease. The future minimum lease
payments for the next year are as follows:

2014 $74
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11. Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba

Instalment Amount Interest Rate Maturity Date 2013 2012

Repayable in monthly instalments of principal plus interest:

6 5.125% Jul 31, 2023 $ 784 $ 859
3 4.875% Jul 31, 2023 338 371
2 4.875% Jul 31, 2023 221 243
1 3.875% Jan 31, 2021 119 134
Repayable in quarterly instalments of principal plus interest:
33 4.000% Mar 1, 2021 1,064 1,197
49 3.000% Mar 30, 2022 1,773 1,970
Repayable in semi-annual instalments of principal and interest:
137 4.750% Sep 30, 2012 - 133
142 5.000% Sep 30, 2012 - 138
345 4.000% Mar 31, 2013 - 670
140 4.050% Sep 30, 2013 137 404
355 3.875% Sep 30, 2013 348 1,025
376 2.625% Sep 30, 2014 1,098 1,807
148 4.875% Mar 31, 2015 556 814
215 2.625% Mar 31, 2015 831 1,231
117 4.125% Sep 30, 2015 550 755
482 2.500% Sep 30, 2015 2,320 3,208
271 2.563% Sep 30, 2016 1,805 2,292
581 2.050% Sep 30, 2016 3,909 4,975
186 3.450% Mar 31, 2017 1,378 1,695
213 2.375% Mar 31, 2017 1,619 2,000
269 2.250% Sep 30, 2017 2,287 2,765
530 2.125% Sep 30, 2017 4,524 -
212 2.125% Mar 31, 2018 2,000 -
232 2.200% Sep 30, 2018 2,396 -
237 4.875% Sep 30, 2023 3,858 4,133
102 3.400% Sep 30, 2023 1,792 1,932
334 5.000% Mar 31, 2024 5,607 5,982
192 4.875% Mar 31, 2024 3,239 3,457
2,018 4.875% Mar 31, 2024 34,046 36,338
162 4.500% Sep 30, 2024 2,879 3,066
201 4.000% Sep 30, 2025 3,923 4,161
162 4.550% Mar 31, 2026 3,158 3,333
213 3.300% Sep 30, 2027 4,870 -
127 3.250% Sep 30, 2027 2,922 -
86 3.375% Mar 31, 2028 2,000 -
80 5.000% Mar 31, 2030 1,811 1,877
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Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba (continued)

Instalment Amount Interest Rate Maturity Date 2013 2012

Repayable in annual instalments of principal plus interest:

18 5.800% Apr 30, 2017 89 106
175 5.625% May 30, 2019 1,225 1,400
60 4.200% Mar 31, 2026 780 840
113 3.400% Mar 31, 2027 1,587 1,700

Repayment terms to be determined:
- Prime less 0.75% - 825 900

$104,668 $97,911

Interest cost is measured using the effective interest method. Principal repayments in each
of the next five years are as follows:

2014 $13,108
2015 12,645
2016 11,338
2017 10,244
2018 8,123

Loan authority availability was approved for the following agencies (listed in the following
table):

Under the Loan Act, 2012

Vehicle and Equipment Management Agency $29,600
The Property Registry 6,000
Industrial Technology Centre 910
Pineland Forest Nursery 441
Vital Statistics Agency 70
Total loan authority $37,021

Of the $37,021 in available loan authority, $19,600 was drawn down at various times during
the year, leaving $17,421 of the loan authority availability unutilized.
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12. Tangible Capital Assets

Cost

Vehicles (signed lease agreement)

Vehicles, fire engines

Equipment and furniture

Rental equipment

Computer equipment and
software

Buildings

Practical training site

Leasehold improvements

Total cost

Accumulated Amortization
Vehicles (signed lease agreement)
Vehicles, fire engines
Equipment and furniture

Rental equipment

Computer equipment and
software

Buildings

Practical training site
Leasehold improvements

Total Accumulated amortization

Net

2013

Opening Closing

Balance Additions Disposals Balance
219,403 31,017 17,811 232,609
2,667 495 26 3,136
21,173 1,144 184 22,133
9,605 976 - 10,581
15,065 1,970 152 16,883
20,420 7,634 - 28,054
9,755 (7,125) - 2,630
2,769 22 - 2,791
300,857 36,133 18,173 318,817

Opening Closing

Balance Amortization Disposals Balance
104,791 21,150 15,560 110,381
2,161 300 25 2,436
13,843 1,173 97 14,919
8,393 831 - 9,224
8,640 1,140 149 9,631
9,415 1,265 - 10,680
1,509 112 - 1,621
2,326 122 - 2,448
151,078 26,093 15,831 161,340
149,779 10,040 2,342 157,477
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12. Tangible Capital Assets (continued)

Cost

Vehicles (signed lease agreement)

Vehicles, fire engines

Equipment and furniture

Rental equipment

Computer equipment and
software

Buildings

Practical training site

Leasehold improvements

Total cost

Accumulated Amortization

Vehicles (signed lease agreement)
Vehicles, fire engines

Equipment and furniture

Rental equipment

Computer equipment and

software

Buildings

Practical training site

Leasehold improvements

Total Accumulated amortization

Net

2012

Opening Closing

Balance Additions Disposals Balance
208,801 26,182 15,580 219,403
2,555 148 36 2,667
20,227 958 12 21,173
8,930 675 - 9,605
11,789 3,293 17 15,065
20,319 101 - 20,420
5,655 4,100 - 9,755
2,673 96 - 2,769
280,949 35,553 15,645 300,857

Opening Closing

Balance Amortization Disposals Balance
98,902 19,558 13,669 104,791
1,982 211 32 2,161
12,598 1,248 3 13,843
7,508 885 - 8,393
7,696 959 15 8,640
8,330 1,085 - 9,415
1,411 98 - 1,509
2,198 128 - 2,326
140,625 24,172 13,719 151,078
140,324 11,381 1,926 149,779
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13. Accumulated Surplus

Reserve funds

The Financing Authority has allocated $750 of its accumulated surplus (2012 - $846) for
reserve funds that are internally designated for the following purposes:

a)

b)

Food Development Centre

Based on approvals from Treasury Board, the Centre has allocated $nil (2012 - $96) of
its accumulated surplus for reserve funds that are internally designated for the
commercial and training expansion program.

Manitoba Financial Services Agency
The Manitoba Financial Services Agency has designated $750 of its portfolio

investments (2012 - $750) as a reserve fund to provide for extraordinary regulatory
expenses and changes in market activity affecting revenue.

14.

Designated Assets

Designated assets are distinct from restricted assets. Unlike restricted assets, the Financing
Authority can readily change its by-law or resolution and use the designated assets for
another purpose if the need arises. The Financing Authority has allocated $7,575 (2012 -
$7,620) of its portfolio investments as designated assets for the following purposes:

a)

b)

The Manitoba Financial Services Agency maintains separate deposits of $750 (2012 -
$750) to fund expenses which may arise with respect to its reserve fund (Note 13b).

The Financing Authority has received $6,825 ($2012 - $6,870) of cash from the
Province of Manitoba primarily for the vacation entitlements earned by the employees of
the SOAs prior to their designation as SOAs and the severance pay benefits
accumulated to March 31, 1998 for certain of their employees. This amount is held in an
interest bearing account until the cash is required to discharge the related
liabilities. Any unused balance is re-invested annually.
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15. Commitments

Commitments for SOAs with building lease agreements at March 31, 2013 amount to
$13,862 (2012 - $9,189).

Other commitments entered into by SOAs are as follows:

Crown Lands And Property Agency Vehicle and equipment leases $ 76
Office of the Fire Commissioner Vehicle leases 451
The Property Registry Equipment lease agreements 120

$ 647

Estimated minimum lease payments for each of the next five years are as follows:

2014 $2,231
2015 2,256
2016 2,240
2017 2,228
2018 2,207

16. Contingencies

A potential claim has been filed against Organization and Staff Development for breach of an
agreement. In the opinion of management and legal counsel, the amount of the potential loss
cannot be estimated, and the outcome of the claim is not determinable. Should any loss
result from the resolution of this claim, such loss will be charged to operations in the year of
resolution.

The Property Registry has been named in five lawsuits for which the likelihood of damages
being awarded and the amount to be awarded is not reasonably estimable. Should any loss
result from the resolution of these claims, such loss will be charged to the Assurance Fund of
Manitoba in the year of resolution.
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17.

Transfer of Funds to the Province of Manitoba

The Minister of Finance, with Lieutenant-Governor-in-Council approval by Order in Council,
allocated $26,180 (2012 - $26,180) of the Financing Authority’s surplus funds for transfer to
the Consolidated Fund of the Province of Manitoba. Payments for this transfer were made
by the following SOAs:

2013 2012

Civil Legal Services $ 250 $ 250
Companies Office 2,500 2,500
Manitoba Financial Services Agency 8,800 8,800
Office of the Fire Commissioner 750 750
The Property Registry 11,000 11,000
Vehicle and Equipment Management Agency 2,500 2,500
Vital Statistics Agency 380 380
$26,180 $26,180

18.

Estates and Trusts under Administration

The Public Trustee has statutory responsibility for administering clients’ estates and trusts.
The client assets under administration at March 31, 2013 total approximately $223,000
(2012 - $226,000). The trust activities of The Public Trustee are reported in separate
audited financial statements for Estates and Trusts under Administration.

19.

Related party transactions

The Financing Authority is related in terms of common ownership to all Province of Manitoba
created departments, agencies and Crown corporations. The Financing Authority enters into
transactions with these entities in the normal course of business. These transactions are
recorded at the exchange amount.

20.

Budgeted figures

Budgeted figures have been provided for comparison purposes and have been derived from
the estimates approved by the management of the various Special Operating Agencies
consolidated in these financial statements.

Page 2014



21. Subsequent events

a)

b)

On December 12, 2012, Teranet Holdings Limited Partnership and the Province of
Manitoba entered into a term sheet setting out the fundamental terms and conditions of
a transaction pursuant to which the Province of Manitoba will grant to a limited
partnership, Teranet Manitoba LP, a 30-year exclusive concession to own and operate
the business and operations of The Property Registry of Manitoba (the “TPR”), which
includes the transfer of certain assets and a workforce of approximately 137 employees.
Under the terms of the proposed agreement, Teranet Manitoba will provide services to
the Province of Manitoba to facilitate the delivery by the Province of Manitoba of its
statutory functions relating to the Land Titles Office and the Personal Property Registry.

The completion of the transaction will be subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions
and the finalization of mutually agreed upon definitive agreements. The transaction is
expected to close in the first half of the 2014 fiscal year.

Commencing on the closing date and for the duration of the term of the definitive

agreements, Teranet Manitoba will be:

- entitled to receive and retain all statutory fees and certain other fees collected in
connection with the operation of the TPR Business, including registration and search
fees; and

- required to pay to the Province of Manitoba an annual royalty at rates that will vary
based upon transaction volumes.

Effective April 1, 2013, Companies Office amalgamated with the following branches and

functions of the Department of Entrepreneurship Training and Trade and continued as a

special operating agency under the name Entrepreneurship Manitoba:

- Small Business Development Branch;

- Competitiveness Initiatives Branch;

- Business Settlement Office of the Business Immigration and Investment Branch;
and

- Canada/Manitoba Business Service Centre.

22. Comparative figures

Comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2013 have been restated, where
appropriate, to conform to the presentation adopted for March 31, 2012.

Page 2015



Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba
Schedule of Summarized Results by Special Operating Agency
For the Year Ended March 31, 2013

(In Thousands)

2013
Transfer of
Net income funds to the Net
(loss) before Province of income
Revenue Expense the transfer  Manitoba (loss)
Civil Legal Services $ 8057 $ 7638 $ 419 % 250 % 169
Companies Office 8,168 4,461 3,707 2,500 1,207
Crown Lands and Property Agency 4,648 4,611 37 - 37
Food Development Centre 3,887 4,574 (687) - (687)
Green Manitoba Eco Solutions 2,859 2,677 182 - 182
Industrial Technology Centre 2,936 2,851 85 - 85
Manitoba Education, Research and
Learning Information Networks 4,532 4,504 28 - 28
Manitoba Financial Services Agency 16,191 4,496 11,695 8,800 2,895
(formerly Manitoba Securities Commission)
Manitoba Text Book Bureau 8,032 8,046 (14) - (14)
Materials Distribution Agency 25,035 24,849 186 - 186
Office of the Fire Commissioner 16,696 13,643 3,053 750 2,303
Organization and Staff Development 1,524 1,945 (421) - (421)
Pineland Forest Nursery 2,511 3,110 (599) - (599)
The Property Registry 27,174 13,956 13,218 11,000 2,218
The Public Trustee 6,941 6,330 611 - 611
Vehicle and Equipment Management Agency 86,465 84,049 2,416 2,500 (84)
Vital Statistics Agency 3,505 3,572 (67) 380 (447)
Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority 401 211 190 - 190
Total before consolidation adjustments 229,562 195,523 34,039 26,180 7,859
Consolidation adjustments:
- Elimination of transactions between SOAs (3,038) (3,038) - - -
Net income $ 226,524 $ 192,485 $ 34,039 $ 26,180 $ 7,859
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Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba
Schedule of Summarized Results by Special Operating Agency
For the Year Ended March 31, 2012

(In Thousands)

2012
Transfer of
Net income funds to the Net
(loss) before Province of income
Revenue Expense the transfer  Manitoba (loss)
Civil Legal Services $ 7,054 $ 6,676 $ 378 $ 250 $ 128
Companies Office 7,914 4,407 3,507 2,500 1,007
Crown Lands and Property Agency 4,608 4,961 (353) - (353)
Food Development Centre 5,116 4,222 894 - 894
Green Manitoba Eco Solutions 4,484 4,051 433 - 433
Industrial Technology Centre 3,001 2,975 26 - 26
Manitoba Education, Research and
Learning Information Networks 4,809 4,794 15 - 15
Manitoba Financial Services Agency 15,059 4,060 10,999 8,800 2,199
(formerly Manitoba Securities Commission)
Manitoba Text Book Bureau 7,678 7,678 - - -
Materials Distribution Agency 26,093 26,324 (231) - (231)
Office of the Fire Commissioner 15,247 12,902 2,345 750 1,595
Organization and Staff Development 1,627 1,648 (21) - (21)
Pineland Forest Nursery 2,496 3,015 (519) - (519)
The Property Registry 24,268 13,702 10,566 11,000 (434)
The Public Trustee 6,682 5,877 805 - 805
Vehicle and Equipment Management Agency 87,789 84,052 3,737 2,500 1,237
Vital Statistics Agency 3,540 3,548 (8) 380 (388)
Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority 130 125 5 - 5
Total before consolidation adjustments 227,595 195,017 32,578 26,180 6,398
Consolidation adjustments:
- Elimination of transactions between SOAs (2,510) (2,510) - - -
Net income $ 225,085 $ 192507 $ 32578 $ 26,180 $ 6,398
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Justice

Civil Legal Services SOA In reply, please refer to:
Room 730 Woodsworth Building C. Lynn Romeo
405 Broadway Director and Chief Operating Officer

Winnipeg MB R3C 3L6
Phone: (204) 945-2845
Fax:  (204) 948-2041
Lynn.Romeo@gov.mb.ca

Civil Legal Services :
An Agency of the Province of Manitoba
Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of management of Civil
Legal Services and have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards. In management’s opinion, the financial statements have been
properly prepared within reasonable limits of materiality, incorporating management's
best judgments regarding all necessary estimates and all other data available as at
June 7, 2013.

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the assets and to provide
reasonable assurance that the books and records from which the financial statements
are derived accurately reflect all transactions and that established policies and
procedures are followed.

The financial statements of Civil Legal Services have been audited by Magnus
Chartered Accountants LLP, independent external auditors. The responsibility of the
auditor is to express an independent opinion on whether the financial statements of Civil
Legal Services are fairly represented, in all material respects, in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards. The Independent Auditors’ Report
outlines the scope of the audit examination and provides the audit opinion on the
financial statements.

On behalf of Management of Civil Legal Services

C. Lynn Romeo
Director and Chief Operating Officer
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[T} MAGNUS

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

MAGNUS CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS LLP+ ADVISORY « ASSURANCE - TAXATION+ TRANSACTIONS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority of
Civil Legal Services

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Civil Legal Services, an agency of the Special
Operating Agencies Financing Authority, Province of Manitoba, which comprise the statements of
financial position as at March 31, 2013 and the statements of operations, change in net financial assets
and cash flow for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
Opinion

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Civil Legal Services as at March 31, 2013 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

June 7, 2013
Winnipeg, Canada Magnus Chartered Accountants LLP

430 Five Donald Street « Winnipeg, Canada « R3L2T4 - Phone (204) 942-4441 - Facsimile (204) 944-0400
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CIVIL LEGAL SERVICES

AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY

PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Financial Position
(in thousands)
As at March 31, 2013

March 31 March 31
2013 2012
Actual Actual
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,519 $ 1,287
Accounts receivable (Note 4) 1,052 863
Portfolio investments 380 380
2,951 2,530
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 158 138
Accrued vacation entitlements 691 576
Employee future benefits (Note 6) 1,179 1,068
2,028 1,782
Net financial assets 923 748
Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (Note 7) 33 39
33 39
Accumulated surplus $ 956 $ 787

Designated assets (Note 8)

Commitments (Note 9)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CIVIL LEGAL SERVICES
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Operations
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

2013 2013 2012
Budget Actual Actual
Revenue:
Recoveries $ 7648 $ 8,038 § 7,035
Interest and other 13 19 19
7,661 8,057 7,054
Expenses:
Advertising and promotion 2 2 1
Amortization 28 25 28
Communications 60 62 50
Computer 60 68 53
Desktop management initiative 184 200 176
Government records centre 32 27 30
Law Society fees 65 79 64
Miscellaneous 13 8 15
Occupancy 219 219 218
Office 39 50 34
Postage and deliveries 16 16 16
Professional fees and services 59 50 66
Publications 45 50 48
Travel 42 18 20
Wages and benefits 6,552 6,764 5,857
7,416 7,638 6,676
Net income before the transfer of funds to the
Province of Manitoba 245 419 378
Transfer of funds to the Province of Manitoba (Note 10) 250 250 250
Net income for the year (5) 169 128
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 881 787 659
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 876 % 956 % 787

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CIVIL LEGAL SERVICES
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

2013 2013 2012
Budget Actual Actual
Net income for the year $ B) $ 169 $ 128
Tangible capital assets
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (30) (19) (7)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 28 25 28
Net acquisition of tangible capital assets (2) 6 21
Increase (decrease) in net financial assets (7) 175 149
Net financial assets, beginning of year 842 748 599
Net financial assets, end of year $ 835 § 923 § 748

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CIVIL LEGAL SERVICES

AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY

PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Cash Flow
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

2013 2012
Actual Actual
Cash provided by (applied to):
Operating activities:
Net income for the year $ 169 $ 128
Adjustment for:
Amortization 25 28
194 156
Changes in the following:
Accounts receivable (189) (142)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 20 33
Accrued vacation entitlements 115 36
Employee future benefits 111 93
Net cash provided by operating activities 251 176
Capital activities:
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (19) (7)
Cash applied to capital activities (19) (7)
Change in cash and cash equivalents 232 169
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 1,287 1,118
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 1519 § 1,287

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CIVIL LEGAL SERVICES
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

1. Nature of organization

The role of Civil Legal Services (the "Agency") flows from the constitutional and statutory
responsibilities of the Minister of Justice as the Chief Legal Advisor to government and the guardian of
the public interest. Acting pursuant to government policy, the Agency is responsible for providing a full
range of high quality legal services, on a cost recovery basis, to its clients, namely the Province of
Manitoba, the Province's agencies, boards and commissions and some Crown organizations.

Effective April 1, 1995, the Agency was designated a Special Operating Agency pursuant to The
Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Act, Cap. s185, C.C.S.M. and operates under a
charter approved by the Lieutenant Governor in Council.

The Agency is financed through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA). The
Financing Authority has the mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting from
Agency operations. It finances the Agency through repayable loans and working capital advances.
The financial framework provides increased management authority which, coupled with more rigorous
planning and reporting requirements afforded by Special Operating status, assists the Agency to
sustain the provision of high quality legal services to its clients.

A Management Agreement between the Financing Authority and the Minister of Justice assigns
responsibility to the Agency to manage and account for the Agency related assets and operations on
behalf of the Financing Authority.

The Agency continues to be part of Manitoba Justice under the general direction of the Deputy
Minister and Minister. The Agency remains bound by relevant legislation and regulations. It is also
bound by administrative policy except where specific exemptions have been provided for in its charter
in order to meet business objectives.

2. Basis of accounting

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards which are Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for the public
sector as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board.

3. Significant accounting policies
(a) Revenue

Recoveries
Revenue is recognized on an accrual basis as legal services are provided.

Other revenue
All other revenues are recognized on an accrual basis.

(b) Expenses

Accrual accounting
All expenses incurred for goods and services are recorded on an accrual basis.

Government transfers
Government transfers are recognized as expenses in the period in which the transfers are
authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.
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CIVIL LEGAL SERVICES
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and short term deposits and investments with
original maturities of three months or less.

Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value. An allowance for
doubtful accounts is recorded when there is uncertainty whether the amounts will be collected.

Portfolio investments
Portfolio investments are investments and deposits with original maturities of more than three
months. These investments are recognized at cost.

Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring at or prior to the
end of the fiscal year the settlement of which will result in the future transfer or use of assets or
other form of settlement. Liabilities are recognized when there is an appropriate basis of
measurement and a reasonable estimate can be made of the amount involved.

Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge existing liabilities of the
Agency. These assets are normally employed to provide future services.

Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well as other
acquisition costs. The costs of tangible capital assets, less any residual value, are amortized
over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Computer equipment and software 20% straight line

(10% in year of acquisition)
Furniture and fixtures 20% straight line

(10% in year of acquisition)
Leasehold improvements 20% straight line

(10% in year of acquisition)

Financial instruments - measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of two measurement categories: (a) fair value; or (b)
cost or amortized cost.

The Agency records its financial assets at cost, which include cash and cash equivalents,
accounts receivable and portfolio investments. The Agency also records its financial liabilities at
cost, which include accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in
the statement of operations in the period the gain or loss occurs. Gains and losses on financial
instruments measured at fair value, if any, are recorded in accumulated surplus as
remeasurement gains and losses until realized; upon disposition of the financial instruments, the
cumulative remeasurement gains and losses are reclassified to the statement of operations.

Page 2025



CIVIL LEGAL SERVICES
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(g) Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian public sector accounting
standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingencies at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from these estimates.

4. Accounts receivable

2013 2012
Trade accounts receivable $ 1,040 $ 855
Other receivables 12 8
$ 1,052 $ 863

5. Working capital advances

The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority has provided the Agency with an authorized line
of working capital of $200 of which $nil was used at March 31, 2013 (2012 - $nil).

6. Employee future benefits

2013 2012
Severance benefits $ 1,030 $ 928
Sick pay benefits 149 140

$ 1,179  § 1,068

Pension benefits

Employees of the Agency are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of the
Civil Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service Superannuation Board.
The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil
Service and to participating agencies of the Government, including the Agency, through the Civil
Service Superannuation Fund.

Pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the Agency transferred to the Province the
pension liability for its employees. The Agency is required to pay to the Province an amount equal to
the current pension contributions of their employees. The amount paid for 2013 was $408 (2012 -
$332). Under this agreement, the Agency has no further pension liability.
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CIVIL LEGAL SERVICES
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

6. Employee future benefits (continued)
Severance benefits

Effective April 1, 1998, the Agency began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its
employees. The amount of the severance pay benefit obligation is based on actuarial calculations.
The periodic actuarial valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to the
actuarial calculations when actual experience is different from that expected and/or because of
changes in actuarial assumptions used. The resulting actuarial gains or losses are amortized over the
expected average remaining service life (EARSL) of the related employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2011. The report
provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. The Agency's actuarially determined net
liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2013 is $1,030 (2012 - $928) with the actuarial losses
of $124 (2012 - $124) based on the completed actuarial reports being amortized over the 15 year
EARSL of the employee group.

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2011 actuarial valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2013 present value of the accrued severance benefit liability, are:

Annual rate of return:

Inflation component 2.00%
Real rate of return 4.00%
6.00%

Assumed salary increase rates:
Annual productivity increase 1.00%
Annual general salary increase 2.75%
3.75%

The severance benéefit liability as at March 31 includes the following components:

2013 2012
Accrued benefit liability $ 1,104  $ 1,010
Less: unamortized actuarial losses (74) (82)
Severance benefit liability $ 1,030 $ 928

Total severance benefits paid during the year ended March 31, 2013 were $nil (2012 - $nil). The total
expense related to severance benefits for the year ended March 31 includes the following
components:

2013 2012
Interest on obligation $ 66 $ 60
Current period service cost 28 25
Amortization of actuarial losses over EARSL 8 8
Total expense related to severance benefits $ 102 $ 93
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CIVIL LEGAL SERVICES
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

6. Employee future benefits (continued)
Sick pay benefits

The Agency provides sick leave benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest. The accrued
benefit obligation related to sick leave entitlements earned by employees is determined using a
valuation model developed by an actuary. The valuation is based on employee demographics, sick
leave usage and actuarial assumptions. These assumptions include a 6.00% annual return and a
3.75% annual salary increase. The Agency's sick leave benéfit liability as at March 31, 2013 based on
the valuation model is $149 (2012 - $140). The increase in the sick leave benefit liability of $9
(2012 - $nil) represents the total sick leave benefit expense for the year.

7. Tangible capital assets

2013
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost
Computer equipment
and software $ 162 $ 9 $ - $ 171
Furniture and fixtures 278 9 - 287
Leasehold
improvements 80 1 - 81
$ 520 $ 19 $ - $ 539
Accumulated amortization
Computer equipment
and software $ 148 $ 7 $ - $ 155
Furniture and fixtures 265 13 - 278
Leasehold
improvements 68 5 - 73
Total accumulated
amortization $ 481 $ 25 $ - $ 506
Net book value $ 39 $ (6) $ - $ 33
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7. Tangible capital assets (continued)

2012
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost
Computer equipment
and software $ 162 $ - $ 162
Furniture and fixtures 274 4 278
Leasehold
improvements 77 3 80
$ 513 $ 7 $ 520
Accumulated amortization
Computer equipment
and software $ 141 $ 7 $ 148
Furniture and fixtures 249 16 265
Leasehold
improvements 63 5 68
Total accumulated
amortization $ 453 28 481
Net book value $ 60 $ (21) $ 39

8. Designated assets

The Agency has allocated $380 (2012 - $380) of its portfolio investments as designated assets for
cash received from the Province of Manitoba for the vacation entitlements earned by employees of the
Agency prior to its designation as an SOA and the severance pay benefits accumulated to March 31,
1998 for certain of their employees. This amount is held in an interest bearing account until the cash
is required to discharge the related liabilities. Any unused balance is re-invested annually.

9. Commitments

The Agency has not entered into a lease agreement with the Province of Manitoba for rental facilities
at 405 Broadway. Occupancy charges for the year ending March 31, 2014 are estimated to be $227

(2013 actual - $219).

10.Transfer of funds to the Province of Manitoba

During the year, with Lieutenant-Governor-in-Council approval by Order in Council, the Agency
transferred $250 of its surplus funds to the Province of Manitoba (2012 - $250). These amounts are

recorded as an expense in the statement of operations.
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11.Financial instruments and financial risk management

The Agency does not have any significant financial instruments subsequently measured at fair value
or denominated in a foreign currency therefore the Agency did not incur any remeasurement gains or
losses during the year (2012 - $nil).

Financial risk management — overview

The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk;
liquidity risk; market risk; interest rate risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and
causes financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the Agency to
credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and portfolio
investments.

The maximum exposure of the Agency to credit risk at year end is:

2013 2012
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,519 § 1,287
Accounts receivable 1,052 863
Portfolio investments 380 380

$ 2951  § 2,530

Cash and cash equivalents and portfolio investments: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit
risk as these amounts are held by the Minister of Finance.

Accounts receivable: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk as the balance is due
primarily from other government departments and agencies and payment in full is typically collected
when it is due. The Agency manages this credit risk through close monitoring of overdue accounts.

The Agency establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of potential
credit losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management’s estimates and
assumptions regarding current market conditions, customer analysis and historical payment trends.
These factors are considered when determining whether past due accounts are allowed for or written
off.

There was no change in the allowance for doubtful accounts during the year. The allowance for
doubtful accounts balance at March 31, 2013 is $nil (2012 - $nil).

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come
due.

The Agency manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from the
Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet its obligations.
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11.Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)
Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange
rates, will affect the Agency’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to cash
and cash equivalents and portfolio investments.

The interest rate risk on cash and cash equivalents is considered to be low because of their short-
term nature. The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the original
deposits are reinvested at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Agency is not exposed to significant
foreign currency risk as it does not have any significant financial instruments denominated in a
foreign currency.
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Managemeht's Respor‘\si‘bility for Financial Reporting

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of management of Companies\ Office and
have been prepared'i\n accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. In management's
opinion, the financial statements have been properly prepared within reasonable limits of materiality,
incorporating management's best.judgments regarding all necessary estimates and all other data
available as at June 12, 2013. ’

Management maintains internal controls to-properly safeguard the assets of Companies Office and to
provide reasonable assurance that-the books and records from which the financial statements are
derived accurately reflect all transactions and that established policies and procedures are followed.

The financial statements of Companies Office have been audited by Magnus Chartered Accountants LLP,
independent external auditors. The responsibility of the auditor is to express an independent opinion
on whether the financial statements of Companies Office are fairly represented, in all material respects,
in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. The Independent Auditors’ Report
outlines the scope of the audit examination and provides the audit opinion on the financial statements.

On behalf of Management of
Compénies Office

Myron Pawlowsky ‘ David Rudy
Chief Operating Officer Controller
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority of
Companies Office

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Companies Office, an agency of the Special
Operating Agencies Financing Authority, Province of Manitoba, which comprise the statements of financial
position as at March 31, 2013 and the statements of operations, change in net financial assets and cash
flow for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
Opinion

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Companies Office as at March 31, 2013 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

June 12, 2013
Winnipeg, Canada Magnus Chartered Accountants LLP

430 Five Donald Street + Winnipeg, Canada + R3L2T4 - Phone (204) 942-4441 - Facsimile (204) 944-0400
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COMPANIES OFFICE

AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY

PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Financial Position
(in thousands)
March 31, 2013

March 31 March 31
2013 2012
Actual Actual
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5,080 $ 5,319
Trade accounts receivable 249 348
Portfolio investments 2,035 829
7,364 6,496
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 874 271
Accrued vacation entitlements 241 227
Employee future benefits (Note 4) 322 327
Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba (Note 5) 2,837 3,167
4,274 3,992
Net financial assets 3,090 2,504
Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (Note 6) 3,302 2,687
Prepaid expenses 6 5
Inventories of supplies 35 30
3,343 2,722
Accumulated surplus 6,433 $ 5,226

Designated assets (Note 7)
Commitments (Note 8)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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COMPANIES OFFICE

AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY

PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Operations
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

2013 2013 2012
Budget Actual Actual
Revenue:
Fees and services $ 7200 $ 8,125 § 7,876
Interest 10 43 38
7,210 8,168 7,914
Expenses:
Salaries and employee benefits 2,045 1,740 1,759
Operating expenses (Schedule) 3,308 2,709 2,633
Amortization of tangible capital assets 234 12 15
5,587 4,461 4,407
Income before the transfer of funds to the
Province of Manitoba 1,623 3,707 3,507
Transfer of funds to the Province of Manitoba (Note 9) 2,500 2,500 2,500
Net income for the year (877) 1,207 1,007
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 4,250 5,226 4,219
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 3373  § 6,433 $ 5,226

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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COMPANIES OFFICE

AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY

PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

2013 2013 2012
Budget Actual Actual
Net income for the year $ 877) $ 1207 § 1,007
Tangible capital assets:
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (44) (627) (1,425)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 234 12 15
Net acquisition of tangible capital assets 190 (615) (1,410)
Other non-financial assets:
Change in prepaid expenses during the year - (1) 2
Change in inventories of supplies during the year - (5) 2
Net acquisition of other non-financial assets - (6) 4
Increase (decrease) in net financial assets (687) 586 (399)
Net financial assets, beginning of year 973 2,504 2,903
Net financial assets, end of year $ 286 $ 3,000 §$ 2,504

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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COMPANIES OFFICE
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Cash Flow
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

2013 2012
Actual Actual
Cash provided by (applied to):
Operating activities:
Net income for the year $ 1,207 $ 1,007
Adjustment for
Amortization of tangible capital assets 12 15
1,219 1,022
Changes in the following:
Accounts receivable 99 (75)
Prepaid expenses (1) 2
Inventories of supplies (5) 2
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 603 (209)
Accrued vacation entitlements 14 16
Employee future benefits (5) 35
Cash provided by operating activities 1,924 793
Capital activities:
Capital asset additions (627) (1,425)
Cash applied to capital activities (627) (1,425)
Financing activities:
Debt repayments to the Province of Manitoba (330) (133)
New borrowings from the Province of Manitoba - 1,970
Cash (applied to) provided by financing activities (330) 1,837
Investing activities:
Portfolio investments (1,206) (8)
Cash applied to investing activities (1,206) (8)
Change in cash and cash equivalents (239) 1,197
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 5,319 4,122
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 5,080 $ 5,319

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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COMPANIES OFFICE
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

1.

Nature of organization

Effective April 1, 1996, the Lieutenant Governor in Council designated the Companies Office (the
"Agency") as a special operating agency under The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Act (C.C.S.M. ¢S185) by Order in Council. Another Order also gave approval to the Special Operating
Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA) and the Minister of Consumer and Corporate Affairs, being the
Minister responsible for the Agency (at that time), to enter into a management agreement with respect
to the Agency. The management agreement assigns responsibility to the Agency to manage and
account for the Agency related assets and operations on behalf of SOAFA. SOAFA has the mandate
to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting from Agency operations. This financial
framework enables the Agency to operate in a business like manner according to public policy
expectations.

The Agency is in the Department of Healthy Living, Seniors and Consumer Affairs under the direction
of the Minister, the Deputy Minister, and the Assistant Deputy Minister who is also Chairperson of the
Companies Office Advisory Board.

The Agency remains bound by relevant legislation and regulation. It is also bound by administrative
policy except where specific exemptions have been provided for in its charter in order to meet
business objectives.

Basis of accounting

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards which are Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for the public
sector as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board.

Significant accounting policies
(a) Revenue

Fees and services

Fees and services revenue is recognized when the rendering of services is complete or
substantially complete.

Other revenue

All other revenues are recorded on an accrual basis.

(b) Expenses

Accrual accounting

All expenses incurred for goods and services are recognized on an accrual basis.

Government transfers

Government transfers are recognized as expenses in the period in which the transfers are
authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.

Page 2038



COMPANIES OFFICE
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and short term investments and deposits with
original maturities of three months or less.

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value. An allowance for
doubtful accounts is recorded when there is uncertainty whether the amounts will be collected.

Portfolio investments

Portfolio investments are deposits or investments with original maturities of greater than three
months. These investments are recognized at cost.

Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring at or prior to the
end of the fiscal year the settlement of which will result in the future transfer or use of assets or
other form of settlement. Liabilities are recognized when there is an appropriate basis of
measurement and a reasonable estimate can be made of the amount involved.

Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge existing liabilities of the
Agency. These amounts are normally employed to provide future services.

Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well as other
acquisition costs. The costs of tangible capital assets, less any residual value, are amortized over
their useful lives as follows:

Computer equipment and software 20% straight line

(10% in year of acquisition)
Office equipment 20% straight line

(10% in year of acquisition)
Furniture and fixtures 20% straight line

(10% in year of acquisition)
Leasehold improvements 20% straight line

(10% in year of acquisition)
System development costs 15 years straight line

Prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services that will provide economic benefit in future
periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the period the goods or services are
consumed.

Inventories of supplies

Inventories of supplies are recorded at cost and recognized as an expense in the period the
supplies are used or consumed.
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COMPANIES OFFICE
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(f) Financial instruments - measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of two measurement categories: (a) fair value; or (b)
cost or amortized cost.

The Agency records its financial assets at cost. Financial assets include cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable and portfolio investments. The Agency also records its financial
liabilities at cost. Financial liabilities include accounts payable and accrued liabilities and
borrowings.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in
the statement of operations in the period the gain or loss occurs. Gains and losses on financial
instruments measured at fair value, if any, are recorded in accumulated surplus as
remeasurement gains and losses until realized. Upon disposition of the financial instruments, the
cumulative remeasurement gains and losses are reclassified to the statement of operations.

(g) Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian public sector accounting
standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingencies at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from these estimates.

4. Employee future benefits

2013 2012
Severance benefits $ 281 $ 286
Sick pay benefits 41 41
$ 322 $ 327

Pension benefits

Employees of the Agency are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of the
Civil Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service Superannuation Board.
The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil
Service and to participating agencies of the Government, including the Agency, through the Civil
Service Superannuation Fund.

Effective March 31, 2001, pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the Agency
transferred to the Province the pension liability for its employees. Commencing April 1, 2001, the
Agency was required to pay to the Province an amount equal to its employees’ current pension
contributions. The amount paid for 2013 was $105 (2012 - $95). Under this agreement, the Agency
has no further pension liability.
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COMPANIES OFFICE
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

4. Employee future benefits (continued)
Severance benefits

Effective April 1, 1998, the Agency began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its
employees. The amount of the severance benefit obligation is based on actuarial calculations. The
periodic actuarial valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to the
actuarial calculations when actual experience is different from that expected and/or because of
changes in actuarial assumptions used. The resulting actuarial gains or losses are amortized over the
expected average remaining service life (EARSL) of the related employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2011. The report
provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. In accordance with the formula, the
Agency's actuarially determined net liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2013 is $281
(2012 - $286), with the actuarial losses of $83 (2012 - $83) being amortized over the 15 year EARSL
of the employee group.

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2011 valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2013 present value of the accrued severance benefit obligation, are:

Annual rate of return:

Inflation component 2.00%
Real rate of return 4.00%
6.00%

Assumed salary increase rates:
Annual productivity increase 1.00%
Annual general salary increase 2.75%
3.75%

The severance benefit liability as at March 31 includes the following components:

2013 2012
Accrued benefit liability $ 338 $ 349
Less: unamortized actuarial losses (57) (63)
Severance benefit liability $ 281 $ 286

Total severance benefits paid during the year ended March 31, 2013 were $43 (2012 - $nil). The total
expense related to severance benefits for the year ended March 31 includes the following

components:

2013 2012
Interest on obligation $ 23 $ 21
Current period service cost 9 9
Amortization of actuarial losses over EARSL 5 5
Total expense related to severance benefits $ 37 $ 35
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Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

4,

Employee future benefits (continued)
Sick pay benefits

The Agency provides sick leave benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest. The accrued
benefit liability related to sick leave entitlements earned by employees is determined using a valuation
model developed by an actuary. The valuation is based on employee demographics, sick leave usage
and actuarial assumptions. These assumptions include a 6.00% annual return and a 3.75% annual
salary increase. The Agency's sick leave benefit liability as at March 31, 2013 based on the valuation
model is $41 (2012 - $41). The total sick leave benefit expense for the year is $nil (2012 - $nil).

Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba

By virtue of the Management Agreement, the Agency is responsible for the repayment of debts
assumed by the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA) on its behalf. SOAFA
holds the debt instruments listed below on behalf of the Agency.

Borrowings obtained through the use of available Loan Act Authority are repayable in quarterly
instalments of principal and interest as follows:

2013 2012
4.0% repayable in quarterly instalments of $33
principal plus interest, maturing in 2021 $ 1,064 § 1,197
3.0% repayable in quarterly instalments of $49 principal plus
interest, maturing in 2022 1,773 1,970

$ 2837 § 3,167

Interest is measured using the effective interest method. Principal repayments in each of the next five
years are as follows:

2014 $ 330
2015 330
2016 330
2017 330
2018 330
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COMPANIES OFFICE
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

6. Tangible capital assets

2013
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance

Cost
Computer equipment

and software $ 111 $ 8 $ - 3 119
Office equipment 16 - - 16
Furniture and fixtures 136 - - 136
Leasehold improvements 40 - - 40
System development 2,661 619 - 3,280

$ 2964 § 627 $ - % 3,591

Accumulated amortization
Computer equipment

and software (94) (7) - (101)
Office equipment (16) - - (16)
Furniture and fixtures (127) (5) - (132)
Leasehold

improvements (40) - - (40)
Total accumulated

amortization $ 277) % (12) % - $ (289)
Net book value $ 2,687 § 615 $ - 3 3,302

During the year, system development costs were capitalized in the amount of $619 (2012 - $1,421).
The total cost of tangible capital assets not subject to amortization as at March 31, 2013 is $3,280
(2012 - $2,661). Amortization will commence when construction is complete and the system is
available for use.
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COMPANIES OFFICE
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

6. Tangible capital assets (continued)

2012
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance

Cost
Computer equipment

and software $ 107 § 4 9 - 3 111
Office equipment 16 - - 16
Furniture and fixtures 136 - - 136
Leasehold improvements 40 - - 40
System development 1,240 1,421 - 2,661

$ 1,539 § 1425  § -3 2,964

Accumulated amortization
Computer equipment

and software (85) (9) - (94)
Office equipment (16) - - (16)
Furniture and fixtures (121) (6) - (127)
Leasehold

improvements (40) - - (40)
Total accumulated

amortization $ (262) $ (15)  $ - % (277)
Net book value $ 1277  § 1,410  § - 3 2,687

7. Designated assets

The Agency has allocated $218 (2012 - $218) of its portfolio investments as designated assets for
cash received from the Province of Manitoba for the vacation entitlements earned by employees of the
Agency prior to its designation as an SOA and the severance pay benefits accumulated to March 31,
1998 for certain of the Agency’s employees. This amount is held in an interest bearing account until
the cash is required to discharge the related liabilities. Any unused balance is re-invested annually.

8. Commitments

Lease commitment

The Agency has not entered into a lease agreement with the Province of Manitoba for rental facilities
at 405 Broadway. Occupancy charges for the year ending March 31, 2014 are estimated to be $135
(2013 actual - $125).
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COMPANIES OFFICE
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

9.

10.

Transfer of funds to the Province of Manitoba

During the year, with Lieutenant-Governor-in-Council approval by Order in Council, the Agency
transferred $2,500 (2012 - $2,500) of its surplus funds to the Province of Manitoba. These amounts
are recorded as an expense in the statement of operations.

Financial instruments and financial risk management

The Agency does not have any significant financial instruments subsequently measured at fair value
or denominated in a foreign currency therefore the Agency did not incur any remeasurement gains or
losses during the year (2012 - $nil).

Financial risk management - overview

The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk;
liquidity risk; market risk; interest rate risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and
causes financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the Agency to
credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and portfolio
investments.

The maximum exposure of the Agency to credit risk as at March 31 is:

2013 2012
Cash and cash equivalents $ 5080 $ 5,319
Accounts receivable 249 348
Portfolio investments 2,035 829

$ 7,364  § 6,496

Cash and cash equivalents and portfolio investments: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit
risk as the cash and cash equivalents and portfolio investments are primarily held by the Minister of
Finance.

Accounts receivable: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk as the balance of the
accounts receivable is due from a large client base and payment in full is typically collected when it is
due. The Agency manages this credit risk through close monitoring of any overdue accounts.

The Agency establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of potential
credit losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management's estimates and
assumptions regarding current market conditions, customer analysis and historical payment trends.
These factors are considered when determining whether past due accounts are allowed for or written
off.

There was no change in the allowance for doubtful accounts during the year and the balance at
March 31, 2013 is $nil (2012 - $nil).
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COMPANIES OFFICE
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

10. Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come
due.

The Agency manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from the
Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet its obligations.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange
rates, will affect the Agency’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to cash
and cash equivalents and portfolio investments.

The interest rate risk on cash and cash equivalents is considered to be low due to their short-term
nature. The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the original deposits
are reinvested at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.

The Agency manages its interest rate risk on borrowings through the exclusive use of fixed rate
terms for its borrowings.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Agency is not exposed to significant
foreign currency risk as it does not have any significant financial instruments denominated in a
foreign currency.

11. Comparative information

Certain of the amounts for the year ended March 21, 2012 have been reclassified to conform to the
financial statement presentation adopted for the current year.
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COMPANIES OFFICE
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Schedule of Operating Expenses
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

2013 2013

Accounting $ 13 $ 20
Audit 11 6
Bad debts 2 3
Bank charges 55 49
Communications 30 28
Computer 154 147
Department services 31 36
Desktop 104 103
Electronic storage 59 76
Equipment maintenance and rentals 3 3
Insurance 11 14
Interest on borrowings 103 51
Legal services 14 15
Manitoba Business Links 370 308
Miscellaneous 34 33
Name search application 164 173
New system costs 959 1,000
Notaries 137 131
Office rent 125 124
Payroll processing 20 20
Postal and courier 56 53
Programmers 181 164
Stationery 69 72
Transportation 4 4

$ 2,709 $ 2,633
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Management's Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The Crown Lands and Property Agency’s (the Agency) management is responsible for preparing the financial
statements and other financial information in the Annual Report. This responsibility includes maintaining the
integrity and objectivity of financial data and the presentation of the Agency’s financial position and results of
operations and its cash flows in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles as recommended
by the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB). In management’s opinion, the financial statements have been
properly prepared within reasonable limits of materiality, incorporating management’s best judgement regarding all
necessary estimates and all other data available through June, 2013.

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the Agency's assets. These controls also provide
reasonable assurance that the books and records from which financial statements are derived accurately reflect all
transactions, and that established policies and procedures are followed.

The Agency's financial statements have been audited by The Exchange chartered accountants LLP, independent
external auditors. The auditors' responsibility is to express an independent opinion on whether the financial
statements of the Agency are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB). The Auditors’
Report outlines the scope of their audit examination and provides their audit opinion.

On behalf of the Agency's management,

Mr. Normand Le N&al, Financial Officer s Grace DeLong, Chief Operatifg
fficer

Portage la Prairie, MB {@"C x6, £ 3

7
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THE EXCHANGE

chartered accountants LLP

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority of Crown Lands and Property Agency

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Crown Lands and Property Agency, An Agency of the Special
Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba, which comprise the statement of financial position as at March
31, 2013 and the statements of operations, change in net debt and cash flow for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) of the Canadian
Institute of Chartered Accountants, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Crown Lands and Property
Agency, An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba, as at March 31, 2013, and the
results of its operations and its cash flow for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB) of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants.

The Exchange

chartered accountants, LLP
Winnipeg, Manitoba
June 20, 2013
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CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY

(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)

Statement of Financial Position

March 31, 2013
(In thousands)

2013 2012
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Accounts receivable (Notes 3, 5) $ 545 § 646
Severance pay benefits, vacation pay and banked time cash in trust
(Note 7) 670 670
Assets held in trust (Notes 4, 8) 3 3
1,218 1,319
LIABILITIES
Working capital advance, net of cash (Note 9) $ 3,439 $ 3,766
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 10) 768 704
Client held funds 823 686
Trust fund liability (Note 8) 3 3
Severance pay liability (Note 11) 369 396
5,402 5,555
NET DEBT (4,184) (4,236)
NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
Prepaid expenses (Note 3) 41 63
Tangible capital assets (Note 3) 218 212
259 275
ACCUMULATED DEFICIT $ (3,925) $ (3,961)
LEASE COMMITMENTS (Note 13)
ON BEHALF OF CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
Chief Operating Officer
Finance Officer
3
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CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)

Statement of Operations

Year Ended March 31, 2013

Budget
2013 2013 2012
REVENUE $ 5,639 $ 4,648 $ 4,608
EXPENSES
Advertising 14 7 13
Amortization 123 75 67
Bad debt recovery - - (26)
Computer maintenance costs 449 305 129
Contributed services 105 31 649
Desktop operating lease 201 190 192
Employee training 62 40 33
Insurance 3 3 3
Interest on working capital advance 106 94 81
Meals and accommodations 7 4 7
Miscellaneous 1 - -
Office 33 71 44
Postage 45 49 56
Printing 38 35 36
Professional fees 254 172 235
Publications 17 14 17
Relocation expense 2 2 1
Rental 262 258 251
Repairs and maintenance 8 5 8
Salaries and benefits 3,732 3,148 3,089
Telephone 40 40 41
Travel 42 68 35
5,544 4,611 4,961
ANNUAL SURPLUS (DEFICIT) 95 37 (353)
ACCUMULATED DEFICIT - BEGINNING OF YEAR (4,186) (3,961) (3,608)
ACCUMULATED DEFICIT - END OF YEAR $ 4,091) $ 3,924) $ (3,961)
4
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CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)

Statement of Change in Net Debt

Year Ended March 31, 2013

Budget
2013 2013 2012
ANNUAL SURPLUS (DEFICIT) $ 95 $ 37 S (353)
Purchase of tangible capital assets (92) (81) (132)
Amortization of tangible capital assets - 75 67
Decrease in prepaid expenses (375) 21 (16)
INCREASE IN NET DEBT (372) 52 (434
NET DEBT - BEGINNING OF YEAR (4,607) (4,236) (3,802)
NET DEBT - END OF YEAR $ (4,979) $ (4,184) $ (4,236)
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CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)

Statement of Cash Flow
Year Ended March 31, 2013
(In thousands)

2013 2012
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash receipts from customers $ 4,748 $ 4,506
Cash paid to suppliers and employees (4,357) (5,070)
Interest paid %94) (80)
Increase in client funds held 137 136
Increase (decrease) in severance pay liability 27 73
Cash flow from (used by) operating activities 407 (435)
INVESTING ACTIVITY
Purchase of tangible capital assets (80) (132)
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH 327 (567)
WORKING CAPITAL ADVANCE, NET OF CASH - BEGINNING OF
YEAR (3,766) (3,199)
WORKING CAPITAL ADVANCE, NET OF CASH - END OF YEAR $ 3,439) $ (3,766)
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CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY

(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)
Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended March 31, 2013
(In thousands)

NATURE OF ORGANIZATION

Effective April 1, 2006, Crown Lands and Property Agency (the "Agency") was designated as a Special
Operating Agency by regulation under The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Act made by the
Lieutenant Governor in Council.

The Agency has transactional authority for all Crown land sales, leases and permits, as well as land appraisal,
acquisition, expropriation and other services for the provincial government. The Agency represents the
Manitoba government in its land dealings with the public, striving to ensure that the government's real estate
business is conducted in a manner that is fair, open and transparent, timely and professional, and fiscally and
environmentally responsible.

The Agency consolidates the services previously provided by the Lands Acquisition Branch, Lands Branch,
Agricultural Crown Land Management and Parks Districts Records departments.

The Agency is financed through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA). The Financing
Authority has the mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting from Agency operations. It
finances the Agency through repayable loans and working capital advances. The financial framework enables
the Agency to operate in a business-like manner according to public policy expectations.

A Management Agreement between the Financing Authority and the Minister of Transportation and
Government Services assigns responsibility to the Agency to manage and account for the Agency related assets
and operations on behalf of the Financing Authority.

The Agency forms part of the Supply and Services Division of Manitoba Infrastructure and Transportation
under the general direction of the Chief Operating Officer and the Assistant Deputy Minister of the Supply and
Services Division, and ultimately the policy direction of the Associate Deputy Minister and Minister.

The Agency remains bound by relevant legislation and regulations.

The Agency is economically dependent upon the Province of Manitoba for continued financing and it derives a
significant portion of its revenue from the Province. The transactions with the Province of Manitoba are
recorded at the exchange amount, which is the amount agreed upon by both parties.

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The financial statements of the Agency have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB).

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingencies at the date of the financial statements,
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from
these estimates.

(continues)
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CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2013
(In thousands)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition

Land Acquisition Branch: the percentage of completion method of accounting is used, whereby revenue is
recognized proportionately with the degree of contracted work completed.

Other branch areas: appropriation funding in Manitoba Agriculture, Food and Rural Initiatives (MAFRI) and
Manitoba Conservation is continuing in order to pay the Agency the costs it incurs for providing services to the
public (on behalf of MAFRI and Manitoba Conservation). The short-term chargeback model provides for the
Agency to bill for its costs but not in excess of the approved budgets for MAFRI and Manitoba Conservation.
As the Agency costs are expected to exceed MAFRI and Manitoba Conservation's appropriations for the
Agency's services, the Agency may not fully recover its costs of delivering the services on behalf of MAFRI
and Manitoba Conservation.

Financial Assets

1. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and balances with banks. Bank overdrafts and bank
borrowings are considered to be financing activities.

2. Accounts receivable

Receivables are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Amounts doubtful of collection are
recorded when there is uncertainty that the amounts will be realized.

Liabilities
Liabilities present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring prior to the end of the fiscal year.
The settlement of the liabilities will result in the future transfer or use of assets or other form of settlement.

Liabilities are recorded in the financial statements when there is an appropriate basis of measurement and a
reasonable estimate can be made of the amounts involved.

(continues)
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CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2013
(In thousands)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge liabilities of the Agency. These assets are
normally employed to provide future services.

1. Prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services that will provide economic benefit in future periods.
The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the year that the goods or services are consumed.

2. Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well as other acquisition
costs such as freight charges, transportation, insurance costs and duties. Modifications or additions to the
original asset are capitalized and recognized at cost.

The values of tangible capital assets are written down when conditions indicate that the values of the future
economic benefits associated with the tangible capital assets are less than their book values.

The costs of tangible capital assets, less their estimated residual values, are amortized over their useful
lives in the following manner:

Equipment 5 years straight-line method
Computer equipment 5 years straight-line method
Computer software 5 years straight-line method
Furniture and fixtures 5 years straight-line method
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CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2013
(In thousands)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories: (a) fair value; or (b) cost or
amortized cost.

The Agency records its financial assets at cost or amortized cost. Financial assets include cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable and portfolio investments. The Agency also records its financial liabilities at
cost. Financial liabilities include working capital advances, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and
borrowings.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recorded in accumulated surplus as
remeasurement gains and losses until realized. Upon disposition of the financial instruments, the cumulative
remeasurement gains and losses are reclassified to the statement of operations. Gains and losses on financial
instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in the statement of operations in the period the
gain or loss occurs.

The Agency did not incur any re-measurement gains and losses during the year ended March 31, 2013 (2012 -

$nil).

Financial risk management - overview

The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk; liquidity risk;
market risk; interest risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes
financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the Agency to credit risk
consist principally of cash and term deposits and accounts receivable.

The maximum exposure of the Agency to credit risk at March 31, 2013 is:

2013 2012

Accounts receivable $ 545 $ 646

Cash and cash equivalents, and portfolio investments: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk
as these amounts are primarily held by the Province of Manitoba.

Receivables: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk since the receivables are from a large
client base. An allowance for doubtful accounts of $239 was recorded as of March 31, 2013 (2012 - $239).

(continues)
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CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2013
(In thousands)

4.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due.

The Agency manages liquidity risk by balancing its cash flow requirements with draw downs from its
available working capital advances and its other borrowings from the Province of Manitoba. Regular
determinations of the Agency's working capital advances limit and its other debt requirements are reviewed
by the Province of Manitoba to ensure that adequate funding is available as required to enable the Agency
to meet its obligations as they come due.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates, will
affect the Agency’s income from operations or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to cash, cash equivalents,
portfolio investments, working capital advances, and to other borrowings.

The interest rate risk on cash, cash equivalents and working capital advances is considered to be low
because of their short term nature. The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the
original deposits are reinvested at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.

The Agency manages its interest rate risk on long term borrowings through the exclusive use of fixed rate
terms on each amount borrowed.

5. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

2013 2012
Accounts receivable $ 784 $ 885
Allowance for doubtful accounts (239) (239)
$ 545 $ 646
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CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2013
(In thousands)

TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS

2013
Opening
balance Additions Disposals Closing balance
Cost
Equipment $ 84 $ 54§ - $ 138
Computer equipment 258 1 - 259
Computer software 134 - - 134
Furniture and fixtures 144 26 - 170
$ 620 $ 81 $ - $ 701
Accumulated amortization
Equipment $ 56 § 12 3 - $ 68
Computer equipment 190 24 - 214
Computer software 112 10 - 122
Furniture's and fixtures 50 29 - 79
408 75 - 483
$ 212§ - $ - $ 218
2012
Cost
Equipment $ 57 S 27 $ - $ 84
Computer equipment 208 50 - 258
Computer software 127 7 - 134
Furniture's and fixtures 97 47 - 144
$ 489 $ 131 § - $ 620
Accumulated amortization
Equipment $ 46 $ 10 $ - $ 56
Computer equipment 170 20 - 190
Computer software 96 16 - 112
Furniture's and fixtures 28 22 - 50
340 68 - 408
$ 149 $ - $ - $ 212
12
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CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2013
(In thousands)

7. SEVERANCE PAY BENEFITS, VACATION PAY AND BANKED TIME CASH IN TRUST
The Province has accepted responsibility for the severance benefits, vacation and overtime accumulated by the
employees of Lands Branch, Agricultural Crown Land Management and Parks Districts Records departments,
transferred to the Agency March 31, 2006, to March 31, 2006. Additionally, the Province has accepted
responsibility for the severance benefits, vacation and overtime accumulated by the employees of Land
Acquisition Branch to March 31, 1998.
Effective March 31, 2010 the Province of Manitoba has paid the receivable balances related to the funding for
these liabilities and has placed the amount of $670 into an interest bearing trust account to be held on the
Agency’s behalf until the cash is required to discharge the related liabilities.

8. ASSETS HELD IN TRUST
The assets held in trust were pledged to the Agency to complete outstanding projects transferred from the
Province of Manitoba. The trust fund liability offsets the assets held in trust until work performed on
outstanding projects have been completed.

9.  WORKING CAPITAL ADVANCE
The Agency has an authorized line of working capital from the Province of Manitoba of $8,000 of which
$3,795 was used as at March 31, 2013 (2012 - $3,981). The advance is unsecured, and interest is charged at
Prime less 1% on the daily balance.

10. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

2013 2012
Trade accounts payable $ 370 $ 241
Accrued wages, vacation pay and banked time 341 406
Sick pay leave obligation 57 57
$ 768 $ 704
11. SEVERANCE PAY LIABILITY

The Agency records accumulated severance pay benefits for its employees. Severance pay is determined by
multiplying years of service by the weekly salary, at date of retirement provided that the employee reaches nine
years of service and retires from the Agency. Severance pay for service greater than 15 years to a maximum of
35 years is increased by two weeks for every five years of service. The estimate is based upon the method of
calculation set by the Province of Manitoba.
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(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)

CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY

Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2013
(In thousands)

12. PUBLIC SECTOR COMPENSATION DISCLOSURE

It is a requirement of the Public Sector Compensation Disclosure Act that annual public disclosure be made of
individual compensation exceeding $50 annually to any officer or employee of the Province of Manitoba. The
following employees received compensation in excess of $50:

Bannerman, Gillian
Bernat, Leonard
Burley, Ronald
Charles, Jack
Chevalier, Melanie
Delong, Grace
Diachun, Dan
Dyck, Garry
Dzogan, Ken
Kent, Rodney
Kirkwood,  Lori-
Ann
Kopytko, Wanda
Kubasiewicz,
Michael
Le Neal, Normand
Little, Karen
McMullan, Bernie
Millar, Scott
Moroz, Jared
Penner, Mary Ann
Pieterse, Debra
Pishak, Calvin
Wallcraft, Brian

Administration Officer $
Property Appraiser

Property Appraiser

Administration Officer

Property Appraiser

Administration Officer

Property Appraiser

Acquisition Officer

Acquisition Manager

Administration Officer

Administration Officer
Administration Officer

Senior Manager

Financial Officer

Clerk

Property Appraiser

Property Appraiser

Property Appraiser

Appraisal and Acquisition Officer
Property Appraiser

Information Technologist
Information Technologist

52
71

58
77
73
101
84
65

52
64

81
51

83
70
75
71
66

50
59
59
52

54

61
71
62

61

99
72

76
78

59
67
69
60

13.

LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Agency’s approved 2012/13 Business Plan calls for $258, to be paid in quarterly instalments during
2012/13, for the rental of the facilities located at 25 Tupper Street North, Portage La Prairie, Manitoba. There
is no premise lease agreement in place. Occupancy charges for each fiscal year are established annually by the

Province of Manitoba.

The Agency has entered into various leases for vehicles and office equipment. The expected payments for the
remaining four years of the lease agreements are as follows:

2014 $
2015
2016
2017

25
25
24

2
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CROWN LANDS AND PROPERTY AGENCY
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2013
(In thousands)

14. COMPARATIVE FIGURES
Some of the comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year's presentation.
15. PENSION BENEFITS

Employees of Crown Lands and Property Agency (the "Agency") are eligible for pension benefits in
accordance with the provisions of the Civil Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil
Service Superannuation Board. The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide benefits to employees
of the Manitoba Civil Service Superannuation Fund.

The pension liability related to the CSSA's defined benefit plan is included in the Province of Manitoba's
financial statements. Accordingly, no provision is required in the Agency's financial statements relating to the
effects of participation in the plan by the Agency and its employees.

The Agency is regularly required to pay to the Province an amount equal to the current pension contributions
paid by its employees.

15
Page 2062



FOOD
4 DEVELOPMENT

CENTRE
Growing Opportunities in Food

Management's Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of management of Food
Development Centre and have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards. In management's opinion, the financial statements have been
properly prepared within reasonable limits of materiality, incorporating management's best
judgments regarding all necessary estimates and all other data available as at June 20,
2013.

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the assets of Food
Development Centre and to provide reasonable assurance that the books and records
from which the financial statements are derived accurately reflect all transactions and that
established policies and procedures are followed.

The financial statements of Food Development Centre have been audited by Magnus
Chartered Accountants LLP, independent external auditors. The responsibility of the
auditor is to express an independent opinion on whether the financial statements of Food
Development Centre are fairly represented, in all material respects, in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards. The Independent Auditors’ Report outlines
the scope of the audit examination and provides the audit opinion on the financial
statements.

On behalf of Management of
Food Development Centre

(I(.g:g%b ry Mike Lalla
i perating Officer/General Manager Manager of Support Services

Box 1240 « 810 Phillips Street  Portage la Prairie, Manitoba « R1N 3]9
Toll-Free 1-800-870-1044 « Ph. (204) 239-3150 « Fax (204) 239-3180
A Special Operating Agency of Manitoba Agriculture, Food & Rural Initiatives
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[T} MAGNUS

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

MAGNUS CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS LLP- ADVISORY - ASSURANCE « TAXATION- TRANSACTIONS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority of
Food Development Centre

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Food Development Centre, a Centre of the
Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority, Province of Manitoba, which comprise the statements of
financial position as at March 31, 2013 and the statements of operations, change in net (debt) financial
assets and cash flow for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
Opinion

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Food Development Centre as at March 31, 2013 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

June 20, 2013

Winnipeg, Canada Magnus Chartered Accountants LLP

430 Five Donald Street « Winnipeg, Canada « R3L2T4 « Phone (204) 942-4441 - Facsimile (204) 944-0400
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FOOD DEVELOPMENT CENTRE
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Financial Position
(in thousands)
March 31, 2013

2013 2012
Actual Actual
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4) $ 993 $ 1,440
Accounts receivable (Note 5) 257 297
Portfolio investments 41 41
1,291 1,778
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 296 615
Deferred revenue 35 41
Accrued vacation entitlements 165 140
Employee future benefits (Note 7) 251 219
Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba (Note 8) 2,139 2,406
2,886 3,421
Net (debt) financial assets (1,595) (1,643)
Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (Note 9) 14,624 15,371
Prepaid expenses 58 59
Inventories of supplies 20 7
14,702 15,437
Accumulated surplus (Note 10) $ 13,107 $ 13,794

Designated assets (Note 11)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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FOOD DEVELOPMENT CENTRE
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Operations
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

2013 2013 2012
Budget Actual Actual
Revenue:

Grants:
Province of Manitoba $ 2245  §$ 1,995 § 2,245
Federal Government - - 1,060
Other - 296 193
Total grants 2,245 2,291 3,498
Fee for service 685 618 645
Lease income 130 157 100
Investment income 10 28 22
Administration fees (Note 12) 841 793 851
3,911 3,887 5,116

Expenses:
Salaries and benefits 2,132 2,166 2,040
Lab supplies 96 100 108
Purchased services 225 144 200
Transportation 48 27 50
Marketing 67 27 37
Library 43 3 8
Amortization of tangible capital assets 870 1,074 822
Occupancy expenses 383 250 248
Other operating expenses (Schedule 1) 1,112 783 709
4,976 4,574 4,222
Net (loss) income for the year (1,065) (687) 894
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 13,511 13,794 12,900
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 12,446  $ 13,107  $ 13,794

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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FOOD DEVELOPMENT CENTRE

AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY

PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Change in Net (Debt) Financial Assets
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

2013 2013 2012
Budget Actual Actual
Net (loss) income for the year $ (1,065) % (687) $ 894
Tangible capital assets:
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (325) (327) (4,181)
Disposals or write-downs of tangible capital
assets - - 10
Amortization of tangible capital assets 870 1,074 822
Net acquisition of tangible capital assets 545 747 (3,349)
Other non-financial assets:
Increase in prepaid expenses during the year - 1 1
(Decrease) in inventories of supplies during the year - (13) -
Net acquisition of other non-financial assets - (12) 1
Increase (decrease) in net (debt) financial assets (520) 48 (2,454)
Net (debt) financial assets, beginning of year (1,381) (1,643) 811
Net (debt) financial assets, end of year $ (1,901) $ (1,595) $ (1,643)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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FOOD DEVELOPMENT CENTRE

AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY

PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Cash Flow
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

2013 2012
Actual Actual
Cash provided by (applied to):
Operating activities:
Net (loss) income for the year $ (687) $ 894
Adjustment for:
Amortization of tangible capital assets 1,074 822
387 1,716
Changes in the following:
Accounts receivable 40 2,536
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (318) (288)
Accrued vacation entitlements 25 4
Deferred revenue (6) 254
Employee future benefits 32 26
Prepaid expenses 1 1
Inventories of supplies (13) -
Cash provided by operating activities 148 4,249
Capital activities:
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (327) (4,181)
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets - 10
Cash applied to capital activities (327) (4,171)
Financing activities:
Repayment of borrowings from the Province of
Manitoba (268) (194)
Additional borrowings from the Province of Manitoba - 900
Cash (applied to) provided by financing activites (268) 706
Change in cash and cash equivalents (447) 784
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 1,440 656
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 993 $ 1,440

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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FOOD DEVELOPMENT CENTRE
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

1.

Nature of organization

Established in 1978, as part of the Manitoba Research Council, the Food Development Centre (the
"Centre") serves the agri-food industry by providing a wide range of services including food product
development, research, testing and assistance with technology transfer to enable the industry to
efficiently and economically produce high quality foods.

Effective April 1, 1996, the Centre was designated as a Special Operating Agency by regulation under
The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Act made by the Lieutenant Governor in Council.

The Centre is financed through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA). The
Financing Authority has the mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting from the
Centre's operations. It finances the Centre through repayable loans and working capital advances. The
financial framework enables the Centre to operate in a business-like manner according to public policy
expectations.

A Management Agreement between the Financing Authority and the Minister of Rural Development,
being the Minister responsible for the Centre at that time, assigned responsibility to the Centre to
manage and account for the Centre related assets and operations on behalf of the Financing Authority.

The Centre is a part of the Department of Agriculture, Food and Rural Initiatives under the general
direction of a General Manager/Chief Operating Officer, and ultimately the policy direction of the
Deputy Minister and Minister. The Centre remains bound by relevant legislation and regulations.

An Advisory Board with representation from the food industry, clients of the Centre, academia and
government provides direction on policy and operating activities.

Basis of accounting

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards which are Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for the public sector as
recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board.

3. Significant accounting policies

(a) Revenue

Government transfers

Government transfers without eligibility criteria or stipulations are recognized as revenue when the
transfer is authorized.

Government transfers with eligibility criteria but without stipulations are recognized as revenue
when the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.

Government transfers with or without eligibility criteria but with stipulations are recognized as
revenue in the period the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met, except
when and to the extent that the transfer gives rise to a liability.

Fee for service

Fee for service revenue is recognized when the services provided are complete or substantially
complete.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Lease income
Lease income is recognized according to the terms of the underlying lease agreement(s).

Administration fees

Administration fees are recognized in accordance with the terms and conditions of the underlying
agreement(s).

Other revenue

All other revenues are recorded on an accrual basis.

Expenses

All expenses incurred for goods and services are recorded on an accrual basis.

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and short term deposits and investments with
original maturities of three months or less.

Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value. An allowance for
doubtful accounts is recorded when there is uncertainty whether the amounts will be collected.

Portfolio investments
Portfolio investments are investments and deposits with original maturities of more than three
months. These investments are recognized at cost.

Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring at or prior to the
end of the fiscal year the settlement of which will result in the future transfer or use of assets or
other form of settlement. Liabilities are recognized when there is an appropriate basis of
measurement and a reasonable estimate can be made of the amount involved.

Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge existing liabilities of the
Centre. These assets are normally employed to provide future services.

Prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services which will provide economic benefit in
future periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the period the goods or
services are consumed.

Inventories of supplies

Inventories of supplies are recorded at cost and recognized as an expense in the period the
supplies are used or consumed.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

()

(9)

Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well as other
acquisition costs. The costs of tangible capital assets, less any residual value, are amortized over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

Building improvements 15 years straight line
Equipment - commercial and

product development 15 years straight line
Computer hardware and software 5 years stright line

Financial instruments - measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of two measurement categories: (a) fair value; or (b)
cost or amortized cost.

The Centre records its financial assets at cost, which include cash and cash equivalents,
accounts receivable and portfolio investments. The Centre also records its financial liabilities at
cost, which include accounts payable and accrued liabilities and borrowings.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in
the statement of operations in the period the gain or loss occurs. Gains and losses on financial
instruments measured at fair value, if any, are recorded in accumulated surplus as
remeasurement gains and losses until realized; upon disposition of the financial instruments, the
cumulative remeasurement gains and losses are reclassified to the statement of operations.

Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian public sector accounting
standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingencies at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from these estimates.

4. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at March 31 is comprised of the following:

2013 2012
Restricted $ 922 3 161
Unrestricted 901 1,279
Total cash and cash equivalents $ 993 $ 1,440

The restricted cash balance represents the amount on deposit to fund certain eligible expenditures
related to a project the Centre is overseeing. The offsetting liability of $92 (2012 - $161) is included in
accounts payable and accrued liabilities.
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5. Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable at March 31 is comprised of the following:

2013 2012
Trade accounts receivable $ 139 § 237
Other receivables 27 62
Due from Growing Forward Program (Note 12) 92 24
Allowance for doubtful accounts (Note 13) (1) (26)
$ 257  $ 297

6. Working capital advances

The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority has provided the Centre with an authorized line
of working capital of $1,000 of which $187 was used at March 31, 2013 (2012 - $22).

7. Employee future benefits

2013 2012
Severance benefits $ 207 $ 178
Sick pay benefits 44 41
$ 251 $ 219

Pension benefits

Employees of the Centre are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of The
Civil Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service Superannuation Board.
The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil
Service and to participating agencies of the Government, including the Centre, through the Civil
Service Superannuation Fund.

Effective March 31, 2001, pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the Centre
transferred to the Province the pension liability for its employees. Commencing April 1, 2011, the
Centre was required to pay to the Province an amount equal to its employees' current pension
contributions. The amount paid for 2013 was $153 (2012 - $122). Under this agreement, the Centre
has no further pension liability.

Severance benefits

Effective April 1, 1998, the Centre began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its
employees. The amount of severance pay obligations is based on actuarial calculations. The periodic
actuarial valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to the actuarial
calculations when actual experience is different from that expected and/or because of changes in
actuarial assumptions used. The resulting actuarial gains or losses are amortized over the expected
average remaining service life (EARSL) of the related employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2011. The report
provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. In accordance with the formula, the
Centre's actuarially determined net liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2013 is $207
(2012 - $178), with the actuarial losses of $15 (2012 - $15) being amortized over the 15 year EARSL
of the employee group.
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7. Employee future benefits (continued)

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2011 valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2013 present value of the accrued severance benefit liability, are:

Annual rate of return:

Inflation component 2.00%
Real rate of return 4.00%
6.00%

Assumed salary increase rates:
Annual productivity increase 1.00%
Annual general salary increase 2.75%
3.75%

The severance benefit liability at March 31 includes the following components:

2013 2012
Accrued benefit liability $ 224 % 196
Less: unamortized actuarial losses (17) (18)
Severance benefit liability $ 207 $ 178

Total severance benefits paid during the year ended March 31, 2013 were $nil (2012 - $nil). The total
expense related to severance benefits for the year ended March 31 includes the following

components:

2013 2012
Interest on obligation $ 13  $ 11
Current period service cost 15 14
Amortization of actuarial losses over EARSL 1 1
Total expense related to severance benefits $ 29 $ 26

Sick pay benefits

The Centre provides sick leave benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest. The accrued
benefit obligation related to sick leave entitlement earned by employees is determined using a
valuation model developed by an actuary. The valuation is based on employee demographics, sick
leave usage and actuarial assumptions. These assumptions include a 5.00% (2012 - 6.00%) annual
return and a 3.00% (2012 - 3.75%) annual salary increase. The Centre's sick leave benefit liability at
March 31, 2013 is $44 (2012 - $41). The increase in the sick leave benefit liability of $3 (2012 - $nil)
represents the total sick leave benefit expense for the year.
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8. Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba

By virtue of the Management Agreement between the Financing Authority and the Minister of Rural
Development, the Centre is responsible for the repayment of debts assumed by the Special Operating
Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA) on its behalf. SOAFA holds the debt instruments listed below
on behalf of the Centre.

Borrowings obtained through the use of the available Loan Act Authority are repayable in quarterly
instalments of principal and interest as follows:

2013 2012
5.625% repayable in annual instalments of $175
principal plus interest, maturing in 2019 $ 1,225 $ 1,400
5.800% repayable in annual instalments of $18 principal plus
interest, maturing in 2017 89 106

Currently interest only at prime less .75%, with
scheduled principal repayment terms and
maturity date yet to be determined 825 900

$ 2,139 § 2,406

Interest is measured using the effective interest method. During the year ended March 31, 2013, the
Centre made principal payments of $75,000 (2012 - $nil) on the loan with scheduled repayment terms
and conditions yet to be determined. Principal repayments in each of the next five years, excluding
amounts yet to be determined, are as follows:

Year Amount

2014 $ 193
2015 193
2016 193
2017 193
2018 193
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9. Tangible capital assets

2013
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost
Equipment - commercial and product
development $ 6,887 § 241 $ -3 7,128
Computer hardware and software 96 - - 96
Building improvements 6,608 7,453 - 14,061
Commercial and training expansion 7,367 (7,367) - -
$ 20,958 % 327§ - % 21,285
Accumulated Amortization
Equipment - commercial and product
development $ 2429  §$ 381 $ -3 2,810
Computer hardware and software 96 - - 96
Building improvements 3,062 693 - 3,755
Total accumulated amortization $ 5587 § 1,074 § - 3 6,661
Net book value $ 15371 § (747) % - $ 14624

The commercial and training expansion project was completed during the year ended March 31, 2013
with total expansion costs capitalized in previous years of $7,367 being transferred to building
improvements during the year and amortization of these total costs commencing during the year. The
total cost of tangible capital assets not subject to amortization as at March 31, 2013 is $nil

(2012 - $7,367).

2012
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost
Equipment - commercial and product
development $ 6,812 § 85 $ (10) % 6,887
Computer hardware and software 96 - - 96
Building improvements 6,608 - - 6,608
Commercial and training expansion 3,271 4,096 - 7,367
$ 16,787 % 4,181 $ (10) § 20,958
Accumulated Amortization
Equipment - commercial and product
development $ 2054 §$ 375  § -3 2,429
Computer hardware and software 94 2 - 96
Building improvements 2,617 445 - 3,062
Total accumulated amortization $ 4765 § 822 § -3 5,587
Net book value $ 12,022 3,359 (10) 15,371
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10.

1.

12,

13.

Accumulated surplus

As at March 31, 2013, the Centre has allocated $nil (2012 - $96) of its accumulated surplus for
reserve funds that are internally designated for the commercial and training expansion project as this
project was completed during the year.

Designated assets

The Centre has allocated $41 (2012 - $41) of its portfolio investments as designated assets for cash
received from the Province of Manitoba for the vacation entittements earned by employees of the
Centre prior to its designation as an SOA and the severance pay benefits accumulated to March 31,
1998 for certain of their employees. This amount is held in an interest bearing account until the cash
is required to discharge the related liabilities. Any unused balance is re-invested annually.

Administration fees - Growing Forward Program

The Centre has been authorized by Treasury Board to administer the non-business risk management
programs under the joint Canada-Manitoba Growing Forward Framework Agreement (the Growing
Forward Program) on behalf of the federal government and to collect an administration fee of
approximately 6% of the federal government's funding. Total administration fees received or
receivable under this agreement for the year ending March 31, 2013 were $793 (2012 - $851). The
Centre's administration runs April 1, 2009 to March 31, 2013.

Although the Growing Forward Program is administered by the Centre, control of the program remains
with the Government of Canada, Department of Agriculture and Agri-Foods. Therefore, the financial
statements of the Growing Forward Program have not been consolidated into the Centre's financial
statements.

Amounts due from the Growing Forward Program are non-interest bearing with no formal terms of
repayment. The balance as at March 31, 2013 is $92 (2012 - $24).

Financial instruments and financial risk management

The Centre does not have any significant financial instruments subsequently measured at fair value or
denominated in a foreign currency therefore the Centre did not incur any remeasurement gains or
losses during the year (2012 - $nil).

Financial risk management — overview

The Centre has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk;
liquidity risk; market risk; interest risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and
causes financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the Centre to
credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and portfolio
investments.
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13. Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)

The maximum exposure of the Centre to credit risk at March 31 is:

2013 2012
Cash and cash equivalents $ 993 $ 1,440
Accounts receivable 257 297
Portfolio Investments 41 41

$ 1291 $ 1,778

Cash and cash equivalents and portfolio investments: The Centre is not exposed to significant credit
risk as these amounts are held by the Minister of Finance.

Accounts receivable: The Centre is not exposed to significant credit risk as the balance is due from a
large client base and payment in full is typically collected when it is due. The Centre manages this
credit risk through close monitoring of overdue accounts.

The Centre establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of potential
credit losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management’s estimates and
assumptions regarding current market conditions, customer analysis and historical payment trends.
These factors are considered when determining whether past due accounts are allowed for or written
off.

The balance in the allowance for doubtful accounts as at March 31, 2013 is $1 (2012 - $26) with
changes to the allowance for doubtful accounts during the year ended March 31 as follows:

2013 2012
Balance, beginning of the year $ 26 $ 10
Provision for receivable impairment 10 20
Amounts written off during the year (35) (4)
Balance, end of the year $ 19 26

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Centre will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come
due.

The Centre manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from the
Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet the obligations.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange
rates, will affect the Centre’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to cash
and cash equivalents and porfolio investments.

The interest rate risk on cash and cash equivalents is considered to be low because of their short-
term nature. The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the original
deposits are reinvested at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.
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13. Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Centre is not exposed to significant
foreign currency risk as it does not have any significant financial instruments denominated in a
foreign currency.
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Schedule of Administrative Expenses Schedule 1
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013
2013 2013 2012
Budget Actual Actual
Accrediation and licensing fees $ 7 $ 9 $ 7
Advisory committee fees 5 2 2
Bad debt expense 20 10 20
Bank charges 2 3 4
Computer expenses 120 108 121
Courier and telephone 45 37 36
Equipment rental 85 76 76
Insurance 100 76 78
Interest on borrowings 140 94 92
Memberships 10 7 11
Printing, stationary and postage 18 17 17
Professional fees 35 29 48
Property taxes 280 229 123
Repairs and maintenance 200 68 55
Research and development 20 6 9
Training 25 12 10
$ 1,112 § 783  $ 709
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GREEN MANITOBA ECO SOLUTIONS
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)

Management's Responsibility for Financial Reporting

Green Manitoba Eco Solutions (Green Manitoba) management is responsible for preparing the
financial statements and other financial information in the Annual Report. This responsibility
includes maintaining the integrity and objectivity of financial data and the presentation of Green
Manitoba's financial position and results of operations and its cash flows in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards. In management's opinion, the financial statements have
been properly prepared within reasonable limits of materiality, incorporating management's best
judgement regarding all necessary estimates and all other data available through July 18, 2013.

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard Green Manitoba's assets. These
controls also provide reasonable assurance that the books and records from which financial
statements are derived accurately reflect all transactions, and that established policies and procedures
are followed.

Green Manitoba's financial statements have been audited by Grant Thornton LLP, independent
external auditors. The auditors' responsibility is to express an independent opinion on whether the
financial statements of Green Manitoba are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance
with Canadian public sector accounting standards. The Auditors' Report outlines the scope of their
audit examination and provides their audit opinion.

On behalf of Green Manitoba's management,

Christina McDonald
Chief Operating Officer

Winnipeg, Manitoba
July 18, 2013
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To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority of
Green Manitoba Eco Solutions

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Green Manitoba Eco Solutions, which comptise
the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2013, the statement of operations, change in net financial
assets and cash flows for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the company’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Green Manitoba Eco Solutions as at March 31, 2013 and the results of its operations, changes in net
financial assets, and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards.

Winnipeg, Manitoba M_]z‘aﬁ LLF

July 18, 2013 Chartered Accountants

Audit * Tax « Advisory
Grant Thomton LLP. A Canadian Member of Grant Thomton Intemational Ltd
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GREEN MANITOBA ECO SOLUTIONS
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)
Statement of Financial Position
(In Thousands)
March 31, 2013

March 31, March 31,
2013 2012
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash $ 2,213 $ 2,032
Accounts receivable (Note 5) 1 157
2,214 2,189
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accruals 200 369
Severance liability (Note 6) 37 25
237 394
NET FINANCIAL ASSETS 1,977 1,795
NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
Tangible capital assets (Note 7) - -
ACCUMULATED SURPLUS $ 1,977 $ 1,795

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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GREEN MANITOBA ECO SOLUTIONS

(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)
Statement of Operations

(In Thousands)

For the Year Ended March 31, 2013

2013 2013 2012
Budget Actual Actual
REVENUE

Grants - Province of Manitoba $ 715 564 1,863
Grants - Federal government - - 177
Non government funding 2,345 2,295 2,444
3,060 2,859 4,484

EXPENSES
Advertising and promotion 30 20 44
Amortization - - 1
Computer 68 87 62
Contracted services 50 159 6
Office 40 28 22
Professional fees 10 21 9
Program supplies and services 1,988 1,585 3,121
Rent 57 57 65
Salaries and benefits 770 690 684
Training 12 12 11
Travel 35 18 26
3,060 2,677 4,051
ANNUAL SURPLUS - 182 433
ACCUMULATED SURPLUS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 1,795 1,795 1,362
ACCUMULATED SURPLUS, END OF YEAR $ 1,795 1,977 1,795

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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GREEN MANITOBA ECO SOLUTIONS
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)

Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets

(In Thousands)
For the Year Ended March 31, 2013

2013 2013 2012
Budget Actual Actual
Annual Surplus $ - $ 182 433
Tangible capital assets
Amortization of tangible capital assets - - 1
Net acquisition of tangible capital assets - -
INCREASE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS - 182 434
NET FINANCIAL ASSETS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 1,795 1,795 1,361
NET FINANCIAL ASSETS, END OF YEAR $ 1,795 $ 1,977 1,795

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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GREEN MANITOBA ECO SOLUTIONS

(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)

Statement of Cash Flow
(In Thousands)
For the Year Ended March 31, 2013

2013 2012
Actual Actual
Cash provided by (applied to):
Operating
Annual Surplus $ 182 433
Amortization of tangible capital assets - 1
182 434
Change in:
Accounts receivable 156 311
Accounts payable and accruals (169) 25
Unearned revenue - (115)
Severance liability 12 12
Cash provided by operating activities 181 667
INCREASE IN CASH 181 667
CASH - BEGINNING OF YEAR 2,032 1,365
CASH - END OF YEAR $ 2,213 2,032

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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1. NATURE OF ORGANIZATION

Effective April 1, 2006, Green Manitoba Eco Solutions (Green Manitoba) was designated as a Special
Operating Agency pursuant to the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority act (C.C.S.M. ¢.S185).
Green Manitoba operates under a charter approved by the Lieutenant Governor in Council.

Green Manitoba promotes sustainability practices by bringing together all partners (government, business
and other stakeholder organizations) and in doing so achieves more than if each had acted alone. Green
Manitoba serves as the access point for customers to acquire information about provincial sustainability
issues. The Special Operating Agency (SOA) delivers programs and services related to increasing energy
efficiency, conserving water, reducing waste, reducing GHG emissions through climate change action,
encouraging sustainable transportation practices and Education for Sustainability.

Green Manitoba is financed through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA).
SOAFA has the mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting from Green Manitoba's
operations. It finances Green Manitoba through repayable loans and working capital advances. The financial
framework enables Green Manitoba to operate in a business-like manner according to public policy
expectations. A management agreement between the Financing Authority and the Minister of Innovation,
Energy and Mines assigns responsibility to Green Manitoba to manage and account for agency-related
assets and operations on behalf of the Financing Authority.

Green Manitoba is part of the Department of Conservation and operates under policy direction of the
Assistant Deputy Minister, Programs Division. Green Manitoba remains bound by relevant legislation and
regulations, as well as by administrative policy except where specific exemptions have been provided for in
its charter in order to meet business objectives.

Green Manitoba derives its revenue from the Province of Manitoba and external sources. The transactions
with the Province are recorded at the exchange amount, which is the amount agreed upon by both parties.

2. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles
for the public sector as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board.

3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a. Revenue

(i) Government transfers

Government transfer without eligibility criteria or stipulations is recognized as revenue
when the transfer is authorized.

(continues)
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

b.

Government transfer with eligibility criteria but without stipulations is recognized as
revenue when the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.

Government transfer with or without eligibility criteria but with stipulations is recognized as
revenue in the period the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met,
except when and to the extent that the transfer gives rise to a liability.

(i) Non government funding

Special program funding is taken into income to match the program expenditures. Any
remaining program funding is deferred.

(iii) Other revenue

All other revenues are recorded on an accrual basis.

Expenses

All expenses are recorded on an accrual basis.

Cash

Cash includes cash on hand and the bank balance.

Liabilities
Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring prior to the end
of the fiscal year. The settlement of the liabilities will result in the future transfer or use of assets
or other form of settlement. Liabilities are recorded at the estimated amount ultimately payable.

Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge liabilities of Green
Manitoba. These assets are normally employed to provide future services.

Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost less accumulated amortization. Cost includes the
purchase price as well as other acquisition costs. The costs of tangible capital assets, less any
residual value, are amortized over a period of 5 years.

(continues)
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

g. Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of
contingencies at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amount of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories: (a) fair value; or (b) cost or
amortized cost.

Green Manitoba records its financial assets at cost, which include cash and accounts receivable. Green
Manitoba also records its financial liabilities at cost, which include accounts payable, and severance
liability.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recorded in accumulated surplus as re-
measurement gains and losses until realized. Upon disposition of the financial instruments, the cumulative
re-measurement gains and losses are reclassified to the consolidated statement of operations. Gains and
losses on financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in the consolidated
statement of operations in the period the gain or loss occurs.

Green Manitoba did not incur any re-measurement gains and losses during the year (2012 - $0).

Financial risk management - overview

Green Manitoba has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk;
liquidity risk; market risk; interest risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes
financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject Green Manitoba to credit

risk consist principally of cash, and accounts receivable.

The maximum exposure of Green Manitoba to credit risk at March 31 is:

2013 2012

Cash $2,213 $2,032
Accounts receivable 1 157
$2,214 $2,189

(continues)
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4.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Cash: Green Manitoba is not exposed to significant credit risk as these amounts are held by the
Minister of Finance.
Accounts receivable: Green Manitoba is not exposed to significant credit risk as the balance is due
from a large client base, and payment in full is typically collected when it is due. Green Manitoba
manages this credit risk through close monitoring of overdue accounts.
Green Manitoba establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of potential
credit losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management’s estimates and
assumptions regarding current market conditions, customer analysis and historical payment trends.
These factors are considered when determining whether past due accounts are allowed for or written
off.

There was no change in the allowance for doubtful accounts during the year and the balance at March
31, 2013 was $0 (2012 - $0).

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that Green Manitoba will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come
due.

Green Manitoba manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from the
Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet the obligations.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates, will
affect Green Manitoba’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to funds on deposit.

The interest rate risk on funds on deposit is considered to be low because of their short-term nature.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. Green Manitoba is not exposed to significant
foreign currency risk as it does not have any financial instruments denominated in foreign currency.
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5. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

The accounts receivable balance is comprised of the following amounts:

2013 2012
Environmental Education $ - $ 2
Operating - Salaries and benefits - 1
PRAC - 148
Waste (E-Waste) 1 6
$ 1 $ 157

6. SEVERANCE LIABILITY

Effective April 1, 2006, Green Manitoba commenced recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its
employees. The amount of their severance pay obligations is based on actuarial calculations. The periodic
actuarial valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to the actuarial
calculations when actual experience is different from that expected and/or because of changes in actuarial
assumptions used. The resulting actuarial gains or losses are amortized over the expected average remaining
service life of the related employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2013. The report provides
a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. Green Manitoba's actuarially determined net liability for
accounting purposes as at March 31, 2013 was $37 (2012 - $25). The actuarial loss of $61 based on
actuarial reports is being amortized over the 15 year expected average remaining service life (EARSL) of
the employee group.

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2013 valuation, and in the determination
of the March 31, 2013 present value of the accrued severance benefit obligation were:

Annual rate of return

inflation component 2.00%
real rate of return 4.00%
6.00%

Assumed salary increase rates
annual productivity increase 1.00%
annual general salary increase 2.75%
3.75%

The severance benefit liability at March 31 includes the following components:

2013 2012
Accrued benefit liability $90 $82
Less: unamortized actuarial losses (53) (57)
Severance benefit liability $37 $25

(continues)
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6. SEVERANCE LIABILITY (continued)

The total expenses related to severance benefits at March 31 include the following components:

2013 2012
Interest on obligation $5 $5
Current period benefit cost 3 3
Amortization of actuarial gain over EARSL 4 4
Total expense related to severance benefit $12 $12
7. TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS
2013 2012
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance Total
Cost
Computer equipment $ 4 $ - $ - $ 4 $ 4
Furniture and fixtures 9 - - 9 9
Total cost 13 - - 13 13
Accumulated Amortization
Computer equipment 4 - - 4 4
Furniture and fixtures 9 - - 9 9
Total accumulated
amortization 13 - - 13 13
Net $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -

8.  WORKING CAPITAL ASSETS

Green Manitoba has an authorized line of working capital from the Province of Manitoba of $500 of which
$0 was used at March 31, 2013 (2012 - $0).
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9.

PENSION BENEFIT

In accordance with the provisions of The Civil Service Superannuation Act, employees of Green Manitoba
are eligible for pension benefits under the Civil Service Superannuation Fund. The pension plan is a defined
contribution plan, which requires Green Manitoba to contribute an amount equal to the employee's
contribution to the Fund for current services. The amount expensed by Green Manitoba in the current year is
$40 (2012 - $35).

Green Manitoba has no further liability associated with the annual cost of pension benefits earned by Green
Manitoba's employees.

10.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

Green Manitoba currently holds contractual obligations with the following parties, with related expenditures
scheduled to occur in the following years:

2013 2014

City of Brandon — Organics program enhancement $ 120 30

Department of Conservation — Million more trees 15 -

CleanFarms — Agricultural plastics collections project 5 -

Manitoba Association of Regional Recyclers 5 -

$ 145 $ 30

11. PUBLIC SECTOR COMPENSATION DISCLOSURE

2013 2012
Benyam, Addis Planning program analyst 2 54 -
Ferguson, James Planning program analyst 4 80 74
Irwin, Lindsay Planning program analyst 3 61 57
Islam, Faisal Planning program analyst 2 53 -
Jonasson, John Planning consultant 74 81
McDonald, Christina Senior manager 2 100 97
Prokipchuk, Rosemarie Planning program analyst 2 56 -
Storey, Marie Planning program analyst 2 63 56
Vogt, Annette Financial officer - 50
$ 541 $ 415

It is a requirement of the Public Sector Compensation Disclosure Act that annual disclosure be made
of individual compensation exceeding $50 annually to any officer or employee of the Province of

Manitoba
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of the management of the Industrial
Technology Centre (ITC) and have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles. In management's opinion, the financial statements have been
properly prepared within reasonable limits of materiality, incorporating management's best
judgement regarding all necessary estimates and all other data available to the audit report date.

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the assets and to provide
reasonable assurance that the books and records from which the financial statements are derived
accurately reflect all transactions and that established policies and procedures are followed.

The responsibility of the external audit is to express an independent opinion on whether the
financial statements of ITC are fairly represented in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles. The Auditor's Report outlines the scope of the audit examination
and provides the audit opinion.

On behalf of Management
Industrial Technology Centre (ITC)

Trevor Comell Dav?mmjn r’
Chief Operating Officer Mangger Corporate Service

June 13, 2013
Date
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Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Province of Manitoba
Statement of Financial Position
As at March 31, 2013

(In Thousands)

March 31, March 31,
2013 2012
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 666 $ 698
Accounts receivable 221 94
Portfolio investments 103 103
990 895
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accruals 522 413
Unearned revenue 161 196
Employee future benefits (Note 6) 291 265
Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba (Note 7) - -
974 874
Net Debt 16 21
Non-financial Assets
Prepaid expenses 40 39
Tangible capital assets (Note 8) 790 701
830 740
Accumulated Surplus $ 846 $ 761

Designated assets (Note 9)
Commitments (Note 10)

3
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Province of Manitoba
Statement of Operations
For the Year Ended March 31, 2013

(In Thousands)

2013 2012

Budget Actual Actual

Revenue
Province of Manitoba $ 900 $ 900 $ 900
Fee for service 2,119 1,978 1,972
Other 132 58 129
Total revenue 3,151 2,936 3,001

Expense
Advertising and promotion 80 71 83
Amortization 259 223 267
Audit and legal 10 9 11
Bad debts 2 - -
Building maintenance 48 51 72
Computer 40 21 57
Equipment 66 79 82
Fees and memberships 38 37 41
Insurance 47 44 45
Interest and service charges 2 4 7
Library 16 10 11
Loss on disposal - - -
Office 69 65 71
Professional development 30 28 42
Project supplies and subcontract 246 185 187
Purchased services 10 7 11
Rent and property tax 346 269 325
Salaries and benefits 1,727 1,647 1,569
Travel 50 27 41
Utilities 65 74 53
Total expense 3,151 2,851 2,975
Annual surplus income - 85 26
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 754 761 735
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 754 $ 846 $ 761

4
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Province of Manitoba
Statement of Change in Net Debt
For the Year Ended March 31, 2013

(In Thousands)

2013 2012
Budget Actual Actual
Annual surplus $ - $ 85 $ 26
Tangible capital assets
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (300) (312) (276)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 259 223 267
Net acquisition of tangible capital assets (41 (89 (9)
Other non-financial assets
Increase in prepaid expense - (2) 17
Net acquisition of other non-financial assets - (1) 17
(Increase) decrease in net debt (42) (5) 34
Net debt, beginning of year (67) 21 (13)
Net debt, end of year $ (1080 % 16 $ 21

5
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Province of Manitoba
Statement of Cash Flow
For the Year Ended March 31, 2013

(In Thousands)

2013 2012
Actual Actual
Cash provided by (applied to):
Operating
Annual surplus $ 85 $ 26
Amortization of tangible capital assets 223 267
308 293
Change in:
Accounts receivable (127) 108
Accounts payable and accruals 109 76
Unearned revenue (35) 48
Employee future benefits 26 18
Prepaid expenses (1) 17
Cash provided by operating activities 280 560
Capital
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (312) (276)
Cash applied to capital activities (312) (276)
Financing
Debt repayments to the Province of Manitoba - (253)
Cash provided by (applied to) financing activities - (253)
Increase (decrease) in cash (32) st
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 698 667
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 666 $ 698

6
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the Year Ended March 31, 2013

1.

Nature of Organization

The Industrial Technology Centre (ITC) was established in 1979 under "Enterprise Manitoba", a joint
Federal/Provincial cost-shared funding agreement. ITC was managed by the Manitoba Research Council
until September 1992 when responsibility for ITC was transferred to the Economic Innovation &
Technology Council (EITC). ITC was created as a technical resource for Manitoba industry and
government and continues to provide a wide range of technical services to both the private and public
sectors.

Effective April 1, 1996, ITC was designated as a Special Operating Agency (SOA) under The Special
Operating Agencies Financing Authority Act, Cap. S185, C.C.S.M., and operates under a charter
approved by the Lieutenant Governor in Council. ITC operates as part of Manitoba Innovation, Energy
and Mines under the general direction of the Deputy Minister.

ITC is financed through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA). SOAFA has the
mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting from Agency operations. It finances ITC
through working capital advances. The financial framework allows the Agency to operate in a business-
like manner, which is facilitated by SOA status.

A Management Agreement between SOAFA and the Minister of Innovation, Energy and Mines assigns
responsibility to the Agency to manage and account for the Agency-related assets and operations on
behalf of SOAFA.

An Economic Development Contribution Agreement between ITC and Manitoba Innovation, Energy and
Mines defines expected public policy benefits generated from ITC's operations.

ITC has full delegated authority for all administrative, financial and operational matters. This delegation is
subject to any limitations, restrictions, conditions and requirements imposed by legislation or by the
Minister.

Basis of Accounting

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles for the public sector as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board.
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Industrial Technology Centre

An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements

(In Thousands)

For the Year Ended March 31, 2013

3.

Significant Accounting Policies

a.

b.

C.

Revenue

(i)

Government Transfers

Government transfers without eligibility criteria or stipulations are recognized as revenue
when the transfer is authorized.

Government transfers with eligibility criteria but without stipulations are recognized as
revenue when the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.

Government transfers with or without eligibility criteria but with stipulations are recognized
as revenue in the period the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met,
except when and to the extent that the transfer gives rise to a liability.

(i)  Exchange Transactions
Product revenue is recognized when the goods are shipped or delivered and title and risk of
loss pass to the customer. Service revenue is recognized when the rendering of services is
completed or substantially completed.

(i)  Other Revenue
All other revenues are recorded on an accrual basis.

Expenses

0] Accrual Accounting
All expenses incurred for goods and services are recorded on an accrual basis.

(i)  Government Transfers

Government transfers are recognized as expenses in the period in which the transfers are
authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.

Financial Assets

(i)

Portfolio Investments

Portfolio investments are investments that are capable of reasonably prompt liquidation and
are recognized at cost.
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Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the Year Ended March 31, 2013

3.  Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
d. Liabilities
Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring prior to the end of
the fiscal year. The settlement of the liabilities will result in the future transfer or use of assets or
other form of settlement. Liabilities are recorded at the estimated amount ultimately payable.

e. Non-financial Assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge liabilities of the Agency.
These assets are normally employed to provide future services.

0] Prepaid Expenses

Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services which will provide economic benefit
in future periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the year the goods or
services are consumed.

(i)  Tangible Capital Assets

Tangible Capital Assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well as
other acquisition costs. The costs of tangible capital assets, less any residual value, are
amortized over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Furniture and fixtures 20% straight line

Office and laboratory equipment 20% straight line

Computer equipment and software 20% straight line

Leasehold improvements 10% straight line
f. Measurement Uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingencies at the
date of the financial statements, and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
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Industrial Technology Centre

An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements

(In Thousands)

For the Year Ended March 31, 2013

4.  Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management

Measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories: (a) fair value; or (b) cost
or amortized cost.

The Agency records its financial assets at cost, which include cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable and portfolio investments. The Agency also records its financial liabilities at cost, which
include accounts payable and accruals and borrowings.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recorded in accumulated surplus as
re-measurement gains and losses until realized. Upon disposition of the financial instruments, the
cumulative re-measurement gains and losses are reclassified to the consolidated statement of
operations. Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized
in the consolidated statement of operations in the period the gain or loss occurs.

The Agency did not incur any re-measurement gains and losses during the year (Nil in 2012).
Financial Risk Management - Overview

The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk; liquidity
risk; market risk; interest risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes

financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the Agency to credit risk
consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and portfolio investments.

10
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Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the Year Ended March 31, 2013

4.

Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management (continued)

The maximum exposure of the Agency to credit risk at March 31 is:

2013 2012
Cash and cash equivalents $ 666 $ 698
Accounts receivable 221 94
Portfolio investments 103 103
$ 990 $ 895

Cash and cash equivalents and portfolio investments: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk
as these amounts are held by the Minister of Finance or a Chartered Bank.

Accounts receivable: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk as the balance is due from a
large client base, and payment in full is typically collected when it is due. The Agency manages this credit
risk through close monitoring of overdue accounts.

The Agency establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of potential credit
losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management’s estimates and assumptions
regarding current market conditions, customer analysis and historical payment trends. These factors are
considered when determining whether past due accounts are allowed for or written off.

There was no change in the allowance for doubtful accounts during the year and the balance at March
31, 2013 was $20.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due.

The Agency manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from the
Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet the obligations.

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates,
will affect the Agency’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to funds on deposit,
portfolio investments and borrowings.

The interest rate risk on funds on deposit is considered to be low because of their short-term nature. The
interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the original deposits are reinvested at
rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.

The Agency manages its interest rate risk on long-term debt through the exclusive use of fixed rate terms
for its long-term debt.

11
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Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the Year Ended March 31, 2013

4. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management (continued)
Foreign Currency Risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Agency is not exposed to significant foreign
currency risk as it does not have any significant financial instruments denominated in foreign currency.
5.  Working Capital Advances
The Agency has an authorized line of working capital advance up to a maximum of $300. As at March 31,

2013 working capital advances were nil (Nil in 2012). The line bears interest at prime less 1% and is not
secured by specific assets.

6. Employee Future Benefits

2013 2012

Severance benefits $ 266 $ 246

Sick pay benefits 25 19
__ $201  __ $265

Pension Benefits

Employees of the Agency are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of the Civil
Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service Superannuation Board (CSSB).
The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil
Service and to participating agencies of the Government, including ITC, through the Civil Service
Superannuation Fund.

Pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the Agency is required to pay to the Province
an amount equal to the current pension contributions of its employees. The amount paid for 2013 is $84
(2012 - $74). Under this agreement, the pension liability is the responsibility of the Province, and the
Agency has no further pension liability.

Severance Benefits

Effective April 1, 1998 the Agency began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for their
employees. The amount of their severance pay obligations is based on actuarial calculations. The
periodic actuarial valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to the
actuarial calculations when actual experience is different from that expected and/or because of changes
in actuarial assumptions used. The resulting actuarial gains or losses are amortized over the expected
average remaining service life of the related employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2011. The report
provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. The Agency’s actuarially determined net
liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2013 is $266 ($246 in 2011), with an actuarial
adjustment being amortized over the 15 year expected average remaining service life of the employee

group.

12
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Industrial Technology Centre

An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements

(In Thousands)

For the Year Ended March 31, 2013

6.

Employee Future Benefits (continued)

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2011 valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2013 present value of the accrued severance benefit obligation were:

Annual rate of return - inflation component 2.00%
- real rate of return 4.00%

6.00%

Assumed salary increase rates - annual productivity increase 1.00%
- annual general salary increase 2.75%

3.75%

The severance benefit liability at March 31 includes the following components:

2013 2012
Accrued benefit liability $257 $235
Add: unamortized actuarial gains 9 11
Severance benefit liability $266 $246

The total expenses related to severance benefits at March 31 includes the following components:

2013 2012
Interest on obligation $15 $14
Current period benefit cost 7 7
Amortization of actuarial gain over EARSL (2) (3)
Total expense related to severance benefit $20 $18

Sick Pay Benefits

The Agency provides sick leave benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest. The accrued
benefit obligation related to sick leave entitlement earned by employees is determined using a valuation
model developed by an actuary. The valuation is based on employee demographics, sick leave usage
and actuarial assumptions. These assumptions include a 6.00% annual return and a 3.75% annual

salary increase.

Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba

The Minister of Finance has authorized a loan authority of $1,160 (Order in Council #00248 in 2010) for
the Industrial Technology Centre. ITC has drawn down $250 of the $1,160 total loan authority, leaving
$910 of loan authority availability unutilized as of March 31, 2013.

13
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Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the Year Ended March 31, 2013

8. Tangible Capital Assets

2013
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost
Furniture and fixtures $ 33 $ - $ - $ 33
Office and laboratory
equipment 1,732 284 - 2,016
Computer equipment and
software 348 21 - 369
Leasehold improvements 212 7 - 219
2,325 312 - 2,637
Accumulated Amortization
Furniture and fixtures 13 5 - 18
Office and laboratory
equipment 1,201 180 - 1,381
Computer equipment and
software 286 17 - 303
Leasehold improvements 124 21 - 145
1,624 223 - 1,847
Net $ 701 $ 89 $ - $ 790
2012
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost
Furniture and fixtures $ 17 $ 16 $ - $ 33
Office and laboratory
equipment 1,519 213 - 1,732
Computer equipment and
software 313 35 - 348
Leasehold improvements 200 12 - 212
2,049 276 - 2,325
Accumulated Amortization
Furniture and fixtures 10 3 - 13
Office and laboratory
equipment 974 227 - 1,201
Computer equipment and
software 269 17 - 286
Leasehold improvements 104 20 - 124
1,357 267 - 1,624
Net $ 692 $ 9 $ - $ 701
14
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Industrial Technology Centre
An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the Year Ended March 31, 2013

9.

10.

Designated Assets

The Agency has allocated $103 ($103 in 2012) of its portfolio investments as designated assets for
severance pay benefits. The Agency has received $103 of cash from the Province of Manitoba for the
severance pay benefits accumulated to March 31, 1998 for certain of their employees. This amount is
held in an interest bearing account until the cash is required to discharge the related liabilities. Any
unused balance is re-invested annually.

Commitments

The Agency has entered into a lease agreement for the rental of a building at Smartpark, with space of
19,032 square feet.

Estimated minimum lease payments for each of the next five years are as follows:

2014 $189
2015 189
2016 191
2017 194
2018 194

15
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of the management of the Manitoba
Education, Research and Learning Information Networks ("MERLIN") and have been prepared in
accordance with Public sector accounting standards. In management's opinion, the financial statements
have been properly prepared within reasonable limits of materiality, incorporating management's best
judgment regarding all necessary estimates and all other data available to the date of the audit report

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the assets and to provide reasonable
assurance that the books and records from which the financial statements are derived accurately reflect
all transactions and that established policies and procedures are followed.

The responsibility of the external audit is to express an independent opinion on whether the financial
statements of MERLIN are fairly represented in accordance with Public sector accounting standards. The
Independent Auditor's Report outlines the scope of the audit examination and provides the audit opinion.

On behalf of Management
MERLIN

Grdg Baylid, Chief Opetating Officer David-Olafserf Contrsiier

June 12, 2013
Date

Page 2108



Page 2109



MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING INFORMATION
NETWORKS

An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Statement of Financial Position
(In Thousands)

March 31 2013 2012

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 6) $ 218 $ 174
Accounts receivable 897 789
Portfolio investments 47 47
1,162 1,010
Liabilities

Accounts payable and accruals 493 686
Unearned revenue 1,010 611
Employee future benefits (Note 7) 152 139
1,655 1,436
Net debt (493) (426)

Non-financial Assets
Prepaid expenses 399 271
Tangible capital assets (Note 8) 278 311
677 582
Accumulated surplus $ 184 % 156

Designated assets (Note 9)
Commitments (Note 10)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING INFORMATION
NETWORKS

An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Statement of Operations
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2013 2013 2012
Budget Actual Actual

Revenue

Province of Manitoba - Innovation, Energy

and Mines Funding $ 396 $ 396 $ 396
Fee for goods and services 3,965 4,121 4,409
Other 17 15 4
4,378 4,532 4,809

Expense
Advertising and promotion 25 12 19
Amortization 168 164 203
Audit and legal fees 10 14 8
Communication and bandwidth 142 142 162
Conferences - 14 -
Cost of purchases for resale 1,930 1,978 2,208
Equipment repair and maintenance 189 174 192
Manitoba Network connections 384 473 330
Occupancy 79 79 62
Office and miscellaneous 28 35 24
Professional development 25 1 17
Purchased services 60 153 274
Salaries and benefits 1,303 1,246 1,251
Travel 35 19 44
Total expense 4,378 4,504 4,794
Annual surplus - 28 15
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 154 156 141
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 154 % 184 % 156

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING INFORMATION

NETWORKS

An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

Province of Manitoba

Statement of Change in Net Debt
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2013 2013 2012
Budget Actual Actual
Annual surplus $ - $ 28 $ 15
Tangible Capital Assets
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (150) (131) (146)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 168 164 203
Net acquisition of tangible capital assets 18 33 57
Other Non-financial Assets
Increase (decrease) in prepaid expenses (36) (128) 91
(Increase) Decrease in net debt (18) (67) 163
Net debt, beginning of year (422) (426) (589)
Net debt, end of year $ (440) $ (493) $ (426)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
6
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MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING INFORMATION
NETWORKS
An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

Province of Manitoba
Statement of Cash Flows

(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2013 2012
Cash provided by (applied to)
Operating
Annual surplus $ 28 % 15
Amortization of tangible capital assets 164 203
192 218
Changes in:
Accounts receivable (108) (279)
Accounts payable and accruals (193) (30)
Unearned revenue 399 (285)
Employee future benefits 13 15
Prepaid expenses (128) 91
Cash provided by (applied to) operating activities 175 (270)
Capital
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (131) (146)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 44 (416)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 174 590
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 218 % 174
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
2
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MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING INFORMATION
NETWORKS

An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2013

1. Nature of Organization

Effective April 1, 1995, Manitoba Education, Research and Learning Information Networks
("MERLIN") was designated as a Special Operating Agency pursuant to The Special
Operating Agencies Financing Authority Act, Cap S185, C.C.S.M. and operates under a
charter approved by the Lieutenant Governor in Council. Effective September 25, 2002,
MERLIN operates as part of Innovation, Energy and Mines under the general direction of the
Assistant Deputy Minister.

MERLIN is financed through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA).
SOAFA has the mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting from MERLIN
operations. It finances MERLIN through repayable loans and working capital advances. This
financial framework enables MERLIN to operate in a business like manner according to public
policy expectations.

A Management Agreement between SOAFA and the Minister of Innovation, Energy and Mines
assigns responsibility to MERLIN to manage and account for MERLIN related assets and
operations on behalf of SOAFA.

MERLIN remains bound by relevant legislation and regulations. It is also bound by
administrative policy except where specific exemptions have been provided in its charter in
order to meet business objectives.

MERLIN is economically dependent on the Province of Manitoba as it derives much of its
revenue and all of its financing requirements from the Province.
2. Basis of Accounting

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles for the public sector as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting
Board.
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MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING INFORMATION

NETWORKS

An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

Province of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2013

3. Significant Accounting Policies

a. Revenue

(i)

(ii)

(i)

Government Transfers

Government transfers without eligibility criteria or stipulations are recognized as
revenue when the transfer is authorized.

Government transfers with eligibility criteria but without stipulations are recognized
as revenue when the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.

Government transfers with or without eligibility criteria but with stipulations are
recognized as revenue in the period the transfer is authorized and all eligibility
criteria have been met, except when and to the extent that the transfer gives rise
to a liability.

Exchange Transactions

Product revenue is recognized when the goods are shipped or delivered and title
and risk of loss pass to the customer. Service revenue is recognized when the
rendering of services is completed or substantially completed.

Other Revenue

All other revenues are recorded on an accrual basis.

b. Expenses

(i)

(ii)

Accrual Accounting

All expenses incurred for goods and services are recorded on an accrual basis.

Government Transfers

Government transfers are recognized as expenses in the period in which the
transfers are authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.
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MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING INFORMATION
NETWORKS

An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2013

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
c. Financial Assets

0] Portfolio Investments

Portfolio investments are short-term deposits with original maturities of more than
three months. These investments are recognized at cost.

d. Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring prior to
the end of the fiscal year. The settlement of the liabilities will result in the future transfer
or use of assets or other form of settlement. Liabilities are recorded at the estimated
amount ultimately payable.

e. Non-financial Assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge liabilities of the
Agency. These assets are normally employed to provide future services.

0] Prepaid Expenses

Prepaid expenses are payments of goods or services which will provide economic
benefit in future periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the
year the goods or services are consumed.

(i)  Tangible Capital Assets

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price
as well as other acquisition costs. The cost of tangible capital assets, less any
residual are amortized over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Computer hardware 25%, straight line
Computer software 25%, straight line
Equipment and furniture 20%, straight line
Leaseholds 20%, straight line
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MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING INFORMATION
NETWORKS

An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2013

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

f.  Measurement Uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of
contingencies at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these
estimates.

4. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management
Measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories: (a) fair
value; or (b) cost or amortized cost.

The Agency records its financial assets at cost, which include cash and cash equivalents,
accounts receivable and portfolio investments. The Agency also records its financial liabilities
at cost, which include accounts payable.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recorded in accumulated
surplus as re-measurement gains and losses until realized. Upon disposition of the financial
instruments, the cumulative re-measurement gains and losses are reclassified to the
consolidated statement of operations. Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at
cost or amortized cost are recognized in the consolidated statement of operations in the
period the gain or loss occurs.

The Agency did not incur any re-measurement gains and losses during the year (2012 - $Nil).
Financial Risk Management - Overview

The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit
risk; liquidity risk; market risk; interest risk; and foreign currency risk.
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MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING INFORMATION
NETWORKS

An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2013

4. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management (continued)
Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation
and causes financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the

Agency to credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable,
and portfolio investments.

The maximum exposure of MERLIN to credit risk at March 31 is:

2013 2012
Cash and cash equivalents $ 218 $ 174
Accounts receivable 897 789
Portfolio investments 47 47
Maximum exposure to credit risk $ 1,162 $ 1,010

Cash and cash equivalents, and portfolio investments: The Agency is not exposed to
significant credit risk as these amounts are held by the Minister of Finance.

Accounts receivable: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk as the balance is
due from a large client base, and payment in full is typically collected when it is due. The
Agency manages this credit risk through close monitoring of overdue accounts.

The Agency establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of
potential credit losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management'’s
estimates and assumptions regarding current market conditions, customer analysis and
historical payment trends. These factors are considered when determining whether past due
accounts are allowed for or written off.

The allowance for doubtful accounts was reduced by $2 during the year and the balance at
March 31, 2013 was $17.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they
come due.

The Agency manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review
from the Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet the
obligations.

12
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MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING INFORMATION
NETWORKS

An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2013

Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management (continued)

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign
exchange rates, will affect the Agency’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments.
Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to
funds on deposit, and portfolio investments.

The interest rate risk on funds on deposit is considered to be low because of their short-term
nature. The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the original
deposits are reinvested at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.

Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Agency is not exposed to
significant foreign currency risk as it does not have any financial instruments denominated in
foreign currency.

Working Capital Advances

MERLIN has an authorized line of working capital advances up to $2.0 million. As at March
31, 2013 working capital advances were $NIL (2012 - $NIL). The line bears interest at prime
less 1% and is not secured by specific assets.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Agency invests all surplus cash in short-term deposits with the province of Manitoba,
which are made up of term deposits with maturities of up to three months.
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MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING INFORMATION
NETWORKS

An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2013

7.

Employee Future Benefits

2013 2012

Severance benefits $ 141 $ 126
Sick pay benefits 11 13
$ 152 % 139

Pension Benefits

Employees of the Agency are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of
the Civil Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service
Superannuation Board (CSSB). The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide
benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil Service and to participating agencies of the
Government, including the Manitoba Education, Research & Learning Information Network,
through the Civil Service Superannuation Fund (CSSF).

Pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the Agency is required to pay to the
Province an amount equal to the current pension contributions of their employees. The
amount paid for 2013 was $77 ($66 in 2012). Under this agreement, the pension liability is the
responsibility of the Province, and the Agency has no further pension liability.

Severance Benefits

Effective April 1, 1998, MERLIN began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its
employees. The amount of severance pay obligations is based on actuarial calculations. The
periodic actuarial valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to
the actuarial calculations when actual experience is different from that expected and/or
because of changes in actuarial assumptions used. The resulting actuarial gains or losses
are amortized over the expected average remaining service life of the related employee

group.
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MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING INFORMATION
NETWORKS

An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2013

7. Employee Future Benefits (continued)
Severance Benefits (continued)

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2011. The
report provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. MERLIN'’s actuarially
determined net liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2013 was $141 ($126 in
2012), with the actuarial loss of $31 being amortized over the 15 year expected average
remaining service life of the employee group.

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2008 valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2012 present value of the accrued severance benefit
obligation were:

Annual rate of return:

Inflation component 2.00%
Real rate of return 4.00%
6.00%

Annual salary increase rates:

Annual productivity increase 1.00%
Annual general salary increase 2.75%
3.75%

The severance benefit liability at March 31 includes to following components:

2013 2012
Accrued benefit liability $ 165 $ 151
Less: unamortized actuarial losses (24) (25)
Severance benefit liability $ 141 % 126
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MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING INFORMATION
NETWORKS

An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2013

Employee Future Benefits (continued)
Severance Benefits (continued)

The total expenses related to severance benefits at March 31 includes the following
components:

2013 2012
Interest on obligation $ 9 % 9
Current period benefit cost 4 4
Amortization of actuarial gain over EARSL 2 2
Total expense related to severance benefit $ 15 $ 15

Sick Pay Benefits

The Agency provides sick leave benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest. The
accrued benefit obligation related to sick leave entitlement earned by employees is
determined using a valuation model developed by an actuary. The valuation is based on
employee demographics, sick leave usage and actuarial assumptions. These assumptions
include a 6.00% annual return and a 3.75% annual salary increase.
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For the year ended March 31, 2013

MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING INFORMATION
NETWORKS
An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

8.

Tangible Capital Assets

Cost
Computer hardware
Computer software
Equipment and furniture
Leaseholds

Accumulated Amortization
Computer hardware
Computer software
Equipment and furniture
Leaseholds

Net

Cost
Computer hardware
Computer software
Equipment and furniture
Leaseholds

Accumulated Amortization
Computer hardware
Computer software
Equipment and furniture
Leaseholds

Net

Page 2123

2013

Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance
$ 9206 $ 123 % 128 $ 901
96 - - 96

38 8 - 46

20 - 20

1,060 131 128 1,063
612 152 128 636

87 6 - 93

33 4 - 37

17 2 - 19

749 164 128 785

$ 311 $ (33) % - $ 278
2012

Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance

$ 775 $ 146 $ 15 % 906
96 - - 96

38 - - 38

20 - - 20

929 146 15 1,060

452 175 15 612

68 19 - 87

27 6 - 33

14 3 - 17

561 203 15 749

$ 368 $ (57) $ - $ 311
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MANITOBA EDUCATION RESEARCH AND LEARNING INFORMATION
NETWORKS

An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2013

10.

Designated Assets

MERLIN has allocated $47 ($47 in 2012) of its portfolio investments as designated assets for
cash received from the Province of Manitoba for the vacation entittements earned by
employees of MERLIN prior to its designation as an SOA and the severance pay benefits
accumulated to March 31, 1998 for certain of their employees. This amount is held in an
interest bearing account until the cash is required to discharge the related liabilities. Any
unused balance is re-invested annually.

Commitments

MERLIN leases office space under a long-term lease which expires March 31, 2018. The
future minimum payments required under this lease are:

2014 $ 48
2015 48
2016 48
2017 48
2018 48
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THE MANITOBA
SECURITIES

COMMISSION

Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of the management of the
MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY and have been prepared in accordance with Public
sector accounting standards. In management's opinion, the financial statements have been
properly prepared within reasonable limits of materiality, incorporating management's best
judgment regarding all necessary estimates and all other data available to the audit report
date.

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the assets and to provide
reasonable assurance that the books and records from which the financial statements are
derived accurately reflect all transactions and that established policies and procedures are
followed.

The responsibility of the external audit is to express an independent opinion on whether the
financial statements of the MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY are fairly represented
in accordance with Public sector accounting standards. The Independent Auditor's Report
outlines the scope of the audit examination and provides the audit opinion.

On behalf of Management

MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Donald-G% Murray, Chair and CEO

R.B. Bouchard, CA, Director apid CAO

Marlene Nemes, CMA, Controller

JUmeE b, 2003
Date '
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Tel: 204 956 7200 BDO Canada LLP/s.r.L.
B DO Fax: 204 926 7201 700 - 200 Graham Avenue
Toll-free: 800 268 3337 Winnipeg MB R3C 4L5 Canada

W e o A Rl www.bdo.ca

Independent Auditor's Report

To The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY
which comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2013, and the statements of
operations and accumulated surplus, change in net financial assets and cash flows for the year ended
March 31, 2013, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Public Sector Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY as at March 31, 2013, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for the year ended March 31, 2013 in accordance with Public Sector
Accounting Standards.

/?PD (70.«-@\,&“’

Chartered Accountants

Winnipeg, Manitoba
June 6, 2013

2

BDO Canada LLP, a Canadian limited liability partnership, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, and forms part of the international BDO
network of independent member firms.

BDO Canada s.r.l., une société canadienne a responsabilité limitée, est membre de BDO International Limited, société de droit anglais, et fait partie du réseau international de
sociétés membres indépendantes BDO.
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MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Statement of Financial Position
(in thousands)

March 31 2013 2012
Actual Actual
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 5) $ 15,518 $ 12,626
Accounts receivable (Note 6) 233 28
Portfolio investments 1,019 1,019
16,770 13,673
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 46 48
Accrued vacation entitlements 301 236
Accrued salaries and benefits 65 50
Employee future benefits (Note 7) 403 279
815 613
Net Financial Assets 15,955 13,060
Non-financial Assets
Tangible capital assets (Note 8) 23 28
Prepaid expenses 52 47
75 75
Accumulated surplus $ 16,030 $ 13,135

Designated assets (Note 9)
Commitments (Note 10)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Page 2127



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2013 2013 2012
Budget Actual Actual
Revenue

Fees $ 12,921 $ 16,058 $ 14,956
Interest 79 131 101
Miscellaneous - 2 2
13,000 16,191 15,059

Expenses
Amortization - capital assets 10 9 16
CSA initiatives* 100 66 104
Contract services 325 308 270
Education/Information initiatives 197 88 166
Miscellaneous 27 17 20
Office materials and supplies 100 65 80
Premises 324 307 278
Professional services 190 290 142
Research resources 54 49 38
Salaries and benefits 3,570 3,120 2,796
Staff development and professional dues 34 29 28
Telecommunications 68 66 59
Travel 91 82 63
5,090 4,496 4,060
Annual operating surplus 7,910 11,695 10,999
Transfer to the Province of Manitoba (Note 11) 8,800 8,800 8,800
Annual surplus (deficit) (890) 2,895 2,199
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 13,134 13,135 10,936
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 12,244 $ 16,030 $ 13,135

* Canadian Securities Administrators

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2013 2013 2012
Budget Actual Actual
Annual surplus (deficit) $ (890) $ 2,895 $ 2,199
Tangible Capital Assets
Acquisition of tangible capital assets - 4) -
Amortization of tangible capital assets 10 9 16
Net change in tangible capital assets 10 5 16
Other Non-financial Assets
Increase (decrease) in prepaid expense - (5) (5)
Net acquisition of other non-financial assets - (5) (5)
Increase (decrease) in net financial assets (880) 2,895 2,210
Net financial assets, beginning of year 13,060 13,060 10,850
Net financial assets, end of year $ 12,180 $ 15955 $ 13,060
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
5
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MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Statement of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2013 2012

Actual Actual

Cash provided by (applied to):

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Annual surplus $ 2,895 $ 2,199
Amortization of tangible capital assets 9 16
2,904 2,215

Changes in non-cash working capital balances
Accounts receivable (205) 12
Prepaid expenses (5) (5)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (2) 16
Accrued vacation entitlements 65 (2)
Accrued salaries and benefits 15 7
Employee future benefits 124 1
2,896 2,244

Cash Flows from Capital Activities

Acquisition of capital assets (4) -
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 2,892 2,244
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 12,626 10,382
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 15,518 $ 12,626

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Page 2130



MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2013

1. Nature of Organization

Effective April 1, 1999 the Lieutenant Governor in Council designated the Manitoba Securities
Commission ("Commission") as a special operating agency under The Special Operating
Agencies Financing Authority Act (C.C.S.M. ¢.S185) by Order in Council No. 144/1999. The
Order also gave approval to the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority and the
Minister of Consumer and Corporate Affairs, being the Minister responsible for the
Commission, at that time, to enter into a management agreement with respect to the
Commission.

The Management Agreement between the Financing Authority and the Minister of Consumer
and Corporate Affairs assigns responsibility to manage the assets transferred to the Manitoba
Securities Commission in delivering regulated services to clients. The Minister of Finance is
responsible for the Agency.

Treasury Board Secretariat issued a Program Portfolio Management Review (PPMR) Minute
on September 22, 2012 which approved the transfer of the Financial Institutions Regulation
Branch (FIRB) of the Department of Finance to the Manitoba Securities Commission a Special
Operating Agency (SOA), effective October 1, 2012. Since that date, the SOA has been
operating as the Manitoba Financial Services Agency ("Agency").

This change was subsequently reflected in Regulation 29/2013, which provides an updated
listing of the special operating agencies, including the merger of Manitoba Securities
Commission and FIRB. As well, it was reflected in the background to the Order in Council
77/2013.

2. Basis of Accounting

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles for the public sector as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting
Board.

3. Significant Accounting Policies
Revenue

Fees and cost recoveries are recognized when received. Investment income is recorded in
accordance with terms of the related investment.
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MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2013

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Expenses
(a) All expenses incurred for goods and services are recorded on an accrual basis.

(b) Government transfers are recognized as expenditures in the period in which the transfers
are authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.

Financial Assets

Portfolio Investments are investments that are capable of reasonably prompt liquidation and
are recognized at cost.
Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring prior to the
end of the fiscal year. The settlement of the liabilities will result in the future transfer or use of
assets or other form of settlement. Liabilities are recorded at the estimated amount ultimately
payable.

Non-financial Assets

(a) Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services which will provide economic
benefit in future periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the year
the goods or services are consumed.

(b) Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well
as other acquisition cost. Capital assets are recorded at cost and amortized over their
useful lives as follows:

Office equipment 20% straight-line
Furniture and fixtures 20% straight-line
Leasehold improvements 10% straight-line
Computer hardware 20% straight-line
Computer software 20% straight-line

The half-year rule is used in the year of acquisition.

Measurement Uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of
contingencies at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amount of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
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MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2013

4. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management

Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories: (a) fair
value; or (b) cost or amortized cost.

The Agency records its financial assets and liabilities at cost, which include cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable and portfolio investments. The Agency also records its
financial liabilities at cost, which include working capital advances and accounts payable.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recorded in accumulated
surplus as remeasurement gains and losses until realized. Upon disposition of the financial
instruments, the cumulative remeasurement gains and losses are reclassified to the statement
of operations. Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost
are recognized in the statement of operations in the period the gain or loss occurs.

Financial Risk Management Overview

The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit
risk; liquidity risk; market risk; interest risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation
and causes financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the
Agency to credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, portfolio investments,
and accounts receivable.

The maximum exposure of the Agency to credit risk at March 31 is:

2013 2012
Cash and cash equivalents $ 15,518 $ 12,626
Accounts receivable 233 28
Portfolio investments 1,019 1,019

$ 16,770 $ 13,673

Cash, cash equivalents and portfolio investments: The Agency is not exposed to significant
credit risk as the cash and term deposits are primarily held by the Minister of Finance.
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MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2013

Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management (continued)

Accounts receivable: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk as receivables
consist of accrued interest owing from the Province of Manitoba and trade amounts owed
primarily from other entities within the Government of the Province of Manitoba and payment
in full is typically collected when it is due. The Agency establishes an allowance for doubtful
accounts that represents its estimate of potential credit losses. The allowance for doubtful
accounts is based on management's estimates and assumptions regarding current market
conditions, customer analysis and historical payment trends. These factors are considered
when determining whether past due accounts are allowed for or written off.

Management has determined that no allowance for doubtful accounts is required as at March
31, 2013 (Nil in 2012).

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they
come due.

The Agency manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review
from the Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet the
obligations.

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign
exchange rates, will affect the Agency’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments.
The significant market risk the Agency is exposed to is interest rate risk.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to
funds on deposit.

Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Agency is not exposed to
significant foreign currency risk as it does not have any financial instruments denominated in
foreign currency.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Agency invests all surplus cash in short-term deposits with the Province of Manitoba,
which are made up of ninety day callable term deposits.
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MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2013

6.

Accounts Receivable

2013 2012

Accrued interest $ 21 $ 16
FIRB severance and vacation liability receivable 161 -
Trade 51 12
$ 233 $ 28

Employee Future Benefits

Pension Benefits

Employees of the Manitoba Financial Services Agency are eligible for pension benefits in
accordance with the provisions of the Civil Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered
by the Civil Service Superannuation Board (CSSB). The CSSA established a defined benefit
plan to provide benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil Service and to participating
agencies of the Government, including the Agency, through the Civil Service Superannuation
Fund (CSSF).

Effective March 31, 2001, pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the
Agency transferred to the Province of Manitoba the pension liability for its employees.

Commencing April 1, 2001, the Agency was required to pay to the Province an amount equal
to its employees' current pension contributions. The amount paid for 2013 was $172 ($125 in
2012). Under this Agreement, the Agency has no further pension liability.

Severance Benefits

Effective April 1, 1998 or the date of their creation, whichever is later; SOAs began recording
accumulated severance pay benefits for their employees. The amount of their severance pay
obligations is based on actuarial calculations. The periodic actuarial valuations of these
liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to the actuarial calculations when actual
experience is different from that expected and/or because of changes in actuarial
assumptions used. The resulting actuarial gains or losses are amortized over the expected
average remaining service life of the related employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2011. The
report provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. The special operating
agencies’ actuarially determined net liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2013 is
$403 ($279 in 2012). The actuarial loss of $36 based on actuarial reports is being amortized
over the 15 year expected average remaining service life (EARSL) of the employee group.
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MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2013

Employee Future Benefits (continued)

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2011 valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2013 present value of the accrued severance benefit
obligation were:

Annual rate of return:

Inflation component 2.00 %
Real rate of return 4.00 %
6.00 %

Assumed salary increase rate:

Annual productivity increase 1.00 %
Annual general salary increase 2.75 %
3.75 %

The severance liability at March 31 includes the following components:

2013 2012
Accrued benefit liability $ 279 % 318
Add: FIRB accrued benefit liability 160 -
Less: unamortized actuarial losses (36) (39)
Severance benefit liability $ 403 $ 279

The total expenses related to severance benefits at March 31 include the following
components:

2013 2012
Interest on obligation $ 21 % 21
Current period benefit cost (2) (23)
Amortization of actuarial gain over EARSL 2 2
Total expense related to severance benefit $ 21 $ -

The Agency provides sick leave benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest. The
accrued benefit obligation related to sick leave entitlement earned by employees is
determined using a valuation model developed by an actuary. The Agency has not recorded
an accrued sick pay benefit obligation as it has been determined to be immaterial.
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MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2013

8. Tangible Capital Assets

2013
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost

Office equipment $ 40 $ 2 % - 8 42
Furniture and fixtures 153 - - 153
Leasehold improvements 41 - - 41
Computer hardware 140 2 - 142
Computer software 863 - - 863
1,237 4 - 1,241

Accumulated Amortization
Office equipment 39 1 - 40
Furniture and fixtures 150 2 - 152
Leasehold improvements 19 4 - 23
Computer hardware 138 2 - 140
Computer software 863 - - 863
1,209 9 - 1,218
Net book value $ 28 $ B5) $ - $ 23
2012
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance

Cost

Office equipment $ 40 $ - 8 - 8 40
Furniture and fixtures 153 - - 153
Leasehold improvements 41 - - 41
Computer hardware 140 - - 140
Computer software 863 - - 863
1,237 - - 1,237

Accumulated Amortization
Office equipment 36 3 - 39
Furniture and fixtures 147 3 - 150
Leasehold improvements 15 4 - 19
Computer hardware 135 3 - 138
Computer software 860 3 - 863
1,193 16 - 1,209
Net book value $ 44  $ (16) $ - $ 28
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MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2013

10.

11.

12.

Designated Assets

Designated assets are distinct from restricted assets. Unlike restricted assets, the Agency or
the Government can readily change its by-law or resolution and use the designated assets for
another purpose if the need arises. The Agency has allocated $1019 ($1,019 in 2012) of its
portfolio investments as designated assets for the following purposes:

The Agency maintains separate deposits of $750 ($750 in 2012) to fund expenses which may
arise with respect to its reserve fund. The Reserve Fund was established to finance
extraordinary expenses for isolated and unanticipated purposes that are regulatory in nature
and for changes in market activity that have a negative effect on revenues.

The Agency has received $269 ($269 in 2012) of cash from the Province of Manitoba for the
purpose of settling certain of its vacation and severance liabilities in the future. This amount is
held in an interest bearing account until the cash is required to discharge the related liabilities.
Any unused balance is re-invested annually.

Commitments

The Agency has entered into a lease agreement commencing October 1, 2005 for rental of
facilities at 400 St. Mary Avenue, which expires September 30, 2020 and 405 Broadway.
Occupancy charges for the year ended March 31, 2013 were $301. Minimum annual lease
payments total $279 per year for each of the next five years.

Transfer to the Province of Manitoba

Payments to the Consolidated Revenue Fund of the Province of Manitoba are set annually
according to Treasury Board Directives, and paid in quarterly installments. Total transfers for
the current year were $8,800 ($8,800 in 2012).The Treasury Board has approved payments of
$8,800 for the year ended March 31, 2013.

Working Capital Advances

These advances are provided to the Agency through the Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority pursuant to the Management Agreement. The Agency has an authorized
line of working capital advance of $500 which was unutilized at March 31, 2013 (Nil in 2012).

The Agency incurred no interest charges during the year (Nil in 2012).
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Tel: 204 956 7200 BDO Canada LLP/s.r.L.
B D O Fax: 204 926 7201 700 - 200 Graham Avenue
Toll-free: 800 268 3337 Winnipeg MB R3C 4L5 Canada

R www.bdo.ca

Auditor's Comments on Supplementary Financial Information

To The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

We have audited the financial statements of March 31, 2013 which comprise the statement of
financial position as at March 31, 2013 and statements of operations and accumulated surplus,
changes in net financial assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and have issued a report
thereon dated June 6, 2013 which contained an unmodified opinion on those financial
statements. The audit was performed to form an opinion on the financial statements as a whole.
The following supplementary schedule is presented for the purposes of additional analysis and
are not a required part of the financial statements. Such supplementary information is the
responsibility of management and was derived from the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the financial statements.

The supplementary information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the
audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing such
supplementary information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to
prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves.

BD > Q,.N,L,_m

Chartered Accountants

Winnipeg, Manitoba
June 6, 2013

BDO Canada LLP, a Canadian limited liability partnership, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, and forms part of the international BDO
network of independent member firms. 15

BDO Canada s.r.l., une société canadienne a responsabilité limitée, est membre de BDO International Limited, société de droit anglais, et fait partie du réseau international de
sociétés membres indépendantes BDO.
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MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY

Schedule of Public Sector Compensation Disclosure

(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2013

Employee

Don Murray

Doug Brown
Steven Gingera
Chris Besko

Kim Laycock
James Scalena
Bob Bouchard
Marlene Nemes
Kenneth Lofgren
Scott Moore
Paula White
Wayne Bridgeman
Carla L. Buchanan
Terry Kirkham
Jason Roy

Djemal Halilagic
Isilda Tavares

Ainsley Cunningham

Andrew Moreau
Patrick Weeks
Leonard Terlinski
Liz Klippenstein
Keith Schinkel

Title Compensation
Chairman and CEO $ 148
Director and Secretary to the Commission 137
Assistant Legal Counsel 134
Assistant Legal Counsel 134
Assistant Legal Counsel 134
Superintendent FIRB 113
Director and CAO 106
Controller 96
Deputy Superintendent 91
Deputy Superintendent 91
Manager, Compliance and Oversight 84
Senior Analyst 82
Compliance Auditor 77
Registrar 76
Senior Investigator 74
Financial Services Officer 73
Registration Officer 73
Manager, Education and Communications 72
Financial Services Officer 71
Analyst 67
Investigator 59
Programmer Analyst 58
Deputy Registrar - Registrations 55

The Public Sector Compensation Disclosure Act requires all publicly funded bodies to disclose
compensation to any employee or board member when such compensation exceeds $50 per

annum.
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MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY
Schedule of Operating Income

Manitoba Securities Commission
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2013 2013 2012
Budget Actual Actual
Revenue

Fees $ 12,144 $ 15,263 $ 14,956
Interest 79 131 101
Miscellaneous - 2 2
12,223 15,396 15,059

Expenses
Amortization - capital assets 10 9 16
CSA initiatives* 100 66 104
Contract services 305 288 270
Education/Information initiatives 197 88 166
Miscellaneous 26 16 20
Office materials and supplies 93 59 80
Premises 292 273 278
Professional services 139 290 142
Research resources 50 47 38
Salaries and benefits 3,230 2,776 2,796
Staff development and professional dues 32 28 28
Telecommunications 65 61 59
Travel 90 81 63
4,629 4,082 4,060
Annual operating surplus $ 7594 % 11,314 10,999

* Canadian Securities Administrators
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MANITOBA FINANCIAL SERVICES AGENCY
Schedule of Operating Income

Financial Institutions Regulation Branch
(in thousands)

For the six month period ended March 31 2013
Budget Actual
Revenue
Fees $ 777 % 795
Expenses
Contract services 20 20
Miscellaneous 1 1
Office materials and supplies 7
Premises 32 34
Professional services 51 -
Research resources 4 2
Salaries and benefits 340 344
Staff development and professional dues 2 1
Telecommunications 3 5
Travel 1 1
461 414
Annual operating surplus $ 316 $ 381
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MANITOBA TEXT BOOK BUREAU
130 - 1 Avenue West

P.O. Box 910

Souris, Manitoba ROK 2C0

Tel:  (204) 483-5040
(866) 771-6822
Fax:  (204) 483-5041

A Special Operating Agency of Manlitoba Education, Cltizenship and Youth

Management Report

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of the management of the
Manitoba Text Book Bureau and have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public
sector accounting principles. In management's opinion, the financial statements have been
propetly prepared within reasonable limits of materiality, incorporating management's best
judgment regarding all necessary estimates and all other data available up to July 9, 2013.

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the Bureau’s assets and to
provide reasonable assurance that the books and records from which the financial
statements are derived accurately reflect all transactions and that established policies and
procedures are followed.

The responsibility of the Auditor General is to express an independent opinion on whether
the financial statements of the Bureau are faitly presented in accordance with Canadian

public sector accounting principles. The Auditors' Report outlines the scope of the audit
examination and provides the audit opinion.

On behalf of Management,

%EidaMcKinn-y Rhondd Williams, CGA
ief Operating Officer Controller

Souris, Manitoba
July 9, 2013
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@

OFFICE OF THE

AUDITOR GENERAL
MANITOBA

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Legislative Assembly of Manitoba
To the Manitoba Text Book Bureau
To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Manitoba Text Book Bureau which
comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2013, and the statements of operations and
accumulated surplus, change in net financial assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Manitoba Text Book Bureau as at March 31, 2013, and the results of its operations, changes in net
financial assets and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards.

Otfcee of bl Auwdditen fevest
Office of the Auditor General
July 9, 2013
Winnipeg, Manitoba

500 - 330 Portage Avenue Winnipeg, Manitoba R3C 0C4 office: (204) 945-3790 fax: (204) 945-2169
www.0ag.mb.ca
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Manitoba Text Book Bureau

An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority

Province of Manitoba

Statement of Financial Position
(in thousands)

March 31 2013 2012
Financial assets
Cash $ 4 4
Accounts receivable 708 644
Portfolio investments 64 64
Inventories for resale 2,719 2,552
3,495 3,264
Liabilities
Working capital advance (Note 5) 2,091 1,820
Accounts payable and accruals 351 505
Customer deposit accounts 288 175
Accrued severance liability (Note 6) 47 57
2,777 2,557
Net financial assets 718 707
Non-financial assets
Prepaid expenses 7 7
Tangible capital assets (Note 7) 49 74
56 81
Accumulated surplus $ 774 788

Designated assets (Note 8)

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Manitoba Text Book Bureau
An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies

Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus

(in thousands)

Year Ended March 31 2013 2013 2012
Budget Actual Actual
Sales $ 7,729 $ 8,032 $ 7,678
Cost of goods sold
Inventory, beginning of year 2,134 2,552 2,309
Purchases 6,528 7,138 6,825
Transportation in 33 44 39
Transportation out 110 101 106
8,805 9,835 9,279
Inventory, end of year 2,096 2,719 2,552
Cost of goods sold 6,709 7,116 6,727
Gross profit 1,020 916 951
General and administrative expenses
Amortization 29 25 29
Bad debts - 5 4
Computer expense 88 76 72
Employee benefits 71 64 58
Interest 32 36 37
Marketing 18 9 5
Office 22 20 23
Office occupancy 37 37 37
Postage 3 2 2
Professional services 13 15 13
Salaries 390 337 361
Telephone 7 7 7
Training 3 3
Travel 15 7 10
Warehouse occupancy 89 89 89
Warehouse service 201 201 201
1,018 930 951
Annual surplus 2 (14) -
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 775 788 788
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 777 0% 774 % 788

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Manitoba Text Book Bureau

An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority

Province of Manitoba

Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets
(in thousands)

Year Ended March 31 2013 2013 2012
Budget Actual Actual
Annual surplus $ 2 $ (14) $ -
Tangible capital assets
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (10) - Q)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 29 25 29
Net acquisition of tangible capital assets 19 25 28

Other non-financial assets

Decrease in prepaid expense - - 1
Net acquisition of other non-financial assets - - 1
Increase in net financial assets 21 11 29
Net financial assets, beginning of year 684 707 678
Net financial assets, end of year $ 705 $ 718 $ 707

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Manitoba Text Book Bureau

An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority

Province of Manitoba

Statement of Cash Flows

(in thousands)
Year Ended March 31 2013 2012

Increase (decrease) in cash

Operating
Annual surplus $ (14) $ -
Amortization of tangible capital assets 25 29
11 29
Changes in
Accounts receivable (64) (36)
Inventories for resale (167) (243)
Accounts payable and accruals (154) (156)
Customer deposit accounts 113 71
Accrued severance liability (10) 2
Prepaid expenses - 1
(271) (332)
Capital
Acquisition of tangible capital assets - (1)
Financing
Receipt of working capital advance 271 333
Increase (decrease) in cash - -
Cash, beginning of year 4 4
Cash, end of year $ 4 $ 4
Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest received $ 4 $ 6
Interest paid $ 36 $ 36

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Manitoba Text Book Bureau

An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority

Province of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements

(in thousands)
For the year ended March 31, 2013

1. Nature of operations

In 1931, the Manitoba Text Book Bureau (MTBB) was created as a branch of the Department
of Education. It was established to achieve economies of scale and reduce the cost of learning
resources for schools in Manitoba.

Effective April 1, 1996, the MTBB was designated as a Special Operating Agency under The
Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Act, Chapter S 185, C.C.S.M. and operates
under a charter approved by the Lieutenant-Governor in Council.

The MTBB is financed through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA).
SOAFA has the mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting from Agency
operations. It finances the MTBB through working capital advances. This financial framework
enables the MTBB to operate in a business-like manner according to public policy expectations.

A Management Agreement between the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority and
the Minister of Education, being the Minister responsible for the Agency at that time, assigns
responsibility to the MTBB to manage and account for the MTBB related assets and operations
on behalf of SOAFA.

The MTBB continues to be part of the Department of Education under the general direction of
the Assistant Deputy Minister, School Programs Division, and ultimately the policy direction of
the Deputy Minister and Minister.

The MTBB remains bound by relevant legislation and regulations. It is also bound by
administrative policy except where specific exemptions have been provided in its charter in
order to meet business objectives.

2. Basis of accounting
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted

accounting principles for the public sector as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting
Board.
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Manitoba Text Book Bureau

An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority

Province of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements

(in thousands)
For the year ended March 31, 2013

3. Significant accounting policies

Revenue

Revenue is recognized upon transfer of title to the customer.

Expenses

All expenses incurred for goods and services are recorded on an accrual basis.
Financial assets

Cash
Cash includes cash on hand and bank balance.

Portfolio investments
Portfolio investments are short-term deposits with original maturities of more than three months.
These investments are recognized at cost.

Inventories for resale
Inventories for resale are valued using the average unit cost method and are measured using
lower of cost and net realizable value.

Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring prior to the
end of the fiscal year. The settlement of the liabilities will result in the future transfer or use of
assets or other form of settlement. Liabilities are recorded at the estimated amount ultimately
payable.

Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge liabilities of the MTBB.
These assets are normally employed to provide future services.

Prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services which will provide economic benefit in
future periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the year the goods or
services are consumed.
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Manitoba Text Book Bureau

An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority

Province of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements

(in thousands)
For the year ended March 31, 2013

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well as
other acquisition costs. The costs of tangible capital assets are amortized over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

Office equipment, furniture and video recording equipment - 20% declining balance
Computer equipment - 20% straight line
Computer software - 20% straight line

One-half year's amortization is applied in the year of acquisition.

Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of

contingencies at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amount of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

4. Financial instruments and financial risk management
Measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories: (a) fair value;
or (b) cost or amortized cost.

The MTBB records its financial assets at cost, which include cash, portfolio investments,
accounts receivable and inventories for resale. The MTBB also records its financial liabilities at
cost, which include working capital advance, accounts payable and accruals and customer
deposit accounts.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recorded in accumulated
surplus as re-measurement gains and losses until realized. Upon disposition of the financial
instruments, the cumulative re-measurement gains and losses are reclassified to the
consolidated statement of operations. Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at
cost or amortized cost are recognized in the consolidated statement of operations in the period
the gain or loss occurs.

The MTBB did not incur any re-measurement gains and losses during the year (2012 - $nil).
Financial risk management - overview

The MTBB has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk;
liquidity risk; market risk; interest risk; and foreign currency risk.
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Manitoba Text Book Bureau

An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority

Province of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements

(in thousands)
For the year ended March 31, 2013

4. Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and
causes financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the

MTBB to credit risk consist principally of cash, portfolio investments and accounts receivable.

The maximum exposure of the MTBB to credit risk at March 31 is:

2013 2012

Cash $ 4 $ 4
Accounts receivable 708 644
Portfolio investments 64 64
$ 776 $ 712

Cash and portfolio investments: The MTBB is not exposed to significant credit risk as these
amounts are held by the Minister of Finance.

Accounts receivable: The MTBB is not exposed to significant credit risk as the balance is due
from a large client base, and payment in full is typically collected when it is due. The MTBB
manages this credit risk through close monitoring of overdue accounts.

The MTBB establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of
potential credit losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management’s
estimates and assumptions regarding current market conditions, customer analysis and
historical payment trends. These factors are considered when determining whether past due
accounts are allowed for or written off.

The change in the allowance for doubtful accounts during the year was as follows:
Balance, beginning of the year $ 58
Provision for receivable impairment 5

Amounts written off -

Balance, end of the year $ 63
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Manitoba Text Book Bureau

An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority

Province of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements

(in thousands)
For the year ended March 31, 2013

4. Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the MTBB will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they
come due.

The MTBB manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from
the Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet the obligations.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign
exchange rates, will affect the MTBB's income or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to
funds on deposit, and portfolio investments.

The interest rate risk on funds on deposit is considered to be low because of their short-term
nature. The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the original deposits
are reinvested at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.

Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The MTBB is not exposed to

significant foreign currency risk as it does not have any financial instruments denominated in
foreign currency.
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Manitoba Text Book Bureau

An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority

Province of Manitoba

Notes to the Financial Statements

(in thousands)
For the year ended March 31, 2013

5. Working capital advance

The MTBB has an authorized line of working capital advances of $3,500, of which $2,091 was
used as of March 31, 2013 (2012 - $1,820).

6. Severance liability

Effective April 1, 1998, the MTBB began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its
employees. The amount of severance pay obligations is based on actuarial calculations. The
periodic actuarial valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to
the actuarial calculations when actual experience is different from that expected and/or
because of changes in actuarial assumptions used. The resulting actuarial gains or losses are
amortized over the expected average remaining service life of the related employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2011. The
report provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. The MTBB'’s actuarially
determined net liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2013 was $47 (2012 - $57),
with the actuarial gain of $30 (2012 - $30) being amortized over the 15 year expected average
remaining service life of the employee group. Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used
in the March 31, 2011 valuation, and in the determination of the March 31, 2013 present value
of the accrued severance benefit obligation were:

Annual rate of return

Inflation component 2.00%
real rate of return 4.00%
6.00%

Assumed salary increase rates
annual productivity increase 1.00%
annual general salary increase 2.75%
3.75%

The severance benefit liability at March 31 includes the following components:

2013 2012
Accrued benefit liability $ 26 $ 34
Unamortized actuarial gains (losses) 21 23
Severance benefit liability $ 47 $ 57
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6. Severance liability (continued)

Total expenses related to severance benefits at March 31 include the following components:

2013 2012
Interest on obligation $ 2 $ 2
Employer service cost 2 2
Severance payout (12) -
Amortization of actuarial (gain)/loss over EARSL (2) (2)
Total expense related to severance benefit $ (10) $ 2
7. Tangible capital assets
2013 2012
Opening Closing Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance Balance
Cost
Computer equipment $ 262 $ -8 - $ 262 $ 262
Computer software 93 - - 93 93
Office equipment
& furniture 52 - - 52 52
Video recording
equipment 51 - - 51 51
Total cost 458 - - 458 458
Accumulated Amortization
Computer equipment 258 4 - 262 258
Computer software 38 18 - 56 38
Office equipment
& furniture 39 3 - 42 39
Video recording
equipment 49 - - 49 49
Total accumulated
amortization 384 25 - 409 384
Net $ 74 $ (25) % - % 49 3 74
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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8. Designated assets

The MTBB has allocated $64 (2012 - $64) of its portfolio investments as designated assets for
cash received from the Province of Manitoba for the vacation entitlements earned by
employees of the MTBB prior to its designation as an SOA and the severance pay benefits
accumulated to March 31, 1998 for certain of the MTBB’s employees. This amount is held in an
interest bearing account until the cash is required to discharge the related liabilities. Any
unused balance is re-invested annually.

9. Related party transactions

The MTBB is related in terms of common ownership to all Province of Manitoba created
Departments, Agencies and Crown Corporations. The MTBB enters into transactions with
these entities in the normal course of business and the transactions are measured at the
exchange amount.

10. Pension benefits

Employees of the MTBB are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of
the Civil Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service
Superannuation Board. The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide benefits to
employees of the Manitoba Civil Service and to participating agencies of the Government,
including the MTBB, through the Civil Service Superannuation Fund.

Effective March 31, 2001, pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the MTBB
transferred to the Province the pension liability for its employees. Commencing April 1, 2001,
the MTBB is required to pay annually to the Province an amount equal to its employees’ current
pension contributions. The amount paid for 2013 was $20 (2012 - $20). Under this agreement,
the MTBB has no further pension liability.

11. Public sector compensation

Pursuant to the disclosure required by The Public Sector Compensation Disclosure Act, no
remuneration was paid to Advisory Board members. During the fiscal year ended March 31,
2013, the following employees received compensation in excess of $50.

Name Position 2013 2012
Denis Labossiere Controller $ - $ 63
Brenda McKinny Chief Operating Officer $ 80 $ 78
Rhonda Williams Controller $ 76 $ 27
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12. Budgeted figures

Budgeted figures have been provided for comparison purposes and have been derived from
the estimates approved by the management of the Manitoba Text Book Bureau.
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‘MpA,

Management's Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of management of Materials Distribution
Agency and have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. In
management's opinion, the financial statements have been properly prepared within reasonable limits
of materiality, incorporating management's best judgments regarding all necessary estimates and all
other data available as at June 12, 2013.

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the assets of Materials Distribution
Agency and to provide reasonable assurance that the books and records from which the financial
statements are derived accurately reflect all transactions and that established policies and procedures
are followed.

The financial statements of Materials Distribution Agency have been audited by Magnus Chartered
Accountants LLP, independent external auditors. The responsibility of the auditor is to express an
independent opinion on whether the financial statements of Materials Distribution Agency are fairly
represented, in all material respects, in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.
The Independent Auditors’ Report outlines the scope of the audit examination and provides the audit
opinion on the financial statements.

On behalf of Management of
Materials Distribution Agency

David Bishop Joel Hershfield
Chief Operating Officer Manager of Finance and Technology
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[T} MAGNUS

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

MAGNUS CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS LLP- ADVISORY - ASSURANCE « TAXATION- TRANSACTIONS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority of
Materials Distribution Agency

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Materials Distribution Agency, an agency of
the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority, Province of Manitoba, which comprise the
statements of financial position as at March 31, 2013 and the statements of operations, change in net
financial assets and cash flow for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
Opinion

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Materials Distribution Agency as at March 31, 2013 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

June 12, 2013
Winnipeg, Canada Magnus Chartered Accountants LLP

430 Five Donald Street « Winnipeg, Canada « R3L2T4 « Phone (204) 942-4441 - Facsimile (204) 944-0400
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MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY

AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY

PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Financial Position
(in thousands)
March 31, 2013

2013 2012
Actual Actual
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,301 1,410
Accounts receivable (Note 4) 1,810 2,305
Portfolio investments 412 412
Inventories held for resale (Note 6) 1,353 1,467
4,876 5,594
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2,095 2,892
Employee future benefits (Note 7) 651 607
2,746 3,499
Net financial assets 2,130 2,095
Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (Note 8) 1,767 1,654
Prepaid expenses 264 226
2,031 1,880
Accumulated surplus $ 4,161 3,975

Designated assets (Note 9)

Commitments (Note 10)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY

AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY

PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Operations
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

2013 2013 2012
Budget Actual Actual
Revenues:
Warehouse sales (Schedule 1) $ 12,750 13,952 $ 15,426
Service revenue (Schedule 1) 11,871 11,083 10,667
24,621 25,035 26,093
Expenses:
Cost of sales 10,149 10,686 11,940
Salaries and benefits 4,934 4,967 4,478
Occupancy costs 1,104 1,083 1,172
Operating expenses (Schedule 2) 7,892 7,433 7,685
Administrative expenses (Schedule 2) 533 680 633
Province of Manitoba transfer - - 416
24,612 24,849 26,324
Net income (loss) for the year 9 186 (231)
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 3,964 3,975 4,206
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 3,973 4,161 $ 3,975

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY

AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY

PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

2013 2013 2012
Budget Actual Actual
Net income (loss) for the year $ 9 4 186  $ (231)
Tangible capital assets
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (20) (1,038) (746)
Amortization of tangible capital assets - 925 988
Net acquisition of tangible capital assets (20) (113) 242
Other non-financial assets
(Decrease) increase in prepaid expenses during
the year - (38) 11
Net acquisition of other non-financial assets - (38) 11
Increase in net financial assets (11) 35 22
Net financial assets, beginning of year 1,914 2,095 2,073
Net financial assets, end of year $ 1,903 § 2130 $ 2,095

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Page 2162



MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Cash Flow
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

2013 2012
Actual Actual
Cash provided by (applied to):
Operating activities:
Net income (loss) for the year $ 186 $ (231)
Adjustment for:
Amortization 925 988
1,111 757
Changes in the following:
Accounts receivable 495 585
Inventories held for resale 115 9
Prepaid expenses (38) 11
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (798) 277
Employee future benefits 44 24
Cash provided by operating activities 929 1,663
Capital activities:
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (1,038) (746)
Cash applied to capital activities (1,038) (746)
Change in cash and cash equivalents (109) 917
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 1,410 493
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 1,301 $ 1,410

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

1. Nature of organization

The Government of Manitoba established a central warehouse operation in 1974. Its mandate is to
effectively meet the cost needs of departments and certain boards, commissions and agencies of the
Crown, for a variety of commonly used items.

Effective April 1, 1993, Materials Distribution Agency (the "Agency") was designated as a Special
Operating Agency pursuant to The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Act, Cap. S185,
C.C.S.M. and operates under a charter approved by the Lieutenant Governor in Council.

In 1956, Mail Management (Postal Service) was created as a branch of the Manitoba Provincial
Government to provide centralized postal services. Effective April 1, 1996 the Postage Service was
renamed Mail Management Agency and designated as a Special Operating Agency ("SOA") pursuant
to The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Act, Cap. S185, C.C.S.M. and operates under
a charter approved by the Lieutenant Governor in Council. Effective April 1, 2005 the operations of the
Materials Distribution Agency and the Mail Management Agency were amalgamated. The
amalgamated operations have been operating as the Materials Distribution Agency.

The Agency is financed through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority ("SOAFA"). The
Financing Authority has the mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting from the
Agency's operations. It finances the Agency through repayable loans and working capital advances.
This financial framework enables the Agency to operate in a business like manner according to public
policy expectations.

A Management Agreement between the Financing Authority and the Minister of Infrastructure and
Transportation assigns responsibility to the Agency to manage and account for Agency-related assets
and operations on behalf of the Financing Authority.

The Agency continues to be part of Manitoba Infrastructure and Transportation under the general
direction of the Assistant Deputy Minister, Supply and Services Division, and ultimately the policy
direction of the Deputy Minister and Minister.

The Agency remains bound by relevant legislation and regulations. It is also bound by administrative
policy except where specific exemptions have been provided in its charter in order to meet business
objectives.

Effective April 1, 2012, the Agency is administering the vaccine program on behalf of Manitoba Health.

2. Basis of accounting

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards which are Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for the public sector as
recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board.
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MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

3. Significant accounting policies

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Revenue

Warehouse sales

Revenue is recognized when the goods are shipped.
Service revenue

Service revenue is recognized when the related services are completed or substantially completed
pursuant to the underlying contracts, where applicable.

Other revenue

All other revenues are recognized on an accrual basis.

Expenses

Accrual accounting

All expenses incurred for goods and services are recognized on an accrual basis.

Government transfers

Government transfers are recognized as expenses in the period in which the transfers are
authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and short term investments and deposits with
original maturities of three months or less.

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value. An allowance for
doubtful accounts is recorded when there is uncertainty whether the amounts will be collected.

Portfolio investments

Portfolio investments are investments and deposits with original maturities of more than three
months. These investments are recognized at cost.

Inventories for resale

Inventories for resale are recorded at the lower of cost or net realizable value.
Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring at or prior to the
end of the fiscal year the settlement of which will result in the future transfer or use of assets or
other form of settlement. Liabilities are recognized when there is an appropriate basis of
measurement and a reasonable estimate can be made of the amount involved.
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MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e)

(f)

(9)

Non-financial assets

Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well as other
acquisition costs. The costs of tangible capital assets, less any residual value, are amortized over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

Computer equipment 20% straight line
Furniture and fixtures 20% straight line
Leasehold improvements 5 years straight line
Office equipment 20% straight line
Production equipment 20% declining balance
Rental equipment 2 - 5 years straight line
Warehouse equipment 20% declining balance

Prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services that will provide economic benefit in future
periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the year the goods or services are
consumed.

Financial instruments - measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of two measurement categories: (a) fair value; or (b)
cost or amortized cost.

The Agency records its financial assets at cost. Financial assets include cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable and portfolio investments. The Agency also records its financial
liabilities at cost. Financial liabilities include accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in
the statement of operations in the period the gain or loss occurs. Gains and losses on financial
instruments measured at fair value, if any, are recorded in accumulated surplus as
remeasurement gains and losses until realized. Upon disposition of the financial instruments, the
cumulative remeasurement gains and losses are reclassified to the statement of operations.

Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian public sector accounting
standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingencies at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from these estimates.
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MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

4. Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable at March 31 is comprised of the following:

2013 2012
Trade accounts receivable $ 1,902 $ 2,397
Other receivables 1 1
Allowance for doubtful accounts (93) (93)

$ 1,810  $ 2,305

5. Working capital advances

The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority has provided the Agency with an authorized line
of working capital of $1,000 of which $nil was used at March 31, 2013 (2012 - $nil).

6. Inventories held for resale

2013 2012
Medical supplies $ 598 § 681
Health equipment 120 102
Stationary 425 479
Janitorial 203 196
Furniture 7 9

$ 1,353  § 1,467

7. Employee future benefits

2013 2012
Severance benefits $ 581 $ 524
Sick pay benefits 70 83
$ 651 $ 607

Pension benefits

Employees of the Agency are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of the Civil
Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service Superannuation Board. The
CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil Service
and to participating agencies of the Government, including the Agency, through the Civil Service
Superannuation Fund.

Effective March 31, 2001, pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the Agency
transferred to the Province the pension liability for its employees. Commencing April 1, 2001, the
Agency was required to pay to the Province an amount equal to its employees’ current pension
contributions. The amount paid for 2013 was $212 (2012 - $187). Under this agreement, the Agency
has no further pension liability.
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MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

7. Employee future benefits (continued)
Severance benefits

Effective April 1, 1998, the Agency began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its
employees. The amount of the severance pay benefit obligation is based on actuarial calculations.
The periodic actuarial valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to the
actuarial calculations when actual experience is different from that expected and/or because of
changes in actuarial assumptions used. The resulting actuarial gains or losses are amortized over the
expected average remaining service life (EARSL) of the related employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2011. The report
provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. In accordance with the formula, the
Agency's actuarially determined net liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2013 is $581
(2012 - $524), with the actuarial losses of $15 (2012 - $15) based on the completed actuarial reports
being amortized over the 15 year EARSL of the employee group.

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2011 valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2013 present value of the accrued severance benefit liability, are:

Annual rate of return:

Inflation component 2.00%
Real rate of return 4.00%
6.00%

Assumed salary increase rates:
Annual productivity increase 1.00%
Annual general salary increase 2.75%
3.75%

The severance benefit liability as at March 31 includes the following components:

2013 2012
Accrued benefit liability $ 588 § 532
Less: unamortized actuarial losses (7) (8)
Severance benefit liability $ 581 § 524

Total severace benefits paid during the year ended March 31, 2013 were $nil (2012 - $30). The total
expense related to severance benefits for the year ended March 31 includes the following

components:

2013 2012
Interest on obligation $ 35 $ 33
Current period service cost 21 20
Amortization of actuarial losses over EARSL 1 1
Total expense related to severance benefits $ 57 $ 54
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MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

7. Employee future benefits (continued)
Sick pay benefits
The Agency provides sick leave benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest. The accrued
benefit liability related to sick leave entitlements earned by employees is determined using a valuation
model developed by an actuary. The valuation is based on employee demographics, sick leave
usage and actuarial assumptions. These assumptions include a 6.00% annual return and a 3.75%
annual salary increase. The Agency's sick leave benefit liability as at March 31, 2013 based on the
valutation model is $70 (2012 - $83). The decrease in the sick leave benefit liability of $13
(2012 - $nil) represents the total sick leave benefit recovery for the year.
8. Tangible capital assets
2013
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance

Cost
Computer equipment $ 582 % 16 % - 9 598
Fixtures 163 1 - 164
Leasehold improvements 854 - - 854
Office equipment 64 - - 64
Production equipment 291 (3) - 288
Rental equipment 9,605 976 - 10,581
Warehouse equipment 1,027 48 - - 1,075

$ 12586  $ 1,038 $ - 9 13,624
Accumulated amortization
Computer equipment $ 560 $ 7 % - 9% 567
Fixtures 133 10 - 143
Leasehold improvements 773 24 - 797
Office equipment 64 - - 64
Production equipment 292 (4) - 288
Rental equipment 8,393 831 - 9,224
Warehouse equipment 717 57 - 774
Total accumulated amortization $ 10,932 § 925 % - 3 11,857
Net book value $ 1,654 $ 113 § - 3 1,767

Production equipment additions for the year ended March 31, 2013 include adjustments for discounts
received during the year on production equipment purchases from the year ended March 31, 2012.
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MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

8. Tangible capital assets (continued)
2012
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost
Computer equipment $ 567 $ 15 % - 3 582
Fixtures 161 2 - 163
Leasehold improvements 836 18 - 854
Office equipment 64 - - 64
Production equipment 284 7 - 291
Rental equipment 8,930 675 - 9,605
Warehouse equipment 998 29 ° - 1,027
$ 11,840 % 746 3 - 3 12,586
Accumulated amortization
Computer equipment $ 557 § 3 93 -3 560
Fixtures 123 10 - 133
Leasehold improvements 752 21 - 773
Office equipment 64 - - 64
Production equipment 284 8 - 292
Rental equipment 7,508 885 - 8,393
Warehouse equipment 656 61 - 717
Total accumulated amortization $ 9944  § 988 % - $ 10,932
Net book value $ 1,806 $ (242) % - $ 1,654
9. Designated assets
The Agency has allocated $412 (2012 - $412) of its portfolio investments as designated assets for
cash received from the Province of Manitoba for vacation entitlements earned by employees of the
Agency prior to its designation as an SOA and the severance pay benefits accumulated to March 31,
1998 for certain of the Agency’s employees. This amount is held in an interest bearing account until
the cash is required to discharge the related liabilities. Any unused balance is re-invested annually.
10. Commitments

Leased premises

On March 24, 2003, the Agency took partial possession of a rental property consisting of 76,067
square feet at 1715 St. James Street, Winnipeg, Manitoba. The lease is for a term of ten years
commencing May 1, 2003 with an additional five year renewal option. The payments per the lease
agreement are $521 per year.

On April 30, 2010, the Agency took possession of a rental property consisting of 45,000 square feet
at 1455 Mountain Avenue, Winnipeg, Manitoba. The lease expires on June 30, 2013 and the lease
payments are $18 per month.
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MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

10. Commitments (continued)

1.

Rental agreement

The Agency leases space from the Province of Manitoba on a monthly basis for the following
locations: 450 Broadway, Winnipeg; 340 - 9th Street, Brandon; and 25 Tupper Street, Portage La
Prairie. Occupancy charges for the year ended March 31, 2014 are estimated to be $10
(2013 actual - $10).

Financial instruments and financial risk management

The Agency does not have any significant financial instruments subsequently measured at fair value
or denominated in a foreign currency therefore the Angency did not incur any remeasurement gains
or losses during the year (2012 - $nil).

Financial risk management — overview

The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk;
liquidity risk; market risk; interest rate risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and
causes financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the Agency to
credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and portfolio
investments.

The maximum exposure of the Agency to credit risk at March 31 is:

2013 2012
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,301 $ 1,410
Accounts receivable 1,810 2,305
Portfolio investments 412 412

$ 3523 § 4,127

Cash and cash equivalents and portfolio investments: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit
risk as these amounts are held by the Minister of Finance.

Accounts receivable: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk as the balance of the
accounts receivable are primarily with other government agencies and departments. The balance is
due from a large client base and payment in full is typically collected when it is due. The Agency
manages this credit risk through close monitoring of overdue accounts.

The Agency establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of potential
credit losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management’s estimates and
assumptions regarding current market conditions, customer analysis and historical payment trends.
These factors are considered when determining whether past due accounts are allowed for or written
off.

There was no change in the allowance for doubtful accounts during the year and the balance in the
allowance for doubtful accounts at March 31, 2013 is $93 (2012 - $93).
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MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

1.

Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come
due.

The Agency manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from the
Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet its obligations.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange
rates, will affect the Agency’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to cash
and cash equivalents and portfolio investments.

The interest rate risk on cash and cash equivalents is considered to be low because of their short-
term nature. The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the original
deposits are reinvested at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Agency is not exposed to significant
foreign currency risk as it does not have any significant financial instruments denominated in a
foreign currency.

12. Comparative information

Certain amounts from the year ended March 31, 2012 have been reclassified to conform to the
financial statement presentation adopted for the current year.
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MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY

PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Schedule of Warehouse Sales and Service Revenue

(in thousands)

Year ended March 31, 2013 Schedule 1
2013 2012

Warehouse sales:
Medical supplies 4,854 4,919
Stationery 4,610 4,580
Furniture 1,046 2,537
Janitorial 2,138 2,174
Health equipment 591 574
Special projects 713 642

13,952 15,426

Service revenue:
Disposal 15 5
Manitoba Textbook Bureau 290 290
Freight 740 731
Moving 411 389
Storage 69 63
Vaccine program 517 -
Office equipment - copy centres 10 51
Mail services 5,543 5,870
Home care equipment rentals 3,316 3,062
Other income 172 206

11,083 10,667
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MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Schedule of Operating and Administrative Expenses
(in thousands)

Year ended March 31, 2013 Schedule 2
2013 2012

Operating expenses:
Amortization $ 925 $ 988
Copy centre 12 43
Equipment rentals 121 139
Freight 1,546 1,428
Mail services 4,259 4,550
Moving 287 313
Vehicle 108 92
Warehouse supplies 175 132

$ 7,433 $ 7,685

Administrative expenses:
Computer $ 275 $ 237
Miscellaneous 14 12
Office 249 207
Professional fees 20 14
Promotion and marketing 37 75
SOAFA fees 2 2
Telephone 72 66
Training 11 20

$ 680 $ 633
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Management's Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of management of Office of the
Fire Commissioner and have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards. In management's opinion, the financial statements have been properly
prepared within reasonable limits of materiality, incorporating management's best judgments
regarding all necessary estimates and all other data available as at June 24, 2013.

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the assets of Office of the Fire
Commissioner and to provide reasonable assurance that the books and records from which the
financial statements are derived accurately reflect all transactions and that established policies
and procedures are followed.

The financial statements of Office of the Fire Commissioner have been audited by Magnus
Chartered Accountants LLP, independent external auditors. The responsibility of the auditor is
to express an independent opinion on whether the financial statements of Office of the Fire
Commissioner are fairly represented, in all material respects, in accordance with Canadian
public sector accounting standards. The Independent Auditors’ Report outlines the scope of the
audit examination and provides the audit opinion on the financial statements.

On behalf of Management of
Office of the Fire Commissioner

David Schafer

Fire Commissioner
(Chief Operating Officer)

508 Norquay Building - 401 York Avenue - Winnipeg, Manitoba - Canada - R3C 0P8

Telephone: (204) 945-3322 . Fax: (204) 948-2089 . Website: www.firecomm.gov.mb.ca
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[T} MAGNUS

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

MAGNUS CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS LLP+ ADVISORY « ASSURANCE - TAXATION+ TRANSACTIONS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority of
Office of the Fire Commissioner

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Office of the Fire Commissioner, an Agency of
the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority, Province of Manitoba, which comprise the
statements of financial position as at March 31, 2013 and the statements of operations, change in net
financial assets and cash flow for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
Opinion

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Office of the Fire Commissioner as at March 31, 2013 and the results of its operations and its cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

June 24, 2013
Winnipeg, Canada Magnus Chartered Accountants LLP

430 Five Donald Street + Winnipeg, Canada + R3L2T4 - Phone (204) 942-4441 - Facsimile (204) 944-0400
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OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER

AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY

PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Financial Position
(in thousands)
March 31, 2013

2013 2012
Actual Actual
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 8,145 $ 7,259
Accounts receivable (Note 4) 5,268 4,216
Portfolio investments 787 787
14,200 12,262
Liabilities
Accounts payable 730 671
Accrued liabilities (Note 5) 2,579 2,716
Unearned revenue 482 423
Employee future benefits (Note 6) 876 823
Capital lease obligations (Note 7) 74 109
4,741 4,742
Net financial assets 9,459 7,520
Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (Note 8) 7,850 7,499
Prepaid expenses 93 80
7,943 7,579
Accumulated surplus 17,402 $ 15,099

Designated assets (Note 9)
Commitments (Note 10)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Operations
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

2013 2013 2012
Budget Actual Actual
Revenue:
Government grants/transfers:
Province of Manitoba $ 130 § 129 § 706
Federal Government 545 1,077 784
Total Government grants 675 1,206 1,490
Fees and other revenue 15,338 15,432 13,789
Investment income 25 58 32
Total revenue (Schedule 1) 16,038 16,696 15,311
Expenses:
Salaries and employee benefits 9,160 8,150 7,193
Mutual Aid expenses 260 200 172
Transportation (Schedule 2) 1,012 754 794
Communications (Schedule 3) 345 268 286
Supplies and services (Schedule 4) 1,511 1,551 1,852
Debt servicing - capital lease obligations 8 8 12
Minor capital expenses 80 281 296
Amortization of tangible capital assets 1,127 990 829
Other operating expenses (Schedule 5) 1,555 1,441 1,532
15,058 13,643 12,966
Net income before the transfer of funds to the
Province of Manitoba 980 3,053 2,345
Transfer of funds to the Province of Manitoba (Note 11) 750 750 750
Net income for the year 230 2,303 1,595
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 14,621 15,099 13,504
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 14,851 $ 17,402  $ 15,099

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER

AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY

PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

2013 2013 2012
Budget Actual Actual
Net income for the year 230§ 2303 § 1,595
Tangible capital assets:

Acquisitions of tangible capital assets (1,902) (1,342) (423)

Disposals of tangible capital assets - 1 4

Amortization of tangible capital assets 1,127 990 829
Net acquisition of tangible capital assets (775) (351) 410
Other non-financial assets:

Increase in prepaid expenses during the year - (13) (10)
Net acquisition of other non-financial assets - (13) (10)
Increase (decrease) in net financial assets (545) 1,939 1,995
Net financial assets, beginning of year 6,892 7,520 5,525
Net financial assets, end of year 6,347 $ 9459 § 7,520

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER

AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY

PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Statement of Cash Flow
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

2013 2012
Actual Actual
Cash provided by (applied to):
Operating activities:
Net income for the year $ 2,303 1,595
Adjustment for:
Amortization of tangible capital assets 990 829
Gain on disposal of tangible capital assets (9) (20)
3,284 2,404
Changes in the following:
Accounts receivable (1,052) (2,390)
Accounts payable 59 266
Accrued liabilities (137) 1,015
Unearned revenue 59 248
Employee future benefits 53 234
Prepaid expenses (13) (10)
Cash provided by operating activities 2,253 1,767
Capital activities:
Acquisitions of tangible capital assets (1,342) (423)
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets 10 24
Cash applied to capital activities (1,332) (399)
Investing activities:
Portfolio investments - (228)
Cash applied to investing activities - (228)
Financing activities:
Capital lease obligations (35) (45)
Cash applied to financing activities (35) (45)
Change in cash and cash equivalents 886 1,095
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 7,259 6,164
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 8,145 7,259

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

1.

Nature of organization

Effective April 1, 1996, the Office of the Fire Commissioner (the "Agency") was designated as a
Special Operating Agency (SOA) under The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Act,
Cap. S185, C.C.S.M. and operates under a charter approved by the Lieutenant Governor in Council.

Effective April 1, 1996, a Transfer Agreement executed between the Government of Manitoba
(Labour) and the Financing Authority, a corporation under The Special Operating Agencies Financing
Authority (SOAFA) Act, transferred all assets in the Fires Prevention Fund valued at $11,809 to the
Financing Authority.

A Management Agreement executed between the Financing Authority and the Government of
Manitoba (Labour) assigned responsibility to the Office of the Fire Commissioner to manage and
account for the related assets and operations on behalf of the Financing Authority. The Office of the
Fire Commissioner does not hold title to the assets. Effective April 1, 1996, the Financing Authority
established a fund referred to as the Fires Prevention Fund to hold these assets.

Effective April 1, 2011, the operations and related net liabilities valued at $358 of the Mechanical and
Engineering Branch of the Department of Labour and Immigration were transferred to the Financing
Authority to be managed and accounted for by the Office of the Fire Commissioner.

The Office of the Fire Commissioner is part of the Department of Family Services and Labour and is
ultimately under the policy direction of the Minister of Family Services and Labour. The Agency is
bound by relevant legislation and regulations. The Agency is also bound by administrative policy
except where specific exemptions have been provided for in its charter in order to meet business
objectives.

During the year, the Agency's operating charter was updated and an Audit Committee established to
oversee the financial reporting and overall operations of the Agency.

Basis of accounting

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards which are Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for the public
sector as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board.

Significant accounting policies
(a) Revenue

Government grants/transfers

Government transfers without eligibility criteria or stipulations are recognized as revenue when the
transfer is authorized.

Government transfers with eligibility criteria but without stipulations are recognized as revenue
when the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.

Government transfers with or without eligibility criteria but with stipulations are recognized as
revenue in the period the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met, except
when and to the extent that the transfer gives rise to a liability.
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OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b)

(c)

Fees and other revenue

Insurance Levy
The Fires Prevention and Emergency Response Act imposes a special assessment on

licensed insurers equal to a set percentage of total property insurance premiums. The levy
rate is currently set at 1.25% (2012 - 1.25%).

The Agency collects this levy based on the value of premiums and assessments in respect to
property insurance in a calendar year. Levy revenue with respect to the 2012 calendar year
is recognized as revenue in the fiscal year ending March 31, 2013 with no amounts
recognized in the financial statements for January to March of the current fiscal year due to it
not being practicable to determine a reasonable estimate for these amounts.

Mechanical and engineering fees including amusement rides, boiler and pressure vessel,
gas and oil, electrical, and elevator fees including certificates, design registrations,
examinations, inspections, licenses, permits, searches and special acceptances under The
Amusements Act, The Electricians' License Act, The Elevator Act, The Gas and Oil Burner
Act, The Power Engineers Act and The Steam and Pressure Plants Act are recognized on an
accrual basis.

Codes and standards revenue including building, mobile home and plumbing code
inspections and permits under the Buildings and Mobile Homes Act is recognized on an
accrual basis.

Tuition fees and fire inspections, investigations and reports under The Fires Prevention and
Emergency Response Act are recognized on an accrual basis.

Emergency services conference revenue and any other revenue are recognized on an
accrual basis.

Investment income is recognized on an accrual basis.

Expenses
Expenses incurred for goods and services are recorded on an accrual basis

Government transfers
Government transfers are recognized as expenses in the period in which the transfers are
authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and short term investments and deposits with
original maturities of three months or less.

Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value. An allowance for
doubtful accounts is recorded when there is uncertainty whether the amounts will be collected.

Portfolio investments
Portfolio investments are investments and deposits with original maturities of more than three
months. These investments are recognized at cost.
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OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring at or prior to the
end of the fiscal year the settlement of which will result in the future transfer or use of assets or
other form of settlement. Liabilities are recognized when there is an appropriate basis of
measurement and a reasonable estimate can be made of the amount involved.

Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge existing liabilities of the
Agency. These assets are normally employed to provide future services.

Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well as other
acquisition costs. The costs of tangible capital assets, less any residual value, are amortized over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

Building 5% declining balance
Practical training site 10% declining balance
Equipment 20% declining balance
Fire engines 30% declining balance
Other vehicles 30% declining balance
Air compressors 20% declining balance
Furniture 20% declining balance
Computer equipment and software 30% declining balance

Prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services which will provide economic benefit in
future periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the year the goods or
services are consumed.

Financial instruments - measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of two measurement categories: (a) fair value; or (b)
cost or amortized cost.

The Agency records its financial assets at cost, which include cash and cash equivalents,
accounts receivable and portfolio investments. The Agency also records its financial liabilities at
cost, which include accounts payable, accrued liabilities and capital lease obligations.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in
the statement of operations in the period the gain or loss occurs. Gains and losses on financial
instruments measured at fair value, if any, are recorded in accumulated surplus as
remeasurement gains and losses until realized; upon disposition of the financial instruments, the
cumulative remeasurement gains and losses are reclassified to the statement of operations.
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OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(g) Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian public sector accounting
standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingencies at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from these estimates.

4. Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable at March 31 is comprised of the following:

2013 2012

Financial Institutions Branch of Department of Finance - Fire

Prevention Levy $ 3,646 § 2,492
Public Safety Canada - Joint Emergency Preparedness

Initiative 915 1,277
National Search and Rescue Secretariat - New Search and

Rescue Initiative 115 18
Public Safety Canada - National Heavy Urban Search and

Rescue Exercise - 11
Trade accounts receivable 764 590
Allowance for doubtful accounts (Note 13) (172) (172)

$ 5,268 $ 4,216

5. Accrued liabilities

Accrued liabilities at March 31 is comprised of the following:

2013 2012

Natural Resources Canada - Green Building $ 705 $ 856
Province of Manitoba 750 750
Vacation and overtime 724 693
City of Winnipeg - Public Emergency Responder

Certification Program 55 141
Manitoba Finance - Provincial Sales Tax payable 25 30
Accrued salaries and employee benefits 159 137
Other accruals 161 109

$ 2579 $ 2,716
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OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

6. Employee future benefits

2013 2012
Severance benefits $ 720 $ 686
Sick pay benefits 156 137
$ 876 $ 823

Pension benefits

Employees of the Agency are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of the
Civil Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service Superannuation Board.
The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil
Service and to participating agencies of the Government, including the Agency, through the Civil
Service Superannuation Fund.

Effective March 31, 2001, pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the Agency
transferred to the Province the pension liability for its employees. Commencing April 1, 2011, the
Agency was required to pay to the Province an amount equal to the current pension contributions of its
employees. The amount paid for 2013 was $427 (2012 - $342). Under this agreement, the Agency
has no further pension liability.

Severance benefits

Effective April 1, 1998, the Agency began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its
employees. The amount of severance pay obligations is based on actuarial calculations. The periodic
actuarial valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to the actuarial
calculations when actual experience is different from that expected and/or because of changes in
actuarial assumptions used. The resulting actuarial gains or losses are amortized over the expected
average remaining service life (EARSL) of the related employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2011. The report
provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. In accordance with the formula, the
Agency's actuarially determined net liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2013 is $720
(2012 - $686), with the actuarial losses of $113 (2012 - $113) being amortized over the 15 year
EARSL of the employee group.

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2011 valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2013 present value of the accrued severance benefit liability, are:

Annual rate of return:

Inflation component 2.00%
Real rate of return 4.00%
6.00%

Assumed salary increase rates:
Annual productivity increase 1.00%
Annual general salary increase 2.75%
3.75%
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OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

6. Employee future benefits (continued)

The severance benefit liability at March 31 includes the following components:

2013 2012
Accrued benefit liability $ 784 $ 758
Less: unamortized actuarial losses (64) (72)
Severance benefit liability $ 720 § 686

Total severance benefits paid during the year ended March 31, 2013 were $58 (2012 - $76). The total
expense related to severance benefits for the year ended March 31 includes the following

components:

2013 2012
Interest on obligation $ 49 $ 35
Current period service cost 36 31
Amortization of actuarial losses over EARSL 8 8
Total expense related to severance benefits $ 93 $ 74

Sick pay benefits

The Agency provides sick leave benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest. The accrued
benefit obligation related to sick leave entitlements earned by employees is determined using a
valuation model developed by an actuary. The valuation is based on employee demographics, sick
leave usage and actuarial assumptions. These assumptions include a 5.00% (2012 - 6.00%) annual
return and a 3.00% (2012 - 3.75%) annual salary increase. The Agency's sick leave benefit liability as
at March 31, 2013 based on the valuation model is $156 (2012 - $137). The increase in the sick leave
benefit liability of $19 (2012 - $nil) represents the total sick leave benefit expense for the year.

7. Capital lease obligations

2013 2012
Polaris Leasing Ltd., capital lease due November 1,
2013, interest at 7.318% per year with annual
principal and interest payments of $43 for the
first 4 years and a final payment of $79 in 2014. $ 74 3 109

Obligations under capital lease are secured by the equipment under lease. The future minimum lease
payment until maturity is $79 during the year ending March 31, 2014.
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OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY

PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

8. Tangible capital assets

2013
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance

Cost
Buildings 7654 $ 128  § - 7,782
Practical training site 2,388 242 - 2,630
Equipment 3,166 168 - 3,334
Fire engines 1,400 307 - 1,707
Other vehicles 1,267 188 (26) 1,429
Air compressors 838 75 - 913
Furniture 96 45 - 141
Computer equipment and software 406 189 - 595

17215 § 1342  § (26) 18,531
Accumulated amortization
Buildings 2526 $ 262 $ - 2,788
Practical training site 1,509 112 - 1,621
Equipment 2,523 163 - 2,686
Fire engines 1,225 144 - 1,369
Other vehicles 936 156 (25) 1,067
Air compressors 552 72 - 624
Furniture 75 14 - 89
Computer equipment and software 370 67 - 437
Total accumulated amortization 9,716 $ 990 (25) 10,681
Net book value 7499 § 352 $ (1) 7,850
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OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

8. Tangible capital assets (continued)

2012
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance

Cost
Buildings $ 7654 $ -5 - 98 7,654
Practical training site 2,384 4 - 2,388
Equipment 2,999 167 - 3,166
Fire engines 1,400 - - 1,400
Other vehicles 1,155 148 (36) 1,267
Air compressors 761 77 - 838
Furniture 80 16 - 96
Computer equipment and software 395 11 - 406

$ 16,828  §$ 423  § (36) $ 17,215
Accumulated amortization
Buildings 2,256 270 - 2,526
Practical training site 1,411 98 - 1,509
Equipment 2,362 161 - 2,523
Fire engines 1,150 75 - 1,225
Other vehicles 832 136 (32) 936
Air compressors 481 71 - 552
Furniture 70 5 - 75
Computer equipment and software 357 13 - 370
Total accumulated amortization $ 8919 § 829 % (32) § 9,716
Net book value $ 7909 § (406) $ 4 $ 7,499

9. Designated assets

The Agency has allocated $787 (2012 - $787) of its portfolio investments as designated assets for
cash received from the Province of Manitoba for vacation entitements earned by employees of the
Agency prior to its designation as an SOA and for severance pay benefits for certain of its employees.
As at March 31, 2013, $559 is designated for the vacation entitlements and severance pay benefits
accumulated to March 31, 1998 for certain of its employees and $228 is designated for the severance
pay benefits accumulated to April 1, 2011 for employees transferred from the Mechanical and
Engineering Branch. These amount are held in an interest bearing account until the cash is required
to discharge the related liabilities. Any unused balance is re-invested annually.
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OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

10.

Commitments

The Agency has entered into a lease agreement with the City of Brandon for the land on which the
practical training facility has been constructed. The term of the lease expires May 31, 2017. Minimum
annual rent is $12 due in equal quarterly installments, plus all operating costs with respect to the
subject land.

Computer and office equipment operating leases exist for 86 machines. The longest lease term
expires on September 30, 2017.

The Agency has entered into leases on a fleet of 44 vehicles.

These three categories of leases give rise to lease commitments as follows:

2014 $ 187
2015 140
2016 92
2017 67
2018 15

$ 501

1.

12

13.

Transfer of funds to the Province of Manitoba

During the year, with Lieutenant-Governor-in-Council approval by Order in Council, the Agency
transferred $750 (2012 - $750) of its surplus funds to the Province of Manitoba.

Professional services - Family Services and Labour

The Agency has a professional services agreement with the Department of Family Services and
Labour to provide financial and administrative services, information and communications technology
services, and research, legislation and policy services to the Agency. The amount paid for March 31,
2013 was $180 (2012 - $180).

Financial instruments and financial risk management

The Agency does not have any significant financial instruments subsequently measured at fair value
or denominated in a foreign currency therefore the Agency did not incur any remeasurement gains or
losses during the year (2012 - $nil).

Financial risk management — overview

The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk;
liquidity risk; market risk; interest risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and
causes financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the Agency to
credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and portfolio
investments.
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OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

13. Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)

The maximum exposure of the Agency to credit risk at March 31 is:

2013 2012
Cash and cash equivalents $ 8,145 $ 7,259
Accounts receivable 5,268 4,216
Portfolio investments 787 787

$ 14,200 $ 12,262

Cash and cash equivalents and portfolio investments: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit
risk as these amounts are held by the Minister of Finance.

Accounts receivable: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk as the majority of the
receivables are due from other reliable organizations and payment in full is typically collected when
payment is due. The Agency establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its
estimate of potential credit losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on management's
estimates and assumptions regarding current market conditions, customer analysis and historical
payment trends. These factors are considered when determining whether past due accounts are
allowed for or written off.

The balance in the allowance for doubtful accounts as at March 31, 2013 is $172 (2012 - $172). The
change in the allowance for doubtful accounts during the year is as follows:

2013 2012
Balance, beginning of the year $ 172§ -
Transfer of Mechanical and Engineering Branch balance - 34
Provision for receivable impairment 2 211
Amounts written off during the year (2) (73)
Balance, end of the year $ 172 $ 172

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come
due.

The Agency manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from the
Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet the obligations.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange
rates, will affect the Agency’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to cash
and cash equivalents and portfolio investments.

The interest rate risk on cash and cash equivalents is considered to be low because of their short-
term nature. The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the original
deposits are reinvested at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.
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Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

13. Financial instruments and financial risk management (continued)

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Agency is not exposed to significant
foreign currency risk as it does not have any significant financial instruments denominated in a
foreign currency.
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OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Schedule 1 - Revenue
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

2013 2013 2012
Budget Actual Actual
Revenue
Government grants/transfers:
Province of Manitoba:
Manitoba Local Government - Mutual Aid $ 130 $ 129 $ 130
Conservation - Disaster Financial Assistance - - 576
Total Province of Manitoba 130 129 706
Federal Government:
Public Safety Canada - Joint Emergency
Preparedness Initiative 470 741 682
National Search and Rescue Secretariat - New
Search and Rescue Initiative 75 143 91
Public Safety Canada - National Heavy Urban
Search and Rescue Exercise - 49 11
National Resources Canada - Green
Building - Recovery - 144 -
Total Federal Government 545 1,077 784
Fees and other revenue:
Insurance Levy 6,700 6,962 6,629
Mechanical and engineering fees 5,217 5,434 3,952
Codes and standards 1,832 1,815 1,996
Tuition fees 1,254 970 990
Fire inspections, investigations and reports 130 113 133
Emergency services conference 115 82 -
Other revenue 90 56 89
Total fees and other revenue 15,338 15,432 13,789
Investment income 25 58 32
Total revenue $ 16,038 $ 16,696 $ 15,311
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OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER

AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY

PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Schedule 2 - Transportation Expenses
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

2013 2013 2012
Budget Actual Actual
Transportation expenses:

Vehicle leases $ 701 598 $ 612
Travel 222 134 135
Fuel - owned vehicles 85 19 41
Emergency response - 1 4
Boards and committees 4 2 2
$ 1,012 754 $ 794

Page 2193



OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Schedule 3 - Communications Expenses
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

2013 2013 2012
Budget Actual Actual
Communications expenses:

Communications $ 225 $ 164 $ 185
Postal and courier 40 47 46
Marketing 40 43 22
Public education material 40 14 33
$ 345 $ 268 $ 286
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OFFICE OF THE FIRE COMMISSIONER
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Schedule 4 - Supplies and Services Expenses
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

2013 2013 2012
Budget Actual Actual
Supplies and services expenses:

Supplies $ 365 $ 283 $ 290
Public Emergency Responder Certification Program 85 139 141
Repairs and maintenance 250 259 299
Rent 350 306 292
Mutual Aid - air compressor maintenance 50 49 74
Professional services - Family Services and Labour 180 180 180
Professional fees and contracted services 115 224 99
Fuel - training supplies 25 20 22
Utilities 85 71 69
Other 6 14 13
Emergency response - Crown lands - 6 373

$ 1,511 $ 1,551 $ 1,852
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PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

Schedule 5 - Other Operating Expenses
(in thousands)
Year ended March 31, 2013

2013 2013 2012
Budget Actual Actual
Other operating expenses:

Desktop management $ 515  $ 471 $ 401
Travel 303 308 266
Bad debts - 2 211
Property taxes 155 166 171
Insurance 139 143 111
Clothing 70 103 81
Publications 25 48 56
Professional development 45 15 28
Boards and committees 6 3 3
Seminar and conference registration 15 16 7
Memberships and subscriptions 6 8 18
Mutual Aid - meetings 5 3 5
Other 6 4 34
Emergency response - municipal lands 265 151 140

$ 1,555 § 1,441 $ 1,532
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Management's Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of the management of Organization
and Staff Development and have been prepared in accordance with Public sector accounting
standards. In management's opinion, the financial statements have been properly prepared within
reasonable limits of materiality, incorporating management's best judgement regarding all
necessary estimates and all other data available to the audit report date.

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the assets and to provide
reasonable assurance that the books and records from which the financial statements are derived
accurately reflect all transactions, and that established policies and procedures are followed.

The responsibility of the Auditor General is to express an independent opinion on whether the
financial statements of Organization and Staff Development are fairly represented in accordance
with Public sector accounting standards. The Auditor's Report outlines the scope of the audit
examination and provides the audit opinion.

On behalf of Management,

Organization and Staff Development
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OFFICE OF THE
AUDITOR GENERAL

MANITOBA

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Legislative Assembly of Manitoba
To the Organization and Staff Development Agency
To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Organization and Staff Development which
comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2013, and the statement of operations and
accumulated surplus, change in net financial assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Organization and Staff Development as at March 31, 2013, and the results of its operations, changes in its net
financial assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards.

Emphasis of Matters

We draw attention to Note | to the financial statements, which indicates that the designation of the
Organization and Staff Development as a special operating agency under The Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority Act was revoked by a Manitoba Order in Council dated March 13, 2013 and its operating
charter was cancelled effective March 31, 2013. The organization will continue to operate as a branch in the
Civil Service Commission as of April 1, 2013,

(e of e Augltin (emansl
Office of the Auditor General
Winnipeg, Manitoba

July 22, 2013

500 - 330 Portage Avenue Winnipeg, Manitoba R3C 0C4 office: (204) 945-3790 fax: (204) 945-2169
www.oag.mb.ca
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ORGANIZATION AND STAFF DEVELOPMENT — AN AGENCY OF
THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCY FINANCING AUTHORITY
Statement of Financial Position

(000's)
March 31 2013 2012
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ - $ 351
Accounts receivable - 141
Portfolio investments - 39
- 531
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 5) - 124
Employee future benefits (Note 6) - 94
- 218
Net financial assets - 313
Non-financial Assets
Inventories held for use - 21
Tangible capital assets (Note 7) - 87
- 108
Accumulated surplus $ - $ 421
Designated assets (Note 8)
Contingencies (Note 9)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
4
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ORGANIZATION AND STAFF DEVELOPMENT — AN AGENCY OF
THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCY FINANCING AUTHORITY
Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus

(000's)
2013 2013 2012
For the year ended March 31 Budget Actual Actual
Revenue
Fees $ 1550 $ 1523 $ 1,625
Interest - 1 2
1,550 1,524 1,627
Expenses
Salaries and benefits 761 782 668
Professional fees 445 458 564
Operitel Learning Systems 80 77 73
Food and beverages 35 72 62
Occupancy costs 55 60 33
Books and course materials 38 43 52
Accommodations 46 39 77
Desk top management 28 31 28
Office supplies 10 25 15
Communications 16 19 16
Travel 8 18 18
Amortization 7 16 8
Marketing 8 11 12
Rentals 5 10 10
Professional development 3 7 7
Other 5 3 5
1,550 1,671 1,648
Annual deficit - (147) (22)
Transfer to Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority (Note 1) - (274) -
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 421 421 442
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 421 % - $ 421

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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ORGANIZATION AND STAFF DEVELOPMENT — AN AGENCY OF
THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCY FINANCING AUTHORITY
Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets

(000's)
2013 2013 2012
For the year ended March 31 Budget Actual Actual
Annual deficit $ - $ 147) $ (21)
Transfer to Special Operating Agencies Financing
Authority - (274) -
- (421) (21)
Tangible capital assets
Acquisition of tangible capital assets - - (69)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 7 16 8
Decrease in tangible capital assets - 71 -
Net acquisition of tangible capital assets 7 87 (61)
Other non-financial assets
Decrease in prepaid expenses - - 66
Decrease in inventories - 21 4
Net acquisition of other non-financial assets - 21 70
Increase (decrease) in net financial assets 7 (313) (12)
Net financial assets, beginning of year 313 313 325
Net financial assets, end of year $ 320 $ - $ 313
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
6
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ORGANIZATION AND STAFF DEVELOPMENT — AN AGENCY OF
THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCY FINANCING AUTHORITY
Statement of Cash Flow

(000's)
For the year ended March 31 2013 2012
Cash Provided by (Applied to):
Operating
Annual deficit $ (147) $ (21)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 16 8
Transfer to Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (274) -
(405) (13)
Change in:
Accounts receivable 141 115
Inventories 21 4
Prepaid expenses - 66
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (124) (111)
Employee future benefits (94) 13
(56) 87
Cash provided by operating activities (461) 74
Capital
Acquisition of tangible capital assets - (69)
Tangible capital assets transferred to Special Operating
Agencies Financing Authority 71 -
Cash applied to capital activities 71 (69)
Investing
Portfolio investments transferred to Special Operating
Agencies Financing Authority 39 -
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (351) 5
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 351 346
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ - $ 351
Supplementary Information
Interest received $ 1 3% 2

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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ORGANIZATION AND STAFF DEVELOPMENT — AN AGENCY OF
THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCY FINANCING AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended March 31, 2013

(000's)

1. Nature of Organization

Effective April 1, 1994, Organization and Staff Development of the Civil Service Commission
was designated by regulation as a Special Operating Agency under The Special Operating
Agencies Financing Authority Act and operates under a charter approved by the Lieutenant
Governor in Council. Its mandate is to provide consulting and training services to support the
implementation of the government's human resource policies and priorities.

The Agency is financed through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority. The
Financing Authority has the mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting
from Agency operations. It finances the Agency through repayable loans and working capital
advances. This financial framework enables the Agency to operate in a business-like manner
according to public policy expectations.

A Management Agreement between the Financing Authority and the Minister responsible for
the Civil Service Commission assigns responsibility to the Agency to manage and account for
the Agency related assets and operations on behalf of the Financing Authority.

Organization and Staff Development continues to be part of the Civil Service Commission
under the general direction of the Commissioner and ultimately the policy direction of the
Minister responsible for The Civil Service Act.

Organization and Staff Development remains bound by relevant legislation and regulations. It
is also bound by administrative policy except where specific exemptions have been provided
for in its charter in order to meet business objectives.

Organization and Staff Development is economically dependant on the Province of Manitoba.
Currently, the Agency derives most of its revenue from the Province of Manitoba and all of its
capital financing requirements through the Financing Authority.

The designation of Organization and Staff Development as a special operating agency under
The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Act was revoked by a Manitoba Order in
Council dated March 13, 2013 and its operating charter was cancelled effective March 31,
2013. As of March 31, 2013 the net assets were transferred out of the organization to Special
Operating Agencies Financing Authority. On April 1, 2013 Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority then transferred the net assets to the Province where Organization and
Staff Development will continue to operate as a branch in the Civil Services Commission.

2. Basis of Accounting
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted

accounting principles for the public sector as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting
Board.
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ORGANIZATION AND STAFF DEVELOPMENT — AN AGENCY OF

THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCY FINANCING AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended March 31, 2013

(000's)

3. Significant Accounting Policies

a.

Revenue
Training and consulting revenue is recorded on an accrual basis by specific project.

. Expenses

All expenses incurred for goods and services are recorded on an accrual basis.

Financial Assets
Portfolio investments are short-term deposits with original maturities of more than three
months. These investments are recognized at cost.

. Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring prior to
the end of the fiscal year. The settlement of liabilities will result in the future transfer of
assets or other form of settlement. Liabilities are recorded at the estimated amount
ultimately payable.

Non-financial Assets

(i) Inventories
Inventories held for use are classified as non-financial assets.

(i) Prepaid Expenses
Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services which will provide economic
benefit in future periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the year
the goods or services are consumed.

(i) Tangible Capital Assets
Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as
well as other acquisition cost. The costs of tangible capital assets, less any residual
value, are amortized over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Office equipment 20% declining balance
Furniture and fixtures 20% declining balance
Computer equipment 20% straight line

In the year of acquisition, amortization is calculated at one half of the rate indicated
above.

Measurement Uncertainty

In preparing the Agency's financial statements, management is required to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported
amounts of revenue and expenses during the period. Actual results could differ from these
estimates.
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ORGANIZATION AND STAFF DEVELOPMENT — AN AGENCY OF
THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCY FINANCING AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended March 31, 2013

(000's)

4. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management
Measurement

Financial assets and liabilities are classified into one of the two measurement categories: (a)
fair value; or (b) cost or amortized cost.

The Agency records its financial assets and liabilities at cost, which include cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable and portfolio investments. The Agency also records its
financial liabilities at cost, which include accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recorded in accumulated
surplus as remeasurement gains and losses until realized. Upon disposition of the financial
instruments, the cumulative remeasurement gains and losses are reclassified to the
statement of operations. Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at cost or
amortized cost are recognized in the statement of operations in the period the gain or loss
occurs.

The agency did not incur any re-measurement gains and losses during the year ended March
31, 2013 (2012 - $Nil).

Financial Risk Management - Overview

The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit
risk; liquidity risk; market risk; interest risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation
and causes financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the
Agency to credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, portfolio investments
and accounts receivable.

The maximum exposure of the Agency to credit risk at March 31 is:

2013 2012

Cash and cash equivalents $ - $ 351
Accounts receivable - 141
Portfolio investments - 39
$ - $ 531

Cash, cash equivalents and portfolio investments: The Agency is not exposed to significant
credit risk as the cash and term deposits are primarily held by the Minister of Finance.

1
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ORGANIZATION AND STAFF DEVELOPMENT — AN AGENCY OF
THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCY FINANCING AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended March 31, 2013

(000's)

4. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management (continued)

Accounts receivable: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk as the majority of the
receivables are due from other reliable organizations and payment in full is typically collected
when it is due. The Agency establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its
estimate of potential credit losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on
management’s estimates and assumptions regarding current market conditions, customer
analysis and historical payment trends. These factors are considered when determining
whether past due accounts are allowed for or written off.

Management has determined that no allowance for doubtful accounts is required as at March
31, 2013 (2012 - $Nil).

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they
come due.

The Agency manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review
from the Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet the
obligations.

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign
exchange rates, will affect the Agency’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments.
The significant market risks the Agency is exposed to are interest rate risk and foreign
currency risk.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to
cash and cash equivalents and portfolio investments.

The interest rate risk on cash and cash equivalents is considered to be low because of their
short-term nature. The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the
original deposits are reinvested at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.

Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Agency is not exposed to
significant foreign currency risk as it does not have any financial instruments denominated in
foreign currency.
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ORGANIZATION AND STAFF DEVELOPMENT — AN AGENCY OF
THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCY FINANCING AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended March 31, 2013

5.

(000's)

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
2013 2012
Trade accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ - $ 48
Accrued salaries - 13
Accrued vacation and overtime - 63
$ - $ 124

Employee Future Benefits

2013 2012
Severance benefits $ - 8 79
Sick pay benefits - 15
$ - $ 94

Pension benefits

Employees of Organization and Staff Development are eligible for pension benefits in
accordance with the provisions of the Civil Service Superannuation Act ("CSSA"),
administered by the Civil Service Superannuation Board. The CSSA established a defined
benefit plan to provide benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil Service and to participating
agencies of the Government, including Organization and Staff Development, through the Civil
Service Superannuation Fund.

Effective March 31, 2001, pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the
Agency transferred to the Province of Manitoba the pension liability for its employees.
Commencing April 1, 2001, the Agency is required to pay annually to the Province of
Manitoba an amount equal to its employees' current pension contributions. The amount paid
for 2013 was $39 ($34 in 2012). Under this agreement, the Agency has no further pension
liability.

Severance benefits

Effective April 1, 1998 the Agency began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for
its employees. The amount of severance pay obligations is based on actuarial calculations.
The periodic actuarial valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are
needed to the actuarial calculations when actual experience is different from that expected
and/or because of changes in actuarial assumptions used. The resulting actuarial gains or
losses are amortized over the expected average remaining service life of the related
employee group.

12
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ORGANIZATION AND STAFF DEVELOPMENT — AN AGENCY OF
THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCY FINANCING AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended March 31, 2013

(000's)

6. Employee Future Benefits (continued)

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2011. The
report provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. The Agency's actuarially
determined net liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2013 is $94 (2012 - $79). The
actuarial loss of $33 based on actuarial reports is being amortized over the 15 year expected
average remaining service life (EARSL) of the employee group.

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2011 valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2013 present value of the accrued severance benefit
obligation were:

Annual rate of return

Inflation component 2.00%
Real rate of return 4.00%
6.00%

Annual salary increase rates

Annual productivity increase 1.00%
Annual general salary increase 2.75%
3.75%

The severance liability of the Agency has been transferred to Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority on March 31, 2013 and will be transferred to the Civil Service Commission
on April 1, 2013.

The severance liability at March 31, prior to the transfer, includes the following components:

2013 2012

Accrued benefit liability $ 124 % 112
Less: unamortized actuarial gains (losses) (30) (33)
Severance benefit liability $ 94 $ 79
13
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ORGANIZATION AND STAFF DEVELOPMENT — AN AGENCY OF
THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCY FINANCING AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended March 31, 2013

(000's)

6. Employee Future Benefits (continued)

The total expenses related to severance benefits at March 31 include the following

components:
2013 2012
Interest on obligation $ 7 % 7
Employer service cost 5 4
Amortization of actuarial loss over the expected average
remaining service life of the employee group 3 2
$ 15 $ 13

Sick pay benefits

The Agency provides sick leave benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest. The
accrued benefit obligation related to sick leave entitlement earned by employees is
determined using a valuation model developed by an actuary. The valuation is based on
employee demographics, sick leave usage and actuarial assumptions. These assumptions
include a 5.00% annual return and a 3.00% annual salary increase.

7. Tangible Capital Assets

2013
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost

Office equipment $ 6 $ - $ 6 $ -
Furniture and fixtures 121 - 121 -
Computer equipment 20 - 20 -
147 - 147 -

Accumulated Amortization
Office equipment 4 - 4 -
Furniture and fixtures 39 15 54 -
Computer equipment 17 1 18 -
60 16 76 -
Net book value $ 87 $ (16) $ 71 % -
14
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ORGANIZATION AND STAFF DEVELOPMENT — AN AGENCY OF
THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCY FINANCING AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended March 31, 2013

(000's)

7. Tangible Capital Assets
2012
Opening Closing
Balance  Additions Disposals Balance

Cost

Office equipment $ 6 $ - $ - $ 6
Furniture and fixtures 52 69 - 121
Computer equipment 20 - - 20
78 69 - 147

Accumulated Amortization
Office equipment 4 - - 4
Furniture and fixtures 32 7 - 39
Computer equipment 16 1 - 17
52 8 - 60
Net book value $ 26 $ 61 $ - $ 87

8. Designated Assets

The Agency has allocated $39 (2012 - $39) of its temporary investments as designated assets
for cash received from the Province of Manitoba with regard to the severance pay benefits
accumulated to March 31, 1998 for certain of the Agency' employees. This amount is held in
an interest bearing account until the cash is required to discharge the related liabilities. Any
unused balance is re-invested annually. The investment was transferred to Special Operating
Agencies Financing Authority on March 31, 2013 and will be transferred to the Civil Service
Commission on April 1, 2013.

9. Contingencies

A potential claim has been filed against the Agency for breach of an agreement. In the opinion
of management and legal counsel, the amount of the potential loss cannot be estimated, and
the outcome of the claim is not determinable. Should any loss result from the resolution of this
claim, such loss will be charged to operations in the year of resolution.
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ORGANIZATION AND STAFF DEVELOPMENT — AN AGENCY OF
THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCY FINANCING AUTHORITY
Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended March 31, 2013

(000's)
10. Related Party Transactions

The Agency is related in terms of common ownership to all Province of Manitoba created
Departments, Agencies and Crown Corporations. The Agency enters into transactions with
these entities in the normal course of business and the transactions are measured at the
exchange amount.

11. Budgeted Figures

Budgeted figures have been provided for comparison purposes and have been derived from
the estimates approved by the management of the Agency.

1
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Pineland

Forest Nursery

MANAGEMENT REPORT

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of the management of Pineland Forest
Nursery and have been prepared in accordance with Canadian Public Sector accounting standards. In
management’s opinion the financial statements have been properly prepared within reasonable limits of
materiality, incorporating management’s best judgement regarding all necessary estimates and all other
data up to June 5, 2013.

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the assets and to provide reasonable
assurance that the books and records from which the financial statements are derived accurately
reflect all transactions and that established policies and procedures are followed.

The responsibility of the Auditor is to express an independent opinion on whether the financial
statements of Pineland Forest Nursery are fairly represented in accordance with generally accepted

accounting principles. The Auditor’s Report outlines the scope of the audit examination and provides
the audit opinion.

Trevor Stanley
General Manager

June 5, 2013
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Special Operating Agencies Financial Authority:

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Pineland Forest Nursery, which comprise the statement of financial position
as at March 31, 2013 and the statements of operations and accumulated deficit, change in net debt and cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Canadian public
sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Pineland Forest Nursery as at

March 31, 2013 and the results of its operations, changes in net debt and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Winnipeg, Manitoba MA/P gz

June 5, 2013 Chartered Accountants

2500 - 201 Portage Ave., Winnipeg, Manitoba, R3B 3K6, Phone: (204) 775-4531, 1 (877) 500-0795

MNP
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Pineland Forest Nursery

An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

Statement of Financial Position
As at March 31, 2013

2013
(in thousands)

2012
(in thousands)

Financial assets

Paortfolio investments 187 187
Accounts receivable (Note 5) 1,060 998
1,247 1,185
Liabilities
Working capital advances (Note 6) 2,431 2,663
Accounts payable and accruals 274 262
Unearned revenue 762 63
Employee future benefits (Note 7) 329 338
Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba (Note 8) 1,462 1,607
5,258 4,933
Net Debt (4,011) (3,748)
Non-financial assets
Inventories held for use 145 162
Prepaid expenses 22 37
Tangible capital assets (Note 9) 2,274 2,578
2,441 2,777
Accumulated Deficit (1,570) (871)

Designated assets (Note 10)

Approved on behalf of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority:

Director

Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

Statement of Operations and Accumulated Deficit
As at March 31, 2013

2013 2013 2012
Budget Actual Actual
(in thousands) (in thousands) (in thousands)
Revenues - Private Sector

Overwinter 1,102 943 756
Current 213 255 181
Seed services 60 34 38
Other 5 23 40
1,380 1,255 1,015

Revenues - Province of Manitoba
Overwinter 741 857 1,031
Current 275 261 223
Seed services 40 35 36
Trees for tomorrow 0 75 183
Other 20 28 8
1,076 1,256 1,481
Total revenues 2,456 2,511 2,496
Operating Expenses (Schedule 1) 765 960 939

General administrative expenses
Amortization 449 374 453
Interest - operating and capital loan 175 129 130
Salaries, wages and benefits 1,631 1,647 1,493
2,255 2,150 2,076
Total expenses 3,020 3,110 3,015
Net loss (564) (599) (519)
Accumulated deficit, beginning of year (971) (971) (452)
Accumulated deficit, end of year (1,535) (1,570) (971)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
2
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Pineland Forest Nursery

An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Statement of Change in Net Debt

As at March 31, 2013

2013

Budget
(in thousands)

2013
Actual
(in thousands)

2012
Actual
(in thousands)

Net loss (564) (599) (519)
Tangible capital assets

Acquisition of tangible capital assets - (69) (124)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 449 374 453
449 305 329

Other non-financial assets
Decrease (increase) in inventories held for use - 17 (20)
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expense - 14 (1)
- 31 (21)
Increase in net debt (115) (263) (211)
Net debt, beginning of year (3,748) (3,748) (3,537)
Net debt, end of year (3,863) (4,011) (3,748)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

3
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Pineland Forest Nursery

An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

Statement of Cash Flows

As at March 31, 2013

2013
Actual

(in thousands)

2012
Actual
(in thousands)

Cash provided by (applied to):

Operating
Net loss (599) (519)
Amortization of tangible assets 374 453
(225) (66)
Change in:
Accounts receivable (62) (129)
Accounts payable and accruals 12 (28)
Unearned revenue 699 (34)
Employee future benefits 9) 30
Inventories 17 (20)
Prepaid expenses 14 1)
446 (248)
Capital
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (69) (124)
Financing
Debt repayments to the Province of Manitoba (145) (145)
Increase (decrease) in cash resources 232 (517)
Working capital advances, beginning of year (2,663) (2,146)
Working capital advances, end of year (2,431) (2,663)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

4
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Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2013
(In thousands)

Nature of Organization

In 1953, Pineland Provincial Forestry Nursery was established to meet all the nursery stock
requirements of the Province at one location. Prior to 1953 there were several small nurseries located
throughout the Province. Effective April 1, 1995, Pineland Forest Nursery, (the “Nursery”) was
designated as a special operating agency under The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Act (C.C.S.M. ¢.S185) and operates under a charter approved by the Lieutenant Governor in Council.

A management agreement between the Financing Authority and the Minister of Conservation and
Water Stewardship assigns responsibility to the Nursery to manage and account for the agency related
assets and operations on behalf of the Financing Authority. Pineland Forest Nursery continues to be
part of Manitoba Conservation and Water Stewardship under the general direction of the Assistant
Deputy Minister of Conservation and Water Stewardship Division and ultimately the policy direction of
the Deputy Minister and the Minister. Pineland Forest Nursery remains bound by relevant legislation
and regulations. It is also bound by administrative policy, except where specific exemptions have been
provided for in its charter in order to meet business objectives.

Change in Accounting Policy

On April 1, 2012, the Nursery prospectively adopted Public Sector Accounting Standards PS 3041 —
Portfolio Investments. These standards provide guidance for the recognition, measurement and
disclosure of portfolio investments.

Adoption of these standards did not result in any adjustment to previously reported assets or liabilities.

Significant Accounting Policies

These financial statements are the representations of management, prepared in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards and include the following significant accounting policies.

Basis of presentation

Sources of financing and expenses are recorded on the accrual basis of accounting. The accrual basis
of accounting recognizes revenue as they become available and measurable; expenses are recognized
as they are incurred and measurable as a result of the receipt of goods or services and the creation of a
legal obligation to pay.

Revenue

Revenue is recognized on a percentage of completion basis. Any excess of revenue recorded on a
percentage of completion basis over amounts billed is recorded as unbilled revenue and included in
accounts receivable. Any excess of amounts billed over revenue recorded on a percentage of
completion basis is recorded as unearned revenue.

Financial Assets

Portfolio investments are investments that are capable of reasonably prompt liquidation and are
recognized at fair value.
Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring prior to the end of the
fiscal year. The settlement of the liabilities will result in the future transfer or use of assets or other form of
settlement. Liabilities are recorded at the estimated amount ultimately payable.

MNP
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Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2013
(In thousands)

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued from previous page)
Non-financial Assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge liabilities of the Financing
Authority. These assets are normally employed to provide future services.

Inventories held for use are classified as non-financial assets.

Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services which will provide economic benefit in future
periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the year the goods or services are
consumed.

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well as other
acquisition costs. Amortization is provided using the declining balance method at rates intended to
amortize the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives.

Rate
Buildings - Greenhouses, coldframes, freezers, holding area, minor
service buildings, major pump-house, major service buildings,
propane conversion 10-20%
Equipment 20-30%

Amortization on current year additions is pro-rated on the length of time in use in the current
year.

Long-lived assets

Long-lived assets consist of tangible capital assets. Long-lived assets held for use are measured and
amortized as described in the applicable accounting policies.

The Nursery performs impairment testing on long-lived assets held for use whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset, or group of assets, may not be
recoverable. The carrying amount of a long-lived asset is not recoverable if the carrying amount
exceeds the sum of the undiscounted future cash flows from its use and disposal. Impairment is
measured as the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its fair value. Fair value is
measured using prices for similar items. Any impairment is included in operations for the year.

Net debt

The Nursery’s financial statements are presented so as to highlight net debt as the measurement of
financial position. The net debt of the Nursery is determined by its liabilities less its financial assets. Net
debt combined with non-financial assets comprises a second indicator of financial position,
accumulated deficit.

Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting
Standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Accounts
receivable are stated after evaluation as to their collectability and an appropriate allowance for doubtful
accounts is provided where considered necessary. Amortization is based on the estimated useful lives
of tangible capital assets. These estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically and, as
adjustments become necessary they are reported in earnings in the periods in which they become
known.
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Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2013
(In thousands)

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued from previous page)

Donated materials and services

Donated materials and services are recorded in the accounts at their fair value. Fair value is based on
the amounts that would be paid if these materials and services were purchased in the normal course of
business. No amount has been included in cases when fair value could not be reasonably estimated.
Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management

Measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories: (a) fair value; or (b)
cost or amortized cost.

The Nursery records its financial assets at cost and fair value, which include accounts receivable and
portfolio investments. The accounts receivable are recorded at cost and portfolio investments at fair
value. The Nursery records its financial liabilities at cost, which include accounts payable and
borrowings.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recorded in accumulated surplus
as re-measurement gains and losses until realized. Upon disposition of the financial instruments, the
cumulative re-measurement gains and losses are reclassified to the statement of operations. Gains and
losses on financial instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in the statement of
operations in the period the gain or loss occurs.

The Nursery did not incur any re-measurement gains and losses during the year (2012 - $nil).

Financial risk management - overview

The Nursery has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk; liquidity
risk; market risk; interest risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes
financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the Nursery to credit risk
consist principally of portfolio investments and accounts receivable.

The maximum exposure of the Nursery to credit risk is:

2013 2012
Portfolio investments 187 187
Accounts receivable 1,060 998
1,247 1,185

Portfolio investments: The Nursery is not exposed to significant credit risk as these amounts are held by
the Minister of Finance.

Accounts receivable: The Nursery is not exposed to significant credit risk as the balance is due from a
large client base, and payment in full is typically collected when it is due. The Nursery manages this
credit risk through close monitoring of overdue accounts. The Nursery establishes an allowance for
doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of potential credit losses. The allowance for doubtful
accounts is based on management’s estimates and assumptions regarding current market conditions,
customer analysis and historical payment trends. These factors are considered when determining
whether past due accounts are allowed for or written off.
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Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2013
(In thousands)

4. Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management (Continued from previous page)

The change in the allowance for doubtful accounts was as follows:

2013 2012
Balance, beginning of the year 43 43
Provision for (recovery of) receivable impairment - -
Amounts written off - -
Balance, end of the year 43 43

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Nursery will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come
due.

The Nursery manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review from the
Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet the obligations.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates,
will affect the Nursery’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to portfolio investments
and borrowings.

The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the original deposits are reinvested
at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.

The Nursery manages its interest rate risk on borrowings through the exclusive use of fixed rate terms
for its borrowings.

Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will

fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Nursery is not exposed to significant
foreign currency risk as it does not have any financial instruments denominated in foreign currency.

5. Accounts receivable

2013 2012

Trade receivable:
Province of Manitoba 412 298
Other 320 298
732 596
Allowance for doubtful accounts (43) (43)
689 553
Unbilled revenue 362 435
Goods and Services Tax receivable 9 10
1,060 998
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Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2013
(In thousands)

Working capital advances

The Financing Authority has provided the Nursery with an authorized line of working capital of $5,000
(2012 - $3,000) of which $2,431 was advanced at March 31, 2013 (2012 - $2,663). The indebtedness
bears interest at prime less 1% (2012 — prime less 1%).

Employee future benefits

2013 2012

Severance benefits 306 312
Sick pay benefits 23 26
329 338

Pension benefits

Employees of the Nursery are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of The Civil
Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service Superannuation Board (CSSB).
The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil
Service Superannuation Fund (CSSF).

Effective March 31, 2001, pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the Nursery
transferred to the Province the pension liability for its employees. Commencing April 1, 2001, the
Nursery was required to pay to the Province an amount equal to its employees' current pension
contributions. The amount paid for 2013 was $79 (2012 - $67).

Under this agreement, the Nursery has no further pension liability.
Severance benefits

Effective April 1, 1998, the Nursery began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its
employees. The amount of severance pay obligations is based on actuarial calculations. The periodic
actuarial valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to the actuarial
calculations when actual experience is different from that expected and/or because changes in actuarial
assumptions used. The resulting actual gains or losses are amortized over the expected average
remaining service life of the related employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2011. The report
provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. The Nursery's actuarially determined net
liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2013 was $306 (2012 - $312), with an actuarial loss
being amortized over the 15 year expected average remaining service life of the employee group.

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2011 valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2013 present value of the accrued severance benefit obligation were:

Annual rate of return

inflation component 2.00%
real rate of return 4.00%
6.00%
Assumed salary increase rates
annual productivity increase 1.00%
annual general salary increase 2.75%
3.75%
9
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Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2013
(In thousands)

Employee future benefits (Continued from previous page)

Sick pay benefits

The Financing Authority provides sick pay benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest. The
accrued benefit obligation related to sick pay entitement earned by employees is determined using a
valuation model developed by an actuary. The valuation is based on employee demographics, sick pay
usage and actuarial assumptions. These assumptions include a 6.00% annual return and a 3.75%

annual salary increase.

Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba

2013 2012
Capital purchase loan payable in monthly installments of 784 859
$6,317, plus interest at 5.125%, due July 2023.
Capital purchase loan payable in monthly installments of 338 371
$2,727, plus interest at 4.875%, due July 2023.
Capital purchase loan payable in monthly installments of 221 243
$1,786, plus interest at 4.875%, due July 2023.
Capital purchase loan payable in monthly installments of 119 134
$1,250, plus interest at 3.875%, due January 2021.

1,462 1,607

Principal repayments in each of the next five years are estimated as follows:

2014 145
2015 145
2016 145
2017 145
2018 145
10
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Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2013
(In thousands)

Tangible Capital Assets

2013
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost
Buildings 6,158 53 - 6,211
Equipment 2,044 16 - 2,061
Total cost 8,202 69 - 8,272
Accumulated Amortization
Buildings 3,827 310 - 4,137
Equipment 1,797 64 - 1,861
Total accumulated
amortization 5,624 374 - 5,998
Net
Buildings 2,331 (257) - 2,074
Equipment 247 47) - 200
Total 2,578 (304) - 2,274
2012
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost
Buildings 6,057 101 - 6,158
Equipment 2,021 23 - 2,044
Total cost 8,078 124 - 8,202
Accumulated Amortization
Buildings 3,457 370 - 3,827
Equipment 1,714 83 - 1,797
Total accumulated
amortization 5171 453 - 5,624
Net
Buildings 2,600 (269) - 2,331
Equipment 307 (60) - 247
Total 2,907 (329) - 2,578

11
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Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended March 31, 2013
(In thousands)

10.

11.

Designated Assets

The Nursery has allocated $187 (2012 - $187) of its portfolio investments as designated assets for cash
received from the Province of Manitoba for the vacation entittements earned by employees of the
Nursery prior to its designation as an SOA and the severance pay benefits accumulated to March 31,
1998 for certain of their employees. This amount is held in an interest bearing account until the cash is
required to discharge the related liabilities. Any unused balance is re-invested annually.

Economic dependence

The Nursery is economically dependent on the Province of Manitoba, because it derives a significant
portion of its revenue from the Province and all of its financing requirements through the Financing
Authority.

The Nursery is also economically dependent on two of its main private sector clients as a significant
portion of its private sector revenue is derived from these two clients.

12
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Pineland Forest Nursery
An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

Schedule 1 - Schedule of Operating Expenses
For the Year Ended March 31, 2013

Ld Ldl Ldl
2013 2013 2012
Budget Actual Actual
(In thousands) (In thousands) (In thousands)

Operating expenses

Departmental services and professional fees 30 47 28
Freight 30 35 48
Marketing 5 5 5
Natural gas and hydro 185 233 244
Office 60 65 69
Property taxes and insurance 75 79 81
Repairs and maintenance 115 165 150
Supplies 260 323 305
Travel 5 8 9
765 960 939

13

MNP

Page 2226



Management’'s Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of the management of THE PROPERTY
REGISTRY and have been prepared in accordance with Public sector accounting standards. In
management's opinion, the financial statements have been properly prepared within reasonable limits of
materiality, incorporating management's best judgment regarding all necessary estimates and all other
data available ta the audit report date.

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the assets and to provide reasonable
assurance that the books and records from which the financial statements are derived accurately reflect
all transactions and that established policies and procedures are followed.

The responsibility of the external audit is to express an independent opinion on whether the financial
statements of THE PROPERTY REGISTRY are fairly represented in accordance with Public sector

accounting standards, The Independent Auditor's Report outlings the scope of the audit examination
and provides the audit opinion.

‘On behalf of Management
THE PROPERTY REGISTRY

Barry Effler, Régistrar General and Chief Grant Kernested, Acting Director of Finance
Operating Qfficer

May 30, 2013
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Tel: 204 956 7200 BDO Canada LLP/s.r.L.
Fax: 204 926 7201 700 - 200 Graham Avenue
Toll-free: 800 268 3337 Winnipeg MB R3C 4L5 Canada

www.bdo.ca

Independent Auditor's Report

To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of THE PROPERTY REGISTRY, which
comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2013 and the statements of operations,
change in net financial assets and cash flow for the year ended March 31, 2013, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’'s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of THE PROPERTY REGISTRY as at March 31, 2013 and the results of its operations, net financial
assets, and its cash flows for the year ended March 31, 2013 in accordance with Canadian public
sector accounting standards.

BDO _(anaAa 47

Chartered Accountants

Winnipeg, Manitoba
May 30, 2013

BDO Canada LLP, a Canadian limited liability partnership, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, and forms part of the internat@mat BDO
network of independent member firms.

BDO Canada s.r.l., une société canadienne a responsabilité limitée, est membre de BDO International Limited, société de droit anglais, et fait partie du réseau international de
sociétés membres indépendantes BDO.
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THE PROPERTY REGISTRY
An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Statement of Financial Position
(in thousands)

March 31 2013 2012
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 5) $ 13,116 $ 11,388
Accounts receivable (Note 6) 355 722
Portfolio investments (Note 7) 1,602 1,602
15,073 13,712
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accruals 1,627 2,204
Unearned revenue 2,094 1,690
Employee future benefits (Note 8) 1,635 1,786
Land titles assurance fund (Note 9) 27 33
Borrowings from the Province
of Manitoba (Note 10) 2,367 2,540
7,750 8,253
Net financial assets 7,323 5,459
Non-financial Assets
Prepaid expenses 188 201
Tangible capital assets (Note 11) 2,390 2,023
2,578 2,224
Accumulated surplus (Note 12) $ 9,901 $ 7,683

Designated assets (Note 13)
Commitments (Note 14)
Contingencies (Note 15)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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THE PROPERTY REGISTRY
An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

Province of Manitoba

Statement of Operations

(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2013 2013 2012
Budget Actual Actual
Revenue
Fees and other revenues $ 26,155 $ 26,611 $ 23,671
Revenue from entities within the
Province of Manitoba 520 487 513
Investment income 60 76 84
26,735 27,174 24,268
Expenses
Salaries and employee benefits 10,320 8,531 8,689
Operating expenses (per schedule) 5,211 4,534 4,337
Amortization 762 644 426
Contributed services 260 247 250
Government system fee - - -
16,553 13,956 13,702
Net income before the transfer of funds
to the Province of Manitoba 10,182 13,218 10,566
Transfer of funds to the
Province of Manitoba (Note 16) 11,000 11,000 11,000
Net income (loss) (818) 2,218 (434)
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 6,152 7,683 8,117
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 5334 $ 9,901 $ 7,683

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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THE PROPERTY REGISTRY
An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2013 2013 2012
Budget Actual Actual
Net income (loss) $ (818) $ 2,218 % (434)
Tangible capital assets
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (2,184) (1,011) (1,487)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 762 644 426
Net acquisition of tangible capital assets (1,422) (367) (1,061)
Other non-financial assets
Increase in prepaid expense 4) 13 (125)
Increase (decrease) in net financial assets (2,244) 1,864 (1,620)
Net financial assets, beginning of year 3,750 5,459 7,079
Net financial assets, end of year $ 1,506 $ 7323 % 5,459

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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THE PROPERTY REGISTRY

An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba
Statement of Cash Flow

(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2013 2012
Actual Actual
Cash Provided by (applied to):
Operating
Net income (loss) $ 2,218 (434)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 644 426
2,862 (8)
Change in:
Accounts receivable 367 (393)
Accounts payable and accruals (577) 600
Unearned revenue 404 132
Employee future benefits (151) 64
Land titles assurance fund (6) 6
Prepaid expenses 13 (125)
Cash provided by (applied to) operating activities 2,912 276
Capital
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (1,011) (1,487)
Financing
Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba - 1,700
Debt repayments to the Province of Manitoba (173) (60)
Cash provided by financing activities (173) 1,640
Net increase in cash 1,728 429
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 11,388 10,959
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 13,116 $ 11,388
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
-
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THE PROPERTY REGISTRY
An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2013

1. Nature of Organization

Effective April 1, 1997, the Lieutenant Governor in Council designated The Property Registry
as a Special Operating Agency under The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Act. The order also directed the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA)
and the Minister of Consumer and Corporate Affairs, being the Minister responsible for the
Agency at that time, to enter into a management agreement with respect to The Property
Registry. The Property Registry was established to operate the Land Titles and Personal
Property Registry 7 offices on a self-sustaining financial basis while providing a standard of
service that will meet the needs of its clients.

The Property Registry is part of the Department of Healthy Living, Seniors, and Consumer
Affairs under the general direction of the Assistant Deputy Minister for Healthy Living, Seniors,
and Consumer Affairs, who is also Chairperson of The Property Registry’s Advisory Board.
The Property Registry remains bound by relevant legislation, regulation and administrative
policy as specified in its operating charter.

The Property Registry’s financial contribution to the Province of Manitoba is included in the
Manitoba Estimates of Revenue and Expenditure — Special Operating Agencies.

2. Basis of Accounting

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles for the public sector as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting
Board.

3. Significant Accounting Policies

a. Revenue

() Exchange transactions

Service revenue is recognized when the rendering of services is completed or
substantially completed.

(i) Other revenue
All other revenues are recorded on an accrual basis.
b. Expenses

Accrual accounting

All expenses incurred for goods and services are recorded on an accrual basis.

Government transfers

Government transfers are recognized as expenses in the period in which the transfers
are authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.
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THE PROPERTY REGISTRY
An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2013

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

c. Financial Assets

Portfolio Investments

Portfolio investments are short-term deposits with original maturities of more than three
months. These investments are recognized at cost.

d. Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring prior to
the end of the period. The settlement of the liabilities will result in the future transfer or
use of assets or other form of settlement. Liabilities are recorded at the estimated
amount ultimately payable.

e. Non-Financial Assets
(i) Prepaid Expenses

Prepaid expenses are payments for goods and services which will provide economic
benefit in future periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the
year the goods or services are consumed.

(i) Tangible Capital Assets

Capital assets are recorded at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well as
other acquisition costs. Amortization is computed using the straight-line method
based on remaining estimated useful lives, after allowance for salvage value, where
applicable as follows:

Computer system 20%
Office equipment 20%
Leasehold improvements 10%
Equipment under capital lease 20%

In the year of acquisition, amortization is calculated at one-half the rate indicated for
computer systems. All other capital asset categories have amortization calculated at
the full rate during the year of acquisition.

f.  Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of
contingencies at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amount of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these
estimates.
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THE PROPERTY REGISTRY
An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2013

Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management

Measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories: a) fair value;
or (b) cost or amortized cost.

The Agency records its financial assets at cost. Financial assets include cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable and portfolio investments. The Agency also records its
financial liabilities at cost. Financial liabilities include accounts payable and accruals and
borrowings from the Province of Manitoba.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recorded in accumulated
surplus as remeasurement gains and losses until realized. Upon disposition of the financial
instruments, the cumulative remeasurement gains and losses are reclassified to the
consolidated statement of operations. Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at
cost or amortized cost are recognized in the consolidated statement operations in the period
the gain or loss occurs.

The Agency did not incur any re-measurement gains and losses during the year ended March
31, 2013 (2012 - $Nil).

Financial risk management - overview

The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit
risk; liquidity risk; market risk; interest risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation
and causes financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the
Agency to credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and
portfolio investments.

The maximum exposure of the Agency to credit risk at March 31, 2013 is:

2013 2012
Cash and cash equivalents $ 13,116 $ 11,388
Accounts receivable 355 722
Portfolio investments 1,602 1,602

$ 15,073 $ 13,712

Cash and cash equivalents and portfolio investments: the Agency is not exposed to significant
credit risk as these amounts are held by the Minister of Finance or a Chartered Bank.
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THE PROPERTY REGISTRY
An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2013

Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management (continued)

Accounts receivable: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk as the majority of
accounts receivable are with related entities. The balance is due from a large client base, and
payment in full is typically collected when it is due. The Agency establishes an allowance for
doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of potential credit losses. The allowance for
doubtful accounts is based on management's estimates and assumptions regarding current
market conditions, customer analysis and historical payment trends. These factors are
considered when determining whether past due accounts are allowed for or written off.

Management has determined that no allowance for doubtful accounts is required as at March
31, 2013 (2012 - $Nil).

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they
come due.

The Agency manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances and by review
from the Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet the
obligations.

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign
exchange rates, will affect the Agency’s income or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to
funds on deposit, portfolio investments and borrowings.

The interest rate risk on funds on deposit is considered to be low because of their short-term
nature. The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the original
deposits are reinvested at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.

The Agency manages its interest rate risk on long-term debt through the exclusive use of fixed
rate terms for its long-term debt.

Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Agency is not exposed to
significant foreign currency risk as it does not have any financial instruments denominated in
foreign currency.

Page 2236

11



THE PROPERTY REGISTRY
An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2013

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, balances with banks and short-term
deposits with original maturities of three months or less.

2013 2012
Restricted $ 2,094 % 1,690
Unrestricted 11,022 9,698
Total cash and cash equivalents $ 13,116 $ 11,388

The restricted balance represents the amount of customer deposits held in a separate bank
account. These deposits remain as unearned revenue until services are provided.

Accounts Receivable

2013 2012

Trade receivables $ 298 $ 611
Receivable from government and departments 57 111
$ 355 $ 722

Portfolio Investments

Portfolio investments consist of a term deposit with an annual interest rate of 1.06% maturing
on March 31, 2014.

Employee Future Benefits

2013 2012

Severance benefits $ 1,453 $ 1,604
Sick pay benefits 182 182
$ 1,635 $ 1,786
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THE PROPERTY REGISTRY
An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2013

Employee Future Benefits (continued)
Pension benefits

Employees of The Property Registry are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the
provisions of the Civil Service Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service
Superannuation Board (CSSB). The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide
benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil Service and to participating agencies of the
Government, including The Property Registry, through the Civil Service Superannuation Fund
(CSSF). Effective March 31, 2001, pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba,
The Property Registry transferred to the Province the pension liability for its employees.

Commencing April 1, 2001, The Property Registry was required to pay to the Province an
amount equal to its employees' current pension contributions. The amount paid for 2013 was
$482 ($439 in 2012). Under this agreement, the Agency has no further pension liability.

Severance benefits

Effective April 1, 1998, the Agency began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for
its employees. The amount of severance pay obligations is based on actuarial calculations.
The periodic actuarial valuations of these liabilites may determine that adjustments are
needed to the actuarial calculations when actual experience is different from that expected
and/or because of changes in actuarial assumptions used. The resulting actuarial gains or
losses are amortized over the expected average remaining service life of the related party
employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2011. The
report provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. The Agency's actuarially
determined net liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2013 is $1,453 (2012 -
$1,604). The actuarial loss of $38 based on actuarial reports is being amortized over the 15
year expected average remaining service life (EARSL) of the employee group.

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2011 valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2013 present value of the accrued severance benefit
obligation were:

Annual rate of return

inflation component 2.00%
real rate of return 4.00%
6.00%

Annual salary increase rates

annual productivity increase 1.00%
annual general salary increase 2.75%
3.75%
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THE PROPERTY REGISTRY
An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2013

Employee Future Benefits (continued)

The severance benefit liability at March 31 includes the following components:

2013 2012
Accrued benefit liability $ 1,476 $ 1,630
Less: unamortized actuarial losses (23) (26)
Severance benefit liability $ 1,453 $ 1,604

The total expenses related to severance benefits at March 31 includes the following
component:

2013 2012
Interest on obligation $ 106 $ 102
Current period benefit cost 32 32
Amortization of actuarial gain over EARSL 3 3
Total expense related to severance benefit $ 141 $ 137

Sick pay benefits

The Agency provides sick leave benefits for employees that accumulate but do not vest. The
accrued benefit obligation related to sick leave entitlement earned by employees is
determined using a valuation model developed by an actuary. The valuation is based on
employee demographics, sick leave usage and actuarial assumptions. These assumptions
include a 6.00% annual return and a 3.75% annual salary increase.

Land Titles Assurance Fund

Claims for loss as provided for in The Real Property Act are paid from this fund. The Agency's
Land Titles Branch is responsible for the collection of deposits and the defence against claims
on this fund. Claims in excess of the fund balance are paid out of the Consolidated Revenue
Fund of the Province of Manitoba.
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THE PROPERTY REGISTRY
An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2013

10. Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba

As part of the Agency's long-term business plans, there were additions to the computer
systems. Pursuant to the Loan Act, the Agency was required to obtain financing from the
Province of Manitoba.

Borrowing obtained through the use of available Loan Act Authority are repayable in annual
instalments of principal plus interest, as follows:

Interest Annual Maturity

Rate Payment (3) Date 2013 2012
4.2% $60 March 31, 2026 $ 780 $ 840
3.4% 113 March 31, 2027 1587 1700

$ 2367 $ 2540

Unused loan authority of $6,000 was available as of March 31, 2012. Of the $6,000 in
available loan authority, $Nil was drawn down at during the year ended March 31, 2013.

Interest cost is measured using the effective interest method. Principal repayments in each of
the next five years are as follows:

Year Amount

2013 $ 173
2014 173
2015 173
2016 173
2017 173
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THE PROPERTY REGISTRY

An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

For the year ended March 31, 2013

Province of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

11. Tangible Capital Assets

Cost
Computer system
Office equipment
Leasehold improvements
Equipment under capital lease

Accumulated amortization
Computer system
Office equipment
Leasehold improvements
Equipment under capital lease

Cost
Computer system
Office equipment
Leasehold improvements
Equipment under capital lease

Accumulated amortization
Computer system
Office equipment
Leasehold improvements
Equipment under capital lease

2013

Opening Closing
balance Additions Disposals balance

$ 2,789 $ 976 $ - $ 3,765
1,522 35 - 1,557

589 - - 589

70 - - 70

4,970 1,011 - 5,981
1,001 540 - 1,541

1,380 64 - 1,444

496 40 - 536

70 - - 70

2,947 644 - 3,591

$ 2,023 3% 367 $ - $ 2,390
2012

Opening Closing
balance Additions Disposals balance

$ 1,390 $ 1,399 $ - $ 2,789
1,434 88 - 1,522

589 - - 589

70 - - 70

3,483 1,487 - 4,970

682 319 - 1,001

1,313 67 - 1,380

456 40 - 496

70 - - 70

2,521 426 - 2,947

$ 962 $ 1,061 $ - $ 2,023
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THE PROPERTY REGISTRY
An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2013

12. Accumulated Surplus

The Agency has allocated $2,427 of its accumulated surplus for a revenue fluctuation reserve
fund to provide the Agency the ability to carry costs through a period of economic downturn.

13. Designated Assets

Designated assets are distinct from restricted assets. Unlike restricted assets, the Agency or
the Government can readily change its by-law or resolution and use the designed assets for
another purpose if the need arises. The Agency has allocated $1,602 (2012 - $1,602) of its
temporary investments as designed assets for settling certain of its vacation and severance
liabilities. This amount is held in an interest bearing account until the cash is required to
discharge the related liabilities. Any unused balance is re-invested annually.

14. Commitments

The Agency has entered into a Memorandum of Understanding with Manitoba Infrastructure
and Transportation (MIT) to lease it premises. The accommodation charges are established
annually by MIT, and are based on its approved budget.

The Agency has also entered into agreements to lease equipment. These agreements carry
various terms and conditions.

The estimated minimum lease payments for the premises and equipment in aggregate for
each of the next five years are as follows:

Premises Equipment Total
2012 $ 1,000 $ 24 3 1,024
2013 1,030 24 1,054
2014 1,061 24 1,085
2015 1,093 24 1,117
2016 1,126 24 1,150
Total minimum lease payments $ 5310 $ 120 $ 5,430

15. Contingencies

The Property Registry has been named in five lawsuits for which the likelihood of damages
being awarded and the amount to be awarded is not reasonably estimable. Should any loss
result from the resolution of these claims, such loss will be charged to the Assurance Fund of
Manitoba in the year of resolution.

Page 2242 7



THE PROPERTY REGISTRY
An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Notes to Financial Statements
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31, 2013

16.

17.

18.

Transfer of Funds to the Province of Manitoba

During the year, with Lieutenant-Governor-in-Council approval by Order in Council, the
Agency transferred $11,000 (2012 - $11,000) of its surplus funds to the Province of Manitoba.

Land Transfer Tax

Land transfer tax is administered and collected by the Property Registry. Tax collected less
refunds issued is remitted to the Consolidated Revenue Fund of the Province of Manitoba.
Adjustments and refunds of land transfer tax are paid out of the Department of Finance under
the advice of the Registrar General. During the year, the amount of land transfer tax collected
and remitted was $74,955 (2012 - $67,336). These amounts are not reflected in the Agency's
financial statements.

Subsequent Event

On December 12, 2012, Teranet Holdings Limited Partnership and the Province of Manitoba
entered into a term sheet setting out the fundamental terms and conditions of a transaction
pursuant to which the Province of Manitoba will grant to a limited partnership, Teranet
Manitoba LP, a 30-year exclusive concession to own and operate the business and
operations of The Property Registry of Manitoba (the “TPR”), which includes the transfer of
certain assets and a workforce of approximately 137 employees. Under the terms of the
proposed agreement, Teranet Manitoba will provide services to the Province of Manitoba to
facilitate the delivery by the Province of Manitoba of its statutory functions relating to the Land
Titles Office and the Personal Property Registry.

The completion of the transaction will be subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions and
the finalization of mutually agreed upon definitive agreements. The transaction is expected to
close in the first half of the 2014 fiscal year at which point Teranet Manitoba will provide the
Province of Manitoba with a one-time upfront payment of $75.0 million.

Commencing on the closing date and for the duration of the term of the definitive agreements,
Teranet Manitoba will be:

-entitled to receive and retain all statutory fees and certain other fees collected in connection
with the operation of the TPR Business, including registration and search fees; and

-required to pay to the Province of Manitoba an annual royalty at rates that will vary based on
transaction volumes.

Page 2243

18



THE PROPERTY REGISTRY
An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
Province of Manitoba

Schedule of Operating Expenses
(in thousands)

For the year ended March 31 2013 2012
Better Systems Initiative $ 920 $ 960
Computer processing 489 505
Department services 68 68
Desktop services 618 523
Equipment lease 32 55
Interest and bank charges 153 104
Occupancy cost 859 860
Office supplies 161 153
Postage and delivery 118 125
Professional fees 237 93
Publications and subscriptions 26 27
Records preservation project 96 388
Repairs and maintenance a7 63
Software licensing 16 14
Special surveys 100 58
Sundry 10 11
Survey remonumentation program 403 170
Telephone 91 90
Training and staff development 66 44
Travel 24 26

$ 4534 $ 4,337
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. Public Trustee
of Manitoba

155 Carlton St, Suite 500
Winnipeg, MB R3C 5R9
CANADA

MANAGEMENT REPORT

The accompanying financial statements are the responsibility of management and have been
prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. In
management's opinion, the financial statements have been properly prepared within
reasonable limits of materiality, incorporating management's best judgment regarding all
necessary estimates and all other data available up to July 25, 2013. The financial
information presented elsewhere in the Annual Report is consistent with that in the financial
statements.

Management maintains internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that the financial
information is reliable and accurate and that the assets of The Public Trustee are properly
safeguarded.

The responsibility of the Auditor General is to express an independent, professional opinion
on whether the financial statements are fairly stated in accordance with the accounting
policies stated in the financial statements. The Auditor's Report outlines the scope of the
audit examination and provides the audit opinion.

The Public Trustee has reviewed and approved these financial statements and the Annual
Report in advance of its release and has approved its content and authorized its release.

Joanna K. Knowlton
Public Trustee
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OFFICE OF THE

AUDITOR GENERAL

VIANITOBA

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Legislative Assembly of Manitoba,
To the Public Trustee of Manitoba, and
To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Public Trustee of Manitoba which
comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2013, and the statements of operations and
accumulated surplus, change in net financial assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

The Public Trustee’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Public Trustee is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards and for such internal control as the Public
Trustee determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity's preparation
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Public Trustee, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
The Public Trustee of Manitoba as at March 31, 2013, and the results of its operations, changes in net
financial assets and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards.
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Office of the Auditor General
Winnipeg, Manitoba
July 25,2013

500 - 330 Portage Avenue Winnipeg, Manitoba R3C 0C4 office: (204) 945-3790 fax: (204) 945-2169

www.oag.mb.ca
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PUBLIC TRUSTEE OF MANITOBA
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority - Province of Manitoba)
Statement of Financial Position
As at March 31, 2013

(In Thousands)

March 31, March 31,

2013 2012
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 5) $4,247 $ 3,456
Portfolio investments (Note 10) 515 515
Accounts receivable (Note 6) 932 915
5,694 4,886
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accruals (Note 7) 703 576
Employee future benefits (Note 8) 647 582
1,350 1,158
Net financial assets 4,344 3,728
Non-financial assets
Prepaid expenses 7 4
Tangible capital assets (Note 9) 39 47
46 51
Accumulated surplus $4.390 $ 3,779

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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PUBLIC TRUSTEE OF MANITOBA
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority - Province of Manitoba)

Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus

For the Year Ended March 31, 2013

Revenue
Fees and other revenue (Note 12)
Investment income

Total revenue

Expenses
Amortization of tangible capital assets
Accommodation costs (Note 11)
Other administration expenses (Note 13)
Salaries and benefits
Pension benefits (Note 14)

Total expenses

Annual surplus
Accumulated surplus, beginning of period

Accumulated surplus, end of period

(In Thousands)

2013

Budget
(Note 18)

$ 6,395
21

6,416

—_— -

26
401
1,128
4,581
230

6366

50

3,779

$ 3829

2013 2012
Actual Actual
$ 6,874 $ 6,641
67 41
6,941 6,682
11 17
411 410
1,147 1,020
4 507 4,207
254 223
__6,330 5877
611 805
3,779 2,974
$ 4,390 $ 3,779

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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PUBLIC TRUSTEE OF MANITOBA
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority - Province of Manitoba)
Statement of Cash Flow

For the Year Ended March 31, 2013
(In Thousands)

2013 2012
Actual Actual
Cash provided by (applied to)
Operating
Annual surplus $ 611 $ 805
Amortization of tangible capital assets 11 17
622 822
Change in:
Accounts receivable (17) 16
Accounts payable and accruals 127 7
Employee future benefits 65 -
Prepaid expenses (3) 2
Cash provided by operating activities 794 847
Capital
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (3) (7)
Cash applied to capital activities (3) (7}
Investing
Proceeds from redemption of portfolio investments 0 500
Cash provided by investment activities 0 500
Increase in cash 791 1,340
Cash and cash equivalents
Beginning of year 3,456 2,116
End of year 4,247 $ 3.456
Supplemental cash flow information
Interest received, net $ 73 $ 35

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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PUBLIC TRUSTEE OF MANITOBA
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority - Province of Manitoba)
Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets
For the Year Ended March 31, 2013

(In Thousands)

Annual surplus
Tangible capital assets
Acquisition of tangible capital assets
Amortization of tangible capital assets
Net change in tangible capital assets
Other non-financial assets
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses
Net change in other non-financial assets
Increase in net financial assets

Net financial assets, beginning of year

Net financial assets, end of year

2013
Budget
(Note18)

$ 50

(15)
26

1

61
3,728

$ 3789

2013 2012
Actual Actual
$ 611 $ 805

(3) (7)
11 17
8 10
(3) 2
(3) 2
616 817

3.728 2.911
$ 4344 S 3728

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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1.

2.

Public Trustee of Manitoba
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority - Province of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2013

(In Thousands)
Nature of organization

The Public Trustee (the “Agency”) protects the interests of Manitobans by providing trust, legal,
financial and personal services on a last resort basis to people who are mentally incompetent,
under the age of majority, or whose estates would otherwise be unadministered upon their
death.

Effective April 1, 1996, The Public Trustee was designated as a Special Operating Agency
pursuant to The Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Act, Cap. s185, C.C.S.M. and
operates under a charter approved by the Lieutenant Governor in Council.

The Public Trustee is financed through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority
“SOAFA". SOAFA has the mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting from
the Agency's operations. It finances the Agency through repayable loans and working capital
advances. The financial framework provides increased management authority which, coupled
with more rigorous planning and reporting requirements afforded by Special Operating Agency
status, assists the Agency to sustain the provision of high quality service to her clients.

A Management Agreement between SOAFA and the Minister of Justice assigns responsibility
to the Agency to manage and account for the Agency related assets and operations on behalf
of SOAFA.

The Public Trustee continues to be part of Manitoba Justice. The Agency is a corporation sole
with perpetual succession. As a corporate entity, he Agency functions separately from
government and is capable of suing or being sued on behalf of the clients, trusts and estates
which are administered by her.

The Agency remains bound by relevant legislation and regulations. The Agency is also bound
by administrative policy except where specific exemptions have been provided for in her charter
in order to meet business objectives.

Basis of accounting

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian Public Sector
Accounting Standards as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board.
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3.

Public Trustee of Manitoba
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority - Province of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2013

(In Thousands)

Significant accounting policies

a) Revenue recognition

i.  Administration fees are charged quarterly as earned to client accounts based on the
anniversary date of the account in accordance with provisions of The Public Trustee
Act. Fees revenue recognized in a year consists of all fees charged.

ii. Otherfees are recognized and charged to an account as services provided.

iii. Statutory fees are recognized as revenue when received.

b) Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost and are amortized annually at the following
rates and methods:

Furnishings and equipment 20%, declining balance basis

Computer hardware and software 20%, straight-line basis, 10% in year of
acquisition, software purchase less than $1 are
expensed in year of acquisition

Leasehold improvements 20%, straight-line basis

Tangible capital assets are written down when conditions indicate that they no longer
contribute to the Agency’s ability to provide goods and services, or when the value of
future economic benefits associated with the tangible capital assets are less than their
net book value. The net write-downs are accounted for as expenses in the statement of
operations and accumulated surplus.

c) Measurement uncertainty

In preparing the Agency's financial statements, management is required to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the period. Actual results could
differ from these estimates.

d) Capital disclosures

The Agency's capital consists of the accumulated surplus from operations.

The Agency’s capital management policy is to maintain sufficient capital to meet its
objectives through its accumulated surplus. The Agency has developed approximate
risk management strategies, as described in Note 4, to preserve the accumulated
surplus. There were no changes in the Agency's approach to capital management
during the period.
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Public Trustee of Manitoba
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority - Province of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2013

(In Thousands)

The Agency is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
e) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and that
are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. These short-term investments
generally have a maturity of three months or less at acquisition and are held for the
purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for investing.

f) Prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses include insurance and deposits and are charged over the periods
expected to benefit from it.

g) Expenses

Expenses are reported on an accrual basis. The cost of all goods consumed and
services received during the year is expensed.

4. Financial instruments and financial risk management
Measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories: (a) fair value;
or (b) cost or amortized cost.

Financial instruments including cash and cash equivalents, portfolio investments, accounts
receivables and accounts payable and accrued liabilities, are initially recorded at their fair value
and are subsequently measured at amortized cost. Gains and losses on financial instruments
measured at fair value are recorded in accumulated surplus as re-measurement gains and
losses until realized. Upon disposition of the financial instruments, the cumulative re-
measurement gains and losses are reclassified to the statement of operations and
accumulated surplus. Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at cost or
amortized cost are recognized in the statement of operations and accumulated surplus in the
period the gain or loss occurs.
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Public Trustee of Manitoba
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority - Province of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2013

(In Thousands)

The Agency did not incur any re-measurement gains and losses during the year ended
March 31, 2013 (2012 - $nil).

The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit
risk, liquidity risk and market risk (interest risk, and foreign currency risk).

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation
and causes financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject
the Agency to credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, portfolio
investments and accounts receivable.

The maximum exposure of the Agency to credit risk is as follows:

2013 2012

Cash and cash equivalents $4,247 $3,456
Portfolio investments 515 515
Accounts receivable 932 915
$5,694 $4,886

Cash and cash equivalents and portfolio investments: The Agency is not exposed to
significant credit risk as the cash and cash equivalents and portfolio investments are
primarily held by the Minister of Finance.

Accounts receivable: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk as the receivable is
composed of fees due from clients and payment in full is typically collected when it is due.
The Agency establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of
potential credit losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is calculated at 5% of accrued
fees.

The aging of accounts receivable and allowance for doubtful accounts as at March 31, 2013
was:

Net Allowance
Current $932 $ 39
30-60 days past billing date - -
61-90 days past the billing date - -
More than 90 days past the billing date - I
$932 $ 39

Page 2254



Public Trustee of Manitoba
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority - Province of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2013

(In Thousands)
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they
come due.

The Agency manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balances. The Agency
prepares and monitors detailed forecasts of cash flows from operations and anticipated
investing and financing activities. The Agency continuously monitors and reviews both actual
and forecasted cash flows through periodic financial reporting. The Agency's current liabilities
mature within 12 months.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest
rates and equity prices will affect the Agency’s income or the fair values of its financial
instruments. The significant market risks the Agency is exposed to is interest rate risk.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to

cash and cash equivalents and portfolio investments.

The interest rate risk on cash and cash equivalents and portfolio investments is considered to
be low because of their short-term nature and because amounts are re-invested annually.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Agency is not exposed to
significant foreign currency risk as it does not have any financial instruments denominated in
foreign currency.

5. Cash and cash equivalents

2013 2012

Cash $1,722 $ 1,731
Demand deposits 2,525 1,725
. 4,247 $ 3.456
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Public Trustee of Manitoba
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority - Province of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2013

(In Thousands)

6. Accounts receivable

013 2012

Fees receivable $ 942 $ 920
Allowance for doubtful accounts (39) (39)

903 881

Interest receivable 15 20
Advances to client accounts 8 8

Cost recoveries 6 6

$ 932 $ 915

7. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

2013 2012

Operating expenses payable $ 186 $ 109
Salaries and benefits payable 97 88
Vacation entitlements earned 393 349

GST payable to Canada Revenue Agency 27 30

$ 703 $ 576

8. Employee future benefits

2013 2012

Severance benefits $ 562 $ 497

Sick pay benefits 85 85

$ 647 $ 582

Severance benefits

Effective April 1, 1998, the Agency began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its
employees. The amount of severance pay obligations is based on actuarial calculations. The
periodic actuarial valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to
the actuarial calculations when actual experience is different from that expected and/or because
of changes in actuarial assumptions used. The resulting actuarial gains or losses are amortized
over the expected average remaining service life of the related employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2011. The

report provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. The Agency’s actuarially
determined net liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2013 was $646 (2012 - $590).
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Public Trustee of Manitoba
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority - Province of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2013

(In Thousands)

An actuarial loss of $84 (2012 - $93) will be amortized over the 15 year expected average
remaining service life “EARSL” of the employee group.

The severance benefit liability at March 31 includes the following components:

2013 2012
Accrued benefit liability $ 646 $ 590
Unamortized actuarial losses (84) (93)
Severance benefit liability $ 562 $ 497

The total expenses related to severance benefits at March 31 include the following components:

2013 2012
Interest on obligation $ 38 $ 38
Employer service cost 18 17
Amortization of actuarial loss over EARSL (9) (2)
Total expense related to severance benefit $ 47 $ 53

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2011 valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2013 present value of the accrued severance benefit obligation
were:

Annual rate of return

Inflation component 2.00%
Real rate of return 4.00%
6.00%

Assumed salary increase rates
Annual productivity increase 1.00%
Annual general salary increase 2.75%
3.75%
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Public Trustee of Manitoba
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority - Province of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2013

(In Thousands)
Sick pay benefits

The Agency provides its employees with sick leave benefits that accumulate but do not vest.
The accrued benefit obligation related to sick leave entitement earned by employees is
determined using a valuation model developed by an actuary. The valuation is based on
employee demographics, sick leave usage and actuarial assumptions. These assumptions
include a 6.00% annual return and a 3.75% annual salary increase.

9. Tangible capital assets

2013

Opening Closing

Balance Additions Disposals __Balance 1
Cost
Furnishings and equipment $ 319 $ - $ - $319
Computer hardware and software 118 3 - 121
Leasehold improvements 37 - - 37
Total cost $ 474 $ 3 $ - $ 477
Accumulated Amortization
Furnishings and equipment $ 276 $ 9 $ - $ 285
Computer hardware and Software 117 1 - 118
Leasehold improvements 34 1 - 35
Total accumulated amortization $ 427 $ 11 $ - $ 438

Net book value $ 47 $ (8) $ - $ 39
2012

Opening Closing

Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost
Furnishings and equipment $ 312 $ 7 $ - $ 319
Computer hardware and software 118 - - 118
Leasehold improvements 37 - - 37
Total cost $ 467 $ 7 $ - $ 474
Accumulated Amortization
Furnishings and equipment $ 265 $ 1 $ - $ 276
Computer hardware and Software 113 4 - 117
Leasehold improvements e 2 - 34
Total accumulated amortization $ 410 $ 17 $ - $ 427

Net book value $§ 57 $ (10) _$ - % 47
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10.

11.

12.

Public Trustee of Manitoba
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority - Province of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2013

(In Thousands)
Designated assets

Portfolio investments consist of designated assets and non-redeemable investments and
guaranteed investment certificates. The Agency has allocated $515 (2012- $515) of its
portfolio investments as designated assets for cash received from the Province of Manitoba
for the severance pay benefits accumulated to March 31, 1998 for certain of its employees.
This amount is held in an interest bearing account until the cash is required to discharge the
related liabilities. Any unused balances is re-invested annually.

Commitments

The Public Trustee has an arrangement with the Province of Manitoba, through the
Department of Infrastructure and Transportation, for rental of its facilities at 155 Carlton
Street in Winnipeg and its facility in the Provincial Building in Brandon. Accommodation
costs are estimated to be $411 for the year ended March 31, 2014.

Fees and other revenue

201 2012
Administration $ 5,978 $ 5,640
Legal 375 455
Income tax 291 321
Inspection 230 225
3 6874 3 6.641

Page 2259



Public Trustee of Manitoba
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority - Province of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2013

(In Thousands)

13. Other administration expenses

2013 2012
Computer expenses $ 593 $ 591
Courier charges 15 7
Insurance, loss, damage 85 43
Office supplies 66 66
Other 1 8
Personnel expenses 11 28
Photocopy 6 6
Postage 66 64
Professional fees 128 36
Publications 3 7
Public communications 15 7
Records Centre charges 27 16
Rentals, equipment 1 7
Repairs and maintenance 9 4
SAP costs 4 7
Support services - Department of Justice 21 21
Telephone 51 53
Travel 42 49

1,147 $ 1,020

14. Pension benefits

Employees of the Agency are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions
of the Civil Service Superannuation Act “CSSA”, administered by the Civil Service
Superannuation Board. The CSSA established a defined benefit plan to provide benefits to
employees of the Manitoba Civil Service and to participating agencies of the Government,
including the Agency, through the Civil Service Superannuation Fund.

Effective March 31, 2001, pursuant to an agreement with the Province of Manitoba, the
Agency transferred to the Province the pension liability for her employees. Commencing
April 1, 2001, the Agency was required to pay to the Province an amount equal to her
employees’ current pension contributions. The amount paid at March 31, 2013 was $254
(2012 - $223). Under this agreement, the Agency has no further pension liability.
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15.

16.

17.

18.

Public Trustee of Manitoba
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies
Financing Authority - Province of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
Year Ended March 31, 2013

(In Thousands)
Related party transactions
The Agency is related in terms of common ownership to all Province of Manitoba created
departments, agencies and Crown corporations. The Agency enters into transactions with
these entities in the normal course of business.
Escheats to the Crown
Escheats to the Crown, received by the Agency during the year and remitted to the Minister
of Finance, amounted to $164 (2012 - $326). These amounts are not reflected in these
financial statements.
Estates and trusts under administration
The client assets under administration at March 31, 2013 total approximately $233,000
(2012 - $226,000). The trust activities of the Agency are reported in a separate Estates and
Trusts under Administration financial statements. The Estates and Trusts financial reports
present client assets at approximately $203,000 as the value of certain client assets is set at
$1 for reporting purposes.
Budgeted figures

Budgeted figures have been provided for comparison purposes and have been derived from
the estimates approved by the Agency.
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The Vehicle and Equipment Management Agency’s (the Agency) management is responsible for preparing the
financial statements and other financial information in the Annual Report. This responsibility includes maintaining the
integrity and objectivity of financial data and the presentation of the Agency’s financial position, results of operations,
change in net debt, and cash flow, in compliance with legislation, and in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards. In management’s opinion, the financial statements have been properly prepared, within
reasonable limits of materiality, incorporating management’s best judgment regarding all necessary estimates and all
other data available through June 27, 2013.

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the Agency’s assets. These controls also provide
reasonable assurance that the books and records from which the financial statements are derived accurately reflect
all transactions in all material respects, and that established policies and procedures are followed.

The Agency’s financial statements have been audited by MNP LLP, independent external auditors. The auditors’
responsibility is to express an independent opinion on whether the financial statements of the Agency are presented
fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. The Auditors’ Report

outlines the scope of their audit examination and provides their audit opinion.

On behalf of the Agency’s management,

Al Franchuk Kyle Giesbrecht
Chief Operating Officer Manager, Finance and Administration

Winnipeg, Manitoba
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority of Vehicle and Equipment Management Agency:

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Vehicle and Equipment Management Agency (an Agency
of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba), which comprise the statement of
financial position as at March 31, 2013, and the statements of operations, change in net debt, and cash flow for the
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Independent Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purposes of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Vehicle and
Equipment Management Agency (an Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of
Manitoba), as at March 31, 2013, and the results of its operations, changes in net debt, and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Other Matter
The comparative figures as at March 31, 2012, and for the year then ended, were audited by another firm of
Chartered Accountants who expressed an unqualified opinion in their report dated June 14, 2012.

Winnipeg, Manitoba MA/P LLP

June 27, 2013 Chartered Accountants

2500-201 Portage Avenue, Winnipeg, Manitoba, R3B 3K6, Phone: (204) 775-4531, 1(877)500-0795

MNP
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VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT MANAGEMENT AGENCY
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)

Statement of Financial Position
(In Thousands)

March 31, 2013

March 31 March 31
2013 2012
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 116  $ 191
Receivables (Note 5) 6,071 7,256
Portfolio investments (Notes 6 and 10) 1,433 1,433
Inventory for resale 3,652 3,554
11,272 12,434
LIABILITIES
Working capital advances (Note 7) 4,791 5,851
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 4,569 4,939
Unearned revenue 2,578 2,230
Severance pay liability (Note 6) 1,626 1,717
Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba (Note 8) 95,863 88,191
109,427 102,928
NET DEBT (98,155) (90,494)
NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
Prepaid expenses 2,792 2,865
Tangible capital assets (Note 9)
Vehicles and equipment 122,228 114,612
Office and shop equipment 369 319
Computer hardware and software 10 17
Leasehold improvements 126 135
122,733 115,083
125,525 117,948
ACCUMULATED SURPLUS $ 27,370 $ 27,454
Designated assets (Note 10)
Commitments (Note 11)
3
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VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT MANAGEMENT AGENCY
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)

Statement of Operations
(In Thousands)

Year Ended March 31, 2013

2013 2012
Projected Actual Actual

REVENUES
Vehicle and equipment utilization $ 53,734 $ 50,068 $ 49,877
Fuel billings 23,226 22,771 22,838
Insurance and other billings 5,304 4,990 5,173
Other revenue (Page 18) 9,749 8,636 9,901
92,013 86,465 87,789

EXPENSES
Salaries and wages 10,120 9,116 9,146
Vehicle and equipment operating expenses (Page 18) 68,064 64,837 64,650
Administrative expenses (Page 18) 6,679 6,147 6,327
Community service 33 40 38
Interest expense 4,078 3,909 3,891
88,974 84,049 84,052
INCOME FROM OPERATIONS 3,039 2,416 3,737
Transfers during the year to the Province of Manitoba 2,500 2,500 2,500
NET INCOME (LOSS) 539 (84) 1,237
ACCUMULATED SURPLUS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 27,859 27,454 26,217
ACCUMULATED SURPLUS, END OF YEAR $ 28,398 $ 27,370 $ 27,454
4
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VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT MANAGEMENT AGENCY
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)

Statement of Change in Net Debt
(In Thousands)

Year Ended March 31, 2013

2013 2012
Projected Actual Actual
Net income (loss) $ 539 $ (84) $ 1,237
Tangible capital assets
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (32,377) (31,163) (26,315)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 21,333 21,243 19,672
Gain on disposal of tangible capital assets, net (462) (735) (452)
Proceeds from disposal of tangible capital assets 3,011 3,005 2,364
Net acquisition of tangible capital assets (8,495) (7,650) (4,731)
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses during the year (86) 73 (121)
INCREASE IN NET DEBT (8,042) (7,661) (3,615)
NET DEBT, BEGINNING OF YEAR (96,007) (90,494) (86,879)
NET DEBT, END OF YEAR $ (104,049) $ (98,155) $ (90,494)
5
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VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT MANAGEMENT AGENCY
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)

Statement of Cash Flow
(In Thousands)

Year Ended March 31, 2013

Cash provided by (applied to): 2013 2012
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (loss) $ (84) $ 1,237
Amortization of tangible capital assets 21,243 19,672
Gain on disposal of tangible capital assets, net (735) (452)
Increase in severance pay liability 131 125
Payment of severance pay benefits (222) (67)
20,333 20,515
Change in:
Receivables 1,185 3,150
Inventory for resale (98) (207)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (370) (1,168)
Unearned revenue 348 98
Prepaid expenses 73 (121)
Cash provided by operating activities 21,471 22,267
CAPITAL ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from disposal of tangible capital assets 3,005 2,364
Acquisition of vehicles and equipment (31,019) (26,182)
Acquisition of office and shop equipment (130) (58)
Acquisition of computer hardware and software - (13)
Acquisition of leasehold improvements (14) (62)
Cash applied to capital activities (28,158) (23,951)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Borrowings from the Province of Manitoba 19,600 12,500
Debt repayments to the Province of Manitoba (11,928) (10,875)
Cash provided by financing activities 7,672 1,625
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH 985 (59)
WORKING CAPITAL ADVANCES, NET OF CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR (5,660) (5,601)
WORKING CAPITAL ADVANCES, NET OF CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR $ (4,675) $ (5,660)
6
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VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT MANAGEMENT AGENCY
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
(in Thousands)

Year Ended March 31, 2013

1. NATURE OF ORGANIZATION

In 1934, Fleet Vehicles was created as a branch of the Manitoba provincial government to provide a centralized fleet
management program. On April 1, 1992, the branch was approved as a special operating agency, the first such
agency at the provincial level in Canada. Since inception, Fleet Vehicles Agency primarily provided light duty
vehicles and equipment services, with ambulances becoming a part of the fleet starting in 2001/02. On April 1, 2003,
the Agency assumed responsibility for Radio Services, a division that evaluates and supplies the fixed and mobile
radio requirements of its provincial and other clients.

Following the advent of engineering-based highway management in the 1960s, the Province established a highways
department. The Mechanical Equipment Services branch emerged as an integral and important part of the
department, primarily providing heavy duty vehicles and equipment, as well as warehousing services. The provided
services support the safe and efficient delivery of the department’s construction, maintenance and preservation
programs, and its remote airport programs, in a manner that incorporates the principles of sustainable development
and environmental awareness.

Effective April 1, 2009, Fleet Vehicles Agency and the Mechanical Equipment Services branch were amalgamated
into a new special operating agency named Vehicle and Equipment Management Agency (VEMA, or the Agency).
VEMA combines the acquisition, management and disposal of both light duty and heavy duty vehicles and equipment
under common management.

The Agency is financed through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA). SOAFA has the
mandate to hold and acquire assets required for and resulting from Agency operations. It finances the Agency
through repayable loans and working capital advances. This financial framework enables VEMA to operate in a
business-like manner according to public policy expectations.

A Management Agreement between SOAFA and the Minister of Infrastructure and Transportation assigns
responsibility to VEMA to manage and account for the Agency-related assets and operations on behalf of SOAFA.

VEMA continues to be part of the Department of Infrastructure and Transportation under the general direction of the
Assistant Deputy Minister, Supply and Services Division, and ultimately the policy direction of the Associate Deputy
Minister, the Deputy Minister, and the Minister, of Infrastructure and Transportation.

The Agency remains bound by relevant legislation and regulations. It is also bound by administrative policy except

where specific exemptions have been provided in its charter in order to meet business objectives.

2. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The Agency’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards as
recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board.
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VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT MANAGEMENT AGENCY
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

Year Ended March 31, 2013

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Revenues

Fixed rate lease revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Variable rate lease
revenue is recognized monthly based on equipment usage. Service revenue is recognized when the services have
been performed. All revenues are recorded on an accrual basis.

Expenses

All expenses incurred for goods and services are recognized at the gross amount on an accrual basis. Government
transfers are recognized as expenses in the period in which the transfers are authorized and all eligibility criteria have
been met.

Financial assets

(i) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and balances with banks. Bank overdrafts and bank
borrowings are considered to be financing activities.

(ii) Receivables

Receivables are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Amounts doubtful of collection are
recorded when there is uncertainty that the amounts will be realized.

(iii) Portfolio investments

Portfolio investments are short-term deposits with original maturities of more than three months. These
investments are recognized at cost.

(iv) Inventory for resale

Inventories for resale are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined on a weighted
average basis.
Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring prior to the end of the fiscal year.
The settlement of the liabilities will result in the future transfer or use of assets or other form of settlement. Liabilities
are recorded in the financial statements when there is an appropriate basis of measurement and a reasonable
estimate can be made of the amounts involved.
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VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT MANAGEMENT AGENCY
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

Year Ended March 31, 2013

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provide resources to discharge liabilities of the Agency. These assets are
normally employed to provide future services.

(i) Prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services that will provide economic benefit in future periods. The
prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the year that the goods or services are consumed.

(i) Tangible capital assets

Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well as other acquisition
costs such as freight charges, transportation, insurance costs and duties. Modifications or additions to the
original asset are capitalized and recognized at cost.

The values of tangible capital assets are written down when conditions indicate that the values of the future
economic benefits associated with the tangible capital assets are less than their book values.

The costs of tangible capital assets, less their estimated residual values, are amortized over their useful lives in
the following manner:

Vehicles and equipment 30%, declining balance method
Vehicles and equipment (signed lease agreement) Straight-line over term of lease
Office and shop equipment 20%, declining balance method
Computer hardware and software 20%, straight-line method
Leasehold improvements 10%, straight-line method

Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingencies at the date of the financial statements, and
the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Judgment is required in determining the
future economic benefit of all non-financial assets, especially in the estimation of the useful lives of tangible capital
assets. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
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VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT MANAGEMENT AGENCY
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

Year Ended March 31, 2013

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Measurement

Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories: (a) fair value; or (b) cost or
amortized cost.

The Agency records its financial assets at cost. Financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, receivables and
portfolio investments. The Agency also records its financial liabilities at cost. Financial liabilities include working
capital advances, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and borrowings from the Province of Manitoba.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recorded in accumulated surplus as re-
measurement gains and losses until realized. Upon disposition of the financial instruments, the cumulative re-
measurement gains and losses are reclassified to the statement of operations. Gains and losses on financial
instruments measured at cost or amortized cost are recognized in the statement of operations in the period the gain
or loss occurs.

As the Agency has no financial instruments measured at fair value, it did not incur any re-measurement gains and
losses during the year ended March 31, 2013 (2012 - $nil).

Financial risk management — overview

The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk; liquidity risk; market
risk; interest rate risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes
financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject the Agency to credit risk

consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, receivables and portfolio investments.

The maximum exposure of the Agency to credit risk as of March 31, 2013, is:

2013 2012
Cash and cash equivalents $ 116 $ 191
Receivables 6,071 7,256
Portfolio investments 1,433 1,433

$ 7,620 $ 8,880

Cash and cash equivalents, and portfolio investments: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk
as these amounts are primarily held by the Province of Manitoba.

10
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VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT MANAGEMENT AGENCY

(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

Year Ended March 31, 2013

4.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Receivables: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk since the receivables are with departments,
agencies and Crown corporations with the Manitoba provincial government, or are with organizations within
the broader public sector that are funded in part by the provincial or federal governments. The receivable
balances are from a large client base, and payment in full is typically collected when it is due. An allowance
for doubtful accounts was not recorded as of March 31, 2013 (2012 - $nil).

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due.

The Agency manages liquidity risk by balancing its cash flow requirements with draw downs from its
available working capital advances and its other borrowings from the Province of Manitoba. Regular
determinations of the Agency’s working capital advances limit and its other debt requirements are reviewed
by the Province of Manitoba to ensure that adequate funding is available as required to enable the Agency
to meet its obligations as they come due. The contractual maturities of the Agency’s borrowings from the
Province of Manitoba are included in note 8. Working capital advances are due on demand.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates, will
affect the Agency’s income from operations or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to cash and cash
equivalents, portfolio investments, working capital advances, and to other borrowings.

The interest rate risk on cash and cash equivalents and working capital advances is considered to be low
because of their short term nature. The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered low as the

original deposits are reinvested at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.

The Agency manages its interest rate risk on long term borrowings through the exclusive use of fixed rate
terms on each amount borrowed.

11
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VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT MANAGEMENT AGENCY
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

Year Ended March 31, 2013

5. RECEIVABLES

2013 2012

Trade $ 1,822 $ 2,844
Accrued trade 3,636 3,785
Insurance rebate receivable 613 627
$ 6,071 $ 7,256

6. SEVERANCE PAY LIABILITY

The Agency records accumulated severance pay benefits for its employees. Severance pay is determined by
multiplying years of service, to a maximum of 15 years, by the weekly salary at date of retirement, provided the
employee has reached nine years of service and retires from the Province. There is also additional severance pay
for employees with 20 or more years of accumulated service. The estimate is based upon the method of calculation
set by the Province of Manitoba.

The Province has accepted responsibility for the severance benefits accumulated by the Agency’'s employees
through specific dates. For the Fleet Vehicles Agency employees, that responsibility is reflected through the payment
by the Province of $270 on March 31, 2009. For the Mechanical Equipment Services employees, that responsibility
is reflected through the payment by the Province of $1,163 on July 31, 2010. The $1,433 in combined payments is
held in an interest bearing trust account until the cash is required to discharge the related liability.

An actuarial valuation report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2011. The report provides
a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. In accordance with the formula, the Agency’'s liability is
recalculated annually, with payments to retiring employees no longer with the Agency or the Province charged
against the liability. The Agency’s actuarially determined net liability for accounting purposes as of March 31, 2013,
was $1,626 (2012 - $1,717).

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2011, valuation were:

Annual rate of return

Inflation component 2.00%
Real rate of return 4.00%
6.00%

Assumed salary increase rates

Annual productivity increase 1.00%
Annual general salary increase 2.75%
3.75%

12
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VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT MANAGEMENT AGENCY
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

Year Ended March 31, 2013

7. WORKING CAPITAL ADVANCES

The Agency has an authorized line of working capital advances of $10,000, $4,791 of which was used as of March
31, 2013 (2012 - $5,851). Advances bear interest at prime less 1% and are unsecured.

8. BORROWINGS FROM THE PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

By virtue of the Management Agreement, the Agency is responsible for the repayment of debts assumed by the
Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA) on its behalf. SOAFA holds the debt instruments listed in
this Note on behalf of Vehicle and Equipment Management Agency.

Borrowings obtained through the use of available Loan Act Authority are repayable in semi-annual instalments of
principal and interest, as follows:

13
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VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT MANAGEMENT AGENCY
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

Year Ended March 31, 2013

8. BORROWINGS FROM THE PROVINCE OF MANITOBA (continued)

Interest Semi-annual
rate payment ($) Maturity date 2013 2012
4.75% 137 September 30, 2012 $ - $ 133
5% 142 September 30, 2012 - 138
4% 345 March 31, 2013 - 670
4.05% 140 September 30, 2013 137 404
3.875% 355 September 30, 2013 348 1,025
2.625% 376 September 30, 2014 1,098 1,807
4.875% 148 March 31, 2015 556 814
2.625% 215 March 31, 2015 831 1,231
4.125% 117 September 30, 2015 550 755
2.5% 482 September 30, 2015 2,320 3,208
2.563% 271 September 30, 2016 1,805 2,292
2.05% 581 September 30, 2016 3,909 4,975
3.45% 186 March 31, 2017 1,378 1,695
2.375% 213 March 31, 2017 1,619 2,000
2.25% 269 September 30, 2017 2,287 2,765
2.125% 530 September 30, 2017 4,524 -
2.125% 212 March 31, 2018 2,000 -
2.2% 232 September 30, 2018 2,396 -
4.875% 237 September 30, 2023 3,858 4,133
3.4% 102 September 30, 2023 1,792 1,932
5% 334 March 31, 2024 5,607 5,982
4.875% 192 March 31, 2024 3,239 3,457
4.5% 162 September 30, 2024 2,879 3,066
4% 201 September 30, 2025 3,923 4,161
3.3% 213 September 30, 2027 4,870 -
3.25% 127 September 30, 2027 2,922 -
3.375% 86 March 31, 2028 2,000 -
4.55% 162 March 31, 2026 3,158 3,333
5% 80 March 31, 2030 1,811 1,877
61,817 51,853
Amount of debt owing in connection with the transfer of Mechanical Equipment
Services branch net assets on April 1, 2009
4.875% 2,018 March 31, 2024 34,046 36,338
Amount of borrowings owing to the Province of Manitoba at year-end $ 95,863 $ 88,191
14

Page 2275



VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT MANAGEMENT AGENCY
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

Year Ended March 31, 2013

8. BORROWINGS FROM THE PROVINCE OF MANITOBA (continued)

Unused loan authority of $10,600 was available as of March 31, 2012. An additional $19,000 of loan authority
availability was approved during June 2012 in The Loan Act, 2012. Of the $29,600 in available loan authority,
$19,600 was drawn down at various times during the year ended March 31, 2013. Unused loan authority available as

of March 31, 2013, was $10,000.

All borrowings from the Province of Manitoba are payable in instalments of principal and interest on March 31 and
September 30 each year. Interest cost is measured using the effective interest method.

As of March 31, 2013, principal repayments in each of the next five years on the combined outstanding balances
owing to the Province of Manitoba are as follows:

2014 $ 12,267
2015 11,804
2016 10,497
2017 9,403
2018 7,282
9. TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS
2013
Opening Closing
Cost balance Additions Disposals balance
Vehicles and equipment $ 219,403 $ 31,019 $ (17,813) $ 232,609
Office and shop equipment 1,383 130 (57) 1,456
Computer hardware and software 419 - (4) 415
Leasehold improvements 797 14 - 811
222,002 31,163 (17,874) 235,291
Accumulated amortization
Vehicles and equipment 104,791 21,136 (15,546) 110,381
Office and shop equipment 1,064 77 (54) 1,087
Computer hardware and software 402 7 (4) 405
Leasehold improvements 662 23 - 685
106,919 21,243 (15,604) 112,558
Net book value $ 115,083 $ 9,920 $ (2,270) $ 122,733
15
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VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT MANAGEMENT AGENCY
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

Year Ended March 31, 2013

9. TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS (continued)

Cost

Vehicles and equipment

Office and shop equipment
Computer hardware and software
Leasehold improvements

Accumulated amortization

Vehicles and equipment

Office and shop equipment
Computer hardware and software
Leasehold improvements

Net book value

10. DESIGNATED ASSETS

2012
Opening Closing
balance Additions Disposals balance
$ 208,801 $ 26,182 $ (15,580) 219,403
1,327 58 (2) 1,383
408 13 ) 419
735 62 - 797
211,271 26,315 (15,584) 222,002
98,902 19,558 (13,669) 104,791
993 74 (3) 1,064
392 10 - 402
632 30 - 662
100,919 19,672 (13,672) 106,919
$ 110,352 $ 6,643 $ (1,912) 115,083

The Agency has allocated $1,433 (2012 - $1,433) of its portfolio investments as designated assets for its severance

pay liability.

11. COMMITMENTS

(& VEMA has arrangements with the Government of Manitoba for the rental of facilities in Beausejour,
Brandon, Dauphin, The Pas, Thompson and Winnipeg, Manitoba. Occupancy charges for each fiscal year
including 2013/14 are established annually based on the approved budget for the Department of
Infrastructure and Transportation. Occupancy charges for 2013/14 are estimated at $2,262 for the year, to
be paid in quarterly instalments during 2013/14.

(b) VEMA's approved 2013/14 Business Plan calls for $2,500 to be paid to the Consolidated Fund of the
Province of Manitoba for the year in quarterly instalments of $625 each.
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VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT MANAGEMENT AGENCY
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)

Notes to Financial Statements
(In Thousands)

Year Ended March 31, 2013

12. PENSION BENEFITS

Employees of VEMA are eligible for pension benefits in accordance with the provisions of the Civil Service
Superannuation Act (CSSA), administered by the Civil Service Superannuation Board. The CSSA established a
defined benefit plan to provide benefits to employees of the Manitoba Civil Service and to participating agencies of
the provincial government, including the Agency, through the Civil Service Superannuation Fund.

The pension liability related to the CSSA’s defined benefit plan is included in the Province of Manitoba’s financial
statements. Accordingly, no provision is required in the Agency's financial statements relating to the effects of
participation in the plan by the Agency and its employees.

The Agency is regularly required to pay to the Province an amount equal to the current pension contributions paid by

its employees. The amount paid for 2013 was $575 (2012 - $523).

13. COMPARATIVE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Certain of the amounts in the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2012, have been reclassified to
conform to the presentation in the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2013.

17
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VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT MANAGEMENT AGENCY
(An Agency of the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority Province of Manitoba)

Schedule of Other Revenue and Expenses

(In Thousands)

Year Ended March 31, 2013

OTHER REVENUE
Autopac service
Gain on disposal of tangible capital assets, net
Garage regular service
Insurance premium rebates
Interest income
Other service revenue
Radio Services

VEHICLE AND EQUIPMENT OPERATING EXPENSES

Amortization of tangible capital assets
Fuel

Insurance premiums

Licenses

Repairs and maintenance

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
Amortization of tangible capital assets
Fleet management information system
Human resource overhead
Occupancy costs
Other costs
Professional fees
SOAFA charges
Supplies and materials
Telephone and communication

Page 2279

2013 2012

Projected Actual Actual

$ 605 $ 535 $ 613
462 735 452

5,550 4,265 6,093

1,397 1,270 1,279

14 15 14

105 139 136

1,616 1,677 1,314

$ 9,749 $ 8,636 $ 9,901
$ 21,121 $ 21,136 $ 19,558
23,778 23,353 23,223
5,517 5,068 5,297

160 160 159

17,488 15,120 16,413

$ 68,064 $ 64,837 $ 64,650
$ 212 $ 107 $ 114
408 426 377

2,297 2,075 2,042

2,441 2,424 2,497

760 709 717

32 29 29

6 6 6

348 191 378

175 180 167

$ 6,679 $ 6,147 $ 6,327
18



MANAGEMENT'S
RESPONSIBLITY

MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

The accompanying financial statements and all the information in the annual report are the responsibility
of the management of Vital Statistics Agency and have been prepared in accordance with Public Sector
Accounting Standards. In management's opinion, the financial statements have been properly prepared
within reasonable limits of materiality, incorporating management's best judgement regarding all
necessary estimates and all other data available to June 4, 2013.

Management maintains internal controls to properly safeguard the assets and to provide reasonable
assurance that the books and records from which the financial statements are derived accurately reflect
all the transactions and that established policies and procedures are followed.

The responsibility of Bulat & Poustie is to express an independent opinion on whether the financial
statements of Vital Statistics Agency are fairly presented in accordance with Public Sector Accounting
Standards. The Independent Auditor's Report outlines the scope of the audit examination and provides
the audit opinion.

On behalf of Management,
Vital Statistics Agency

Susan Boulter, Chief Operating Officer
June 4, 2013
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AUDITOR’S REPORT

1700 Ness Avenue
BULAT & POUSTIE ‘Winnipeg, Manitoba R3] 3Y1
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS Telephone: (204) 831-1700

Fax: (204) 831-7812

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Vital Statistics Agency, an Agency of the
Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority, Province of Manitoba which comprise the statement of
financial position as at March 31, 2013 and the statement of operations, statement of change in net dabt,
and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Public Sector Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management
determines Is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures In
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate In the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financlal statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Vital Statistics Agency as at March 31, 2013, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Public Sector Accounting Standards.

BULAT & POUSTIE

BM&DMM

Winnipeg, Manitoba CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
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FINANCIAL POSITION

VITAL STATISTICS AGENCY

AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY

PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(in thousands)

AS AT MARCH 31, 2013
2013 2012
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Accounts receivable, note 7 $ 155 114
Portfolio investments 94 94
Inventories for resale 87 109
336 317
LIABILITIES
Bank indebtedness, note 6 $ 200 37
Accounts payable and accruals 105 103
Unearned revenue 131 94
Accrued unused vacation entitlements 175 173
Employee future benefits, note 8 257 258
868 665
NET DEBT (532) (348)
NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
Prepaid expenses 80 65
Tangible capital assets, note 9 1,107 1,385
1,187 1,450
ACCUMULATED SURPLUS $ 655 1,102

Designated assets, note 10
Commitments, note 11

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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STATEMENT OF
OPERATIONS

VITAL STATISTICS AGENCY

AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY

PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2013

2013 2013 2012
Budget Actual Actual

REVENUE

Net sales $ 3675 § 3,244 § 3,208

Proceeds from government departments 350 260 331

Interest - 1 1

4,025 3,505 3,540

EXPENSES

Salaries and employee benefits 2,288 2,156 2,069

Operating expenses, Schedule 1 1,033 1,132 1,149

Amortization 293 284 330

3,614 3,572 3,548

Net income before the transfer of funds to the

Province of Manitoba 411 (67) (8)
Transfer of funds to the Province of Manitoba, note 12 380 380 380
NET INCOME (LOSS) 31 (447) (388)
ACCUMULATED SURPLUS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 1,102 1,102 1,490
ACCUMULATED SURPLUS, END OF YEAR $ 1,133 § 655 % 1,102

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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VITAL STATISTICS AGENCY

CHANGE IN
NET DEBT

AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY

PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN NET DEBT
(in thousands)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2013

2013 2013 2012
Budget Actual Actual
NET INCOME (LOSS) 31§ (447) % (388)
TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (100) (6) (215)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 293 284 330
Net acquisition of tangible capital assets 193 278 115
OTHER NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses - (15) 14
DECREASE (INCREASE) IN NET DEBT 224 (184) (259)
NET DEBT, BEGINNING OF YEAR (348) {348) (89)
NET DEBT, END OF YEAR (124) § (532) % (348)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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CASH FLOWS

VITAL STATISTICS AGENCY

AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY

PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2013

2013 2012
Actual Actual
CASH PROVIDED BY (APPLIED TO):
OPERATING
Net income (loss) (447) $ (388)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 284 330
(163) (58)
Changes in the following:
Accounts receivable (41) 241
Inventories for resale 22 28
Accounts payable and accruals 2 (65)
Unearned revenue 37 (18)
Accrued unused vacation entitlements 2 7
Employee future benefits (1) 32
Prepaid expenses (15) 14
{157) 181
CAPITAL
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (6) (215)
DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (163) (34)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (BANK INDEBTEDNESS),
BEGINNING OF YEAR (37) (3)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (BANK INDEBTEDNESS),
END OF YEAR (200) 3 (37)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

VITAL STATISTICS AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(in thousands)
MARCH 31, 2013

1. ENTITY DEFINITION

Effective April 1, 1994, the Lieutenant Governor in Council designated the Vital Statistics Agency
(the "Agency") as a special operating agency under The Special Operating Agencies Financing
Authority Act (C.C.S.M. ¢cS185) by Order in Council 232/1994. The Order also gave approval to
the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority (SOAFA) and the Minister of Consumer and
Corporate Affairs, being the Minister responsible for the Agency at that time, to enter into a
Management Agreement with respect to the Agency.

A Management Agreement between the Financing Authority and the Minister of Consumer and
Corporate Affairs assigns responsibility to manage the assets transferred to the Agency in
delivering regqulated services to clients through administration of three major Acts; The Vital
Statistics Act, The Change of Name Act, and The Marriage Act. The Agency also handles
disinterment's under the Public Health Act. The ownership of the vital events records is excluded
from this agreement, as their ownership is considered Crown property and should not be alienated
from Government protection in the the public interest.

The Agency is part of the Consumer and Corporate Affairs Division in the Heaithy Living, Seniors
and Consumer Affairs Department under the general direction of the Minister of Healthy Living,
Seniors and Consumer Affairs, the Deputy Minister and Assistant Deputy Minister who is also
Chairperson of Vital Statistics Advisory Board.

The Agency remains bound by relevant legisiation and regulation. It is also bound by
administrative policy except where specific exemptions have been provided for in its charter in
order to meet business objectives.

2. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles for the public sector as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Deferred Revenue and Revenue Recognition

Government transfers
Government transfer without eligibility criteria or stipulations is recognized as revenue when
the transfer is authorized.

Government transfer with eligibility criteria but without stipulations is recognized as revenue
when the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met.

Government transfer with or without eligibility criteria but with stipulations Is recognized as
revenue in the period the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met,
except when and to the extent that the transfer gives rise to a liability.

28
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VITAL STATISTICS AGENCY

AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
{(in thousands)
MARCH 31, 2013

Significant Accounting Policies - continued

Exchange transactions
The Agency receives tash payments at the time various certificates are ordered and the
cash payments are reflected as deferred revenue. Revenue is recognized at the time the
service is completed and the certificate is issued.

Other revenue
All other revenues are recorded on an accrual basis.

Expenses

Accrual accounting
All expenses incurred for goods and services are recorded on an accrual basis.

Government transfers
Government transfer without eligibility criteria or stipulations is recognized as revenue when
the transfer is authorized.

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, bank balance, bank indebtedness, and
investments with a maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition.

Portfolio investments
Portfolio investments are short-term deposits with original maturities of more than three
months. The investments are recognized at cost.

Inventories for resale
Inventory of certificates and pre-printed forms are valued at the lower of and net realizable
value. Costis generally determined on a first-in, first-out method.

Liabilities

Liabilities are present obligations as a result of transactions and events occurring prior to the end
of the fiscal year. The settlement of the liabilities will result in the future transfer or use of assets or
other form of settlement. Liabilities are recorded at the estimated amount ultimately payable.

Non-Financial Assets

Non-financial assets do not normally provided resources to discharge liabilities of the Agency.
These assets are normally employed to provide future services.

Prepaid expenses _ ) ) ) 4 i
Prepaid expenses are payments for goods or services which will provide economic benefit in

futures periods. The prepaid amount is recognized as an expense in the year the goods or
services are consumed.
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VITAL STATISTICS AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(in thousands)
MARCH 31, 2013

Significant Accounting Policies - continued

Tangible capital assets
Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost. Cost includes the purchase price as well as
other acquisition costs. The costs of tangible capital assets are amortized over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

Rate Method

Data conversion 20 % Declining balance
Furniture and fixtures 20 % Straight line
Information system 20 % Declining balance
Leasehold improvements 20 % Straight line
National Routing System -

Computer equipment and

software 20 % Declining balance
Office equipment 20 % Straight line
Security equipment 20 % Straight line

Measurement Uncertainty

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of
contingencies at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Measurement
Financial instruments are classified into one of the two measurement categories: (a) fair
value; or (b) cost or amortized cost.

The Agency records its financial assets at cost, which include cash and cash equivalents,
portfolio investments, accounts receivable, and inventories for resale. The Agency also
records its financial liabilities at cost, which includes accounts payable and accruals.

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recorded in
accumulated surplus as re-measurement gains and losses until realized. Upon disposition of
the financial instruments, the cumulative re-measurement gains and losses are reclassified
to the statement of operations. Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at cost
or amortized cost are recognized in the statement of operations in the period the gain or loss
occurs.

The Agency did not incur any re-measurement gains and losses during the year (2012 - $nil).

Financial Risk Management - overview
The Agency has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit
risk; liquidity risk; market risk; interest risk; and foreign currency risk.

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation
and causes financial loss to another party. Financial instruments which potentially subject
the Agency to credit risk consist principally of cash, accounts receivable and portfolio
investments.
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VITAL STATISTICS AGENCY

AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(in thousands)
MARCH 31, 2013

Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management - continued

The maximum exposure of the Agency to credit risk at year end is:

2013 2012
Cash on hand and balances in bank, note 6 $ 113 $ 8
Accounts receivable 155 114
Portfolio investments —_— 94 LT NS

$ 362 $ 218

Cash and cash equivalents, and porifolio investments: The Agency is not exposed to
significant credit risk as these instruments are primarily held by the Minister of Finance.

Accounts receivable: The Agency is not exposed to significant credit risk as no one party
accounts for a significant balance of trade receivables and payment in full is typically
collected when it is due. The majority of the other receivables is due from the federal
government. The Agency establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its
estimate of potential credit losses. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on
management’s estimates and assumptions regarding current market conditions, customer
analysis and historical payment trends. These factors are considered when determining
whether past due accounts are allowed for or written off.

The change in the allowance for doubtful accounts during the year was as follows:

2013 2012
Balance, beginning of the year $ 4 $ 4
Provision for receivable impairment 1 .-
Amounts recovered (1) -
Balance, end of the year $ 4 8 4

Liquidity Risk _ : 0
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as
they come due.

The Agency manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash balancgs and by review
from the Province of Manitoba to ensure adequate funding will be received to meet the
obligations.

Market Risk . )
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign

exchange rates, will affect the Agency's income or the fair values of its financial instruments.

Interest Rate Risk ‘ ke _
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will

fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The interest rate exposure relates to
funds on deposit and portfolio investments.

The interest rate risk on funds on deposit is considered to be low because of their short:tgrm
nature. The interest rate risk on portfolio investments is considered to be Ip\_ﬂ as the original
deposits are reinvested at rates for investments with similar terms and conditions.
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VITAL STATISTICS AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(in thousands)
MARCH 31, 2013

Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Management - continued

Foreign Currency Risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Agency is not
exposed to significant foreign currency risk as it does not have any financial instruments
denominated in foreign currency.

5. WAIVER OF FEES
The Agency charges no fee for services in exchange for services from the following organizations:

(a) The Manitoba Development Centre, health care facilities, the Chief Medical Examiner's
Office (Manitoba Justice), the Manitoba Funeral Association and the Department of
Anatomy of the University of Manitoba as they provide services in accordance with The Vital
Statistics Act.

(b) Child and Family Services Regional Operations of Manitoba Family Services to act as
issuers of Marriage Licences and handling related administrative duties.

(c) Vital Statistics Offices in other jurisdictions through agreements to exchange information
between jurisdictions as it relates to one another's residency or birthplace.

{d) Statistics Canada for national tabulation and statistical information. Statistics Canada
provides payment for the microdata and microfilm records from the Vital Statistics Agency
and provides half of the cost of printing registration forms.

(e) Health and Welfare Canada (Indian and Northern Affairs).

Services provided under the above agreements are valued at $6 for the year ended March 31,
2013 (2012 - $6).

The Agency provides services without compensation to victims of crimes as follows:

In March of 1998, the Ministers of Justice, Consumer and Corporate Affairs, and Highways and
Transportation agreed that the fees for replacement documents should be waived.
Representatives of Vital Statistics and the Division of Driver and Vehicle Licensing met to
coordinate the process so the public would receive the same program from both agencies.

Effective January 1, 1999, members of the public who have had their birth certificate stolen
during a criminal act can request replacement certificates and have the fee waived. This does
not apply to members of the public who have lost their identification or individuals who are non-
residents of Manitoba. Clients are asked to indicate that they are requesting a waiver of fees as
a result of a criminal act and to provide police incident number.

Service provided under the above arrangement are valued at $7 for the year ended March 31,
2013 (2012 - $8).
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VITAL STATISTICS AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands)
MARCH 31, 2013

6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND BANK INDEBTEDNESS

2013 2012
Cash on hand and balances in bank $ 113 $ 8
Working capital advances (313) (45)
$ (200) $ (37)

Working capital advances and long term financing for significant capital purchases are provided to
the Agency through the Special Operating Agencies Financing Authority. The Financing Authority
has approved a $500 limit for working capital advances for the Agency. At March 31, 2013 the
Agency has accessed working capital advances of $313 (2012 - $45).

7. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

2013 2012
Trade $ 159 $ 118
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts 4 4
$ 155 $ 114
8. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS
2013 2012
Severance benefits $ 220 $ 221
Sick pay benefits 37 37
$ 257 3 258

Pension benefits

Employees of the Vital Statistics Agency are eligible for pension benefits in accordanpe with t_he
provisions of the Civil Service Superannuation Act (CSSA) administered by the Civil Service
Superannuation Board (CSSB). The CSSA established a defined benefit_plan to provide benefits
to employees of the Manitoba Civil Service and to participating agencies of the Government,
including the Vital Statistics Agency, through the Civil Service Superannuation Fund (CSSF).

Effective March 31, 2001, pursuant to an agreement with the P[‘ovince of Manitoba, the Vital
Statistics Agency transferred to the Province the pension liability for its employees.

i i i i I to its
Commencing April 1, 2001, the Agency was required to pay to the Province an amount equal
employees' current pension contributions. The amqunt _pal_q for 2013 was $108 (2012 - $96_).
Under this agreement, the Agency has no further pension liability.
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VITAL STATISTICS AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY

PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(in thousands)
MARCH 31, 2013

Employee Future Benefits - continued

Severance benefits

Effective April 1, 1998, the Agency began recording accumulated severance pay benefits for its
employees. The amount of severance pay obligations is based on actuarial calculations. The
periodic actuarial valuations of these liabilities may determine that adjustments are needed to the
actuarial calculations when actual experience is different from that expected and/or because of
changes in actuarial assumptions used. The resulting actuarial gains or losses are amortized over
the expected average remaining service life of the related employee group.

An actuarial report was completed for the severance pay liability as of March 31, 2011. The report
provides a formula to update the liability on an annual basis. The Vital Statistics Agency's
actuarially determined net liability for accounting purposes as at March 31, 2013 was $220 (2011 -
$221). The actuarial loss of $88 based on actuarial reports is being amortized over the 15 year
expected average remaining service life (EARSL) of the employee group.

Significant long-term actuarial assumptions used in the March 31, 2011 valuation, and in the
determination of the March 31, 2013 present value of the accrued severance benefit obligation

were!
Annual rate of return
Inflation component 2.00 %
Real rate of return — 400%
J %
Assumed salary increase rates
Annual productivity increase 1.00 %
Annual general salary increase 275 %
i el 43
The severance benefit liability at March 31 includes the following components:
2013 2012

Accrued benefit liability $ 278 $ 285
Less: unamortized actuarial losses (58) (64)
Severance benefit liability $ 220 $ 221

The total expenses related to severance benefits at March 31 includes the following components:

2013 2012

Interest on obligation $ 19 $ 17
Current period benefit cost 10 9
Amortization of actuarial gain over EARSL 6 6
Total expense related to severance benefits $ 35 $ 32

Sick pay benefits

Vital Statistics Agency provides sick leave bensfits for employees that accumulate but do not vest.
The accrued benefit obligation related to sick leave entitiement earned by employees is determined
using a valuation model developed by an actuary. The valuation is based on employee
demographics, sick leave usage and actuarial assumptions. These assumptions include a 6.00%
annual return and a 3.75% annual salary increase.
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VITAL STATISTICS AGENCY

AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(in thousands)
MARCH 31, 2013

9. TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS

2013
Opening Closing
Balance Additions  Disposals Balance
Cost
Data conversion $ 2,555 $ - $ - 8 2,555
Furniture and fixtures 123 - - 123
Information system 1,620 - 1 1,619
Leasehold improvements 99 - - 99
National Routing System 422 3 - 425
Office equipment 213 3 - 216
Security equipment 75 - - 75
5,107 6 1 5112
Accumulated amortization
Data conversion 1,775 157 1 1,931
Furniture and fixtures 120 1 - 121
Information system 1,211 82 - 1,293
Leasehold improvements 93 2 - 95
National Routing System 261 32 - 293
Office equipment 190 7 - 197
Security equipment 72 3 - 75
3,722 284 1 4,005
Net book value $ 1,385 $ (278) $ - $ 1,107
2012
Opening Closing
Balance Additions Disposals Balance
Cost
Data conversion $ 2,555 § - 8 - 8 2,555
Furniture and fixtures 121 2 - 123
Information system 1,434 186 - 1,620
Leasehold improvements 98 1 - 99
National Routing System 416 6 & 422
Office equipment 192 21 - 213
Security equipment 75 a Z 75
4,891 216 - 5,107
Accumulated amortization
Data conversion 1,580 195 - 1,775
‘Furniture and fixtures 118 2 - 120
Information system : 1,133 78 = 1,211
Leasehold improvements 90 3 - 93
National Routing System 222 39 - 261
Office equipment 183 7 : 190
Security equipment 65 7 - i -
3,391 331 - 3,722
Net book value $ 1,500 % (115) § - $ 1,385
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VITAL STATISTICS AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(in thousands)
MARCH 31, 2013

10. DESIGNATED ASSETS

The Agency has allocated $94 (2012 - $94) of its portfolio investments as designated assets for
cash received from the Province of Manitoba for vacation entitlements earned by employees of the
Agency prior to its designation as an SOA and the severance pay benefits accumulated to March
31, 1998 for certain of their employees. This amount is held by an interest bearing account until
the cash is required to discharge the related liabilities. Any unused balance is re-invested
annually.

11. COMMITMENTS

The Agency has not entered into a lease agreement with the Province of Manitoba for rental of
facilities at 254 Portage Avenue. Occupancy charges for the year ending March 31, 2014 are
estimated to be $197 (2013 - $197).

12. TRANSFER OF FUNDS TO THE PROVINCE OF MANITOBA

During the year, with Lieutenant-Governor-in-Council approval by Order in Council, the Agency
transferred $380 (2012 - $380) of its surplus funds to the Province of Manitoba.
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OPERATING
EXPENSES

VITAL STATISTICS AGENCY
AN AGENCY OF THE SPECIAL OPERATING AGENCIES FINANCING AUTHORITY
PROVINCE OF MANITOBA
Schedule 1
SCHEDULE OF OPERATING EXPENSES
(in thousands)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2013
2013 2013 2012
Budget Actual Actual

Accommodation $ 197 § 197 § 202
Central government charges 65 57 65
Computer information system 255 250 248
Office equipment support 25 20 26
Office supplies 22 23 27
Other operating expenses 75 70 76
Printed material supplies 140 171 154
Professional fees 25 66 61
Supplies for mechanized systems - - 23
Telecommunications 54 55 59
Training 5 4 5
Transportation and freight 170 219 203

$ 1,033 § 1,132 $ 1,149
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Deloitte.

Deloitte s.r.l.

360 rue Main

Bureau 2300
Winnipeg MB R3C 3Z3
Canada

Tél : 204-944-3609
Téléc. ; 204-947-9390
www,deloitte.ca

Rapport de ’auditeur indépendant

A I’ Assemblée 1égislative du Manitoba et
au Bureau des gouverneurs de 1'Université de Saint-Boniface

Nous avons effectué I’audit des ¢tats financiers ci-joints de 1"Université de Saint-Boniface, qui
comprennent les états de la situation financiére au 31 mars 2013, au 31 mars 2012 et au 1 avril 2011 et
les états des résultats, des gains de réévaluation, de I’évolution des soldes de fonds et des flux de
trésorerie pour les exercices terminés le 31 mars 2013 et le 31 mars 2012, ainsi qu’un résumé des
principales méthodes comptables et d*autres informations explicatives.

Responsabilité de la direction pour les états financiers

La direction est responsable de [a préparation et de la présentation fidéle de ces états financiers
conformément aux Normes comptables canadiennes pour le secteur public, ainsi que du contréle intetne
qu’elle considére comme nécessaire pour permettre la préparation d’états financiers exempts d’anomalies
significatives, que celles-ci résultent de fraudes ou d’erreurs.

Responsabilité de 'auditeur

Notre responsabilité consiste 4 exprimer une opinion sur les états financiers sur la base de nos audits.
Nous avons effectué nos audits selon les normes d’audit généralement reconnues du Canada. Ces normes
requiérent que nous nous conformions aux régles de déontologie et que nous planifiions et réalisions
I"audit de fagon 4 obtenir I’assurance raisonnable que les états financiers ne comportent pas d’anomalies
significatives.

Un audit implique la mise en ceuvre de procédures en vue de recueillir des éléments probants concernant
les montants et les informations fournis dans les états financiers. Le choix des procédures reléve du
Jjugement de Iauditeur, et notamment de son évaluation des risques que les états financiers comportent
des anomalies significatives, que celles-ci résultent de fraudes ou d’erreurs. Dans 1’évaluation de cos
risques, I’auditeur prend en considération le contrdle interne de 1°entité portant sur la préparation et la
présentation fidéle des éfats financiers, afin de concevoir des procédures d’audit appropriées aux
circonstances, et non dans le but d’exprimer une opinion sur I’efficacité du contrdle interne de Ientité. Un
audit comporte également I’appréciation du caractére approprié des méthodes comptables retenues et du
caractére raisonnable des estimations comptables faites par la direction, de méme que 1’appréciation de la
présentation d*ensemble des états financiers.

Membre de / Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsy Limited
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Nous estimons que les éléments probants que nous avons obtenus dans le cadre de nos audits sont
suffisants et appropriés pour fonder notre opinion d’audit.

Opinion

A notre avis, les états financiers donnent, dans tous leurs aspects significatifs, une image fidéle de la
situation financiére de 1’Université de Saint-Boniface au 31 mars 2013, au 31 mars 2012 et au

1% avril 2011, ainsi que de ses activités, de ses gains de réévaluation et de ses flux de trésorerie pour les
exercices terminés le 31 mars 2013 et le 31 mars 2012, conformément aux Normes comptables
canadiennes pour le secteur public.

DM s.ml

Le 24 juin 2013
Winnipeg, Manitoba
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UNIVERSITE DE SAINT-BONIFACE

Etats de la situation financiére

au 31 mars 2013 et au 31 mars 2012

Fonctionnement Fonds Fonds des Fonds de "31 mars 31 mars T avrl
général affectés immobilisations dotation 2613 2012 2011
. 3 3 5 3 8 3 b
Actif
Actif & court terme
Encaisse 3 633 535 - - - 3633535 7173 296 6332 889
Comptes 4 recevoir et
autres actifs (note 6) 792 030 - - 194 519 986 549 2015076 2799 164
4 425 565 - - 194 519 4 620 084 9 188 372 9 132 053
Placements (note 7) 16 916 204 - - 12247 772 29 163 976 22 870 306 21951231
Immobilisations (note 8) - - 25665 130 - 25 665 130 26270 449 24 529419
Interfonds (13 569 052) 13 384 106 - 184 946 - - -
7772717 13 384 106 25 665 130 12 627 237 59 449 19¢ 58329 127 55612703
Passif et soldes de fonds
Passif 4 court terme
Comptes & payer et frais courus 3639 935 - - - 3639935 3322391 4 005 401
Revenus reportés 403 150 - - - 403 150 427 032 411 409
Contributions reportées (note 9% 698 890 - - - 698 890 2284813 1044 002
Emprunt & court terme {note 10 - - - - - 145 987 159 257
4 741 975 - - - 4741 975 6 180223 5 620 069
Empmnt & long terme (note 10) - - - - - - 145 987
Engagements (note 12)
Soldes de fonds
Non grevés d’affectations 2096127 - - - 2096127 2450 856 2 449 454
Grevés d’affectations (note 13) - 13 384 106 - - 13384 106 12 000 599 12 206 166
Investis en immobilisations - - 25 665 130 - 25 665 130 26 270 449 24 529 419
En dotation (note 14) - - - 11 758 184 11 758 184 11 427 000 10 661 608
2096 127 13 384 106 25 665 130 11 758 184 52 903 547 52 148 904 49 846 647
Gains de réévaluation cumnlés 934 615 - - 869 053 1 803 668 - -
7772717 13 384 106 25 665 130 12 627 237 59 449 190 58 320 127 55612703
Les notes complémentaires font partie intégrante de ces états financiers.
Approuvé par Je-Rpreau @63 youverneurs de I’ Université de Saint-Roniface :
Président
Rectrice
Page 3 de 30
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UNIVERSITE DE SAINT-BONIFACE

Etats de ’évolution des soldes de fonds
au 31 mars 2013 et aun 31 mars 2012

Fonds
Fonctionnement affectés Fonds des Fonds de
général (note 12) immobilisations dotation 2013
5 $ $ $ $
Solde an début de ’exercice (note 2) 2 450 856 12 000 599 26 270 449 11 427 000 52 148 904
Changements 4 la suite de I"adoption des NCSP
Reclassement des gains non réalisés sur
les placements (note 3) (397 084) - - (385 650) (782 734)
Solde au début de |’exercice aprés ’effet des
changements 4 la suite de "adoption des NCSP 2053772 12 000 599 26 270 449 11 041 350 51 366 170
Excédent (insuffisance) des revenus sur les dépenses
pour I’exercice 1747 345 325511 (1252 313) 716 834 1537377
Virements
Intéréts (272 613) 272 613 - - -
Allocations pour projets futurs {1 300 000} 1 300 000 - - -
Financement de projets 405 517 (502 517) 97 000 - =
Achats ou transferts d’immobilisations (537 894) (12 100) 549 994 - -
{1704 990) 1057 996 646 994 - -
Changement net de ’exercice 42 355 1 383 507 (605 319) 716 834 15837 377
Solde 2 la fin de exercice 2 096 127 13 384 106 25665 130 11 758 184 52 903 547
Les notes complémentaires font partie intégrante de ces états financiers.
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UNIVERSITE DE SAINT-BONIFACE

Etats de I’évolution des soldes de fonds (suite)

au 31 mars 2013 et an 31 mars 2012

Fonds
Fonctionnement affectés Fonds des Fonds de
général (note 12) immaobilisations dotation 2012
§ $ $ $ $
Solde au début de P’exercice (note 2) 2 449 454 12 206 166 24 529 419 10 661 608 49 846 647
Excédent des revenus sur les dépenses pour I’exercice 900 932 380 551 226 382 794 392 2302 257
Virements
Intéréts (192 717) 192717 - - -
Allocations pour projets futurs {665 500) 665 500 - - -
Financement de projets 86 802 (86 802) - = =
Reclassement de restrictions - 29 (000 - (29 000) -
Achats ou transferts d’immobilisations (128 115) (1386 533 1514 648 - -
(899 530) (586 118) 1514 648 (29 000) -
Changement net de ’exercice 1402 (205 567) 1741030 765 392 2302257
Solde a 1a fin de I’exercice 2 450 856 12 000 599 26 270 449 11427 000 52 148 904
Les notes complémentaires font partie intégrante de ces états financiers.
Page 5 de 30
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UNIVERSITE DE SAINT-BONIFACE

Etat des gains de réévaluation
de I’exercice terminé le 31 mars 2013

Fonctionnement Fonds de
général dotation 2013
$ h] $
Gains non réalisés cumulés au début
de Pexercice = - -
Ajustement a la suite de I’adoption des NCSP —
Instruments financiers (note 3) 397 084 385 650 782 734
Gains non réalisés attribuables aux
éléments suivants :
Portefeuille de placements 537531 483 403 1020 934
Gains de réévaluation nets de ’exercice 537 531 483 403 1020934
Gains de réévaluation cumulés 4 la
fin de ["exercice 934 615 869 053 1 803 668

Les notes complémentaires font partie intégrante de ces états financiers,
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UNIVERSITE DE SAINT-BONIFACE

Etats des résultats

des exercices terminés le 31 mars 2013 et le 31 mars 2012

Fonctionnement Fonds Fonds des Fonds de
général affectés immobilisations dotation 2013
b 3 3 $ 8
Revenus
Subventions
Provincial 15 715 506 - 21 868 - 15737 374
Fédéral 4 675 105 - - - 4675 105
Droits de scolarité 4 351 479 - - - 4 351 479
Autres revenus 2 289 523 - - 29 809 2319 332
Revenus de placements (note 7) 635 700 - - 401 423 1037123
Dons - 335511 - 641 879 977 390
27 667 313 335 511 21 868 1073111 29 097 803
Dépenses
Salaires et avantages sociaux 20 490 398 - - - 20 490 398
Matériel et autres 4 062 408 - 7 600 139 480 4209 494
Ameortissement - - 1266 581 - 1266 581
Déplacements et conférences 687 333 - - - 687 333
Services publics 529 735 - - - 529 735
Bourses et prix 150 094 10 000 - 216 791 376 885
25919 968 16 000 1274181 356 277 27 560 426
Excédent (insuffisance) des revenus
sur les dépenses de I’exercice 1747 345 325511 (1252 313) 716 834 1537377
Les notes complémentaires font partie intégrante de ces états financiers.
Page 7 de 30
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UNIVERSITE DE SAINT-BONIFACE

Etats des résultats (suite)

des exercices terminés le 31 mars 2013 et le 31 mars 2012

Fonctionnement Fonds Fonds des Fonds de
général affectés immobilisations dotation 2012
b b $ 3 3
Revenus
Subventions
Provincial 14 667 127 - 1241175 - 15 908 302
Fédéral 4968 384 - 291 664 - 5260 048
Droits de scolarité 3 803 738 - - - 3 803 738
Autres revenus 2344 650 - 2917 60 835 2 408 402
Dons - 390 551 - 762 282 1152 833
Produits financiers (note 7) 535 638 - - 333 086 868 724
26 319 537 390 551 1535756 1156203 29 402 047
Dépenses
Salaires et avantages sociaux 19775539 - - - 19775 539
Matériel et autres 4388 914 - - 149 935 4 538 849
Amortissement - - 1309374 - 1309374
Déplacements et conférences 643 369 - - - 643 369
Services publics 511403 - - - 511403
Bourses et prix 99 380 10 000 - 211 876 321 256
25 418 605 10 000 1309 374 361 811 27 099 780
Excédent des revenus sur les dépenses
de exercice 900 932 380 551 226 382 794 392 2302257
Les notes complémentaires font partie intégrante de ces états financiers.
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UNIVERSITE DE SAINT-BONIFACE

Etats des flux de trésorerie
des exercices terminés le 31 mars 2013 et le 31 mars 2012

2013 2012
$ $
Flux de trésorerie liés aux activités d’exploitation
Excédent des revenus sur les dépenses de I'exercice 1537377 2 302 257
Eléments hors caisse
Amortissement des immobilisations 1266 581 1309 374
Contributions reportées comptabilisées aux revenus (1910 536) (1192 186)
Perte (gain) & la vente d’immobilisations 7 600 (2917
901 022 2416 528
Variations d’éléments du fonds de roulement
Comptes & recevoir et autres actifs 1028 527 784 088
Comptes & payer et frais courus 317 544 (683 010)
Revenus reportés (23 882) 15 623
2223211 2533229
Flux de trésorerie liés aux activités de financement
Diminution de 'emprunt (145 987) (159257
Contributions reportées — apports regus 324 613 2 432 997
178 626 2273740
Flux de trésorerie liés aux immobilisations
Achats 4’ immobilisations (673 385) (3 055 094)
Ventes d’immobilisations 4523 7607
(608 862) (3 047 487)
Flux de trésorerie liés aux activités d’investissement
Augmentation netle des placements (5272 736) (919 075)
(5272 736) (919 075)
(Diminution) augmentation nette de I’encaisse (3 539 761) 840 407
Encaisse au début de I’exercice 7173 296 6332 889
Encaisse 3 la fin de ’exercice 3 633 535 7173 296

Les notes complémentaires font partie intégrante de ces états financiers.
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UNIVERSITE DE SAINT-BONIFACE

Notes complémentaires
31 mars 2013 et 31 mars 2012

Sommaire des principales méthodes comptables
Autorité et objectifs

L Université de Saint-Boniface (I’« Université ») est constituée en corporation dans la province du
Manitoba depuis 1871. L’Université est régie par son Bureau des gouverneurs sous 1’ autorité de la
Loi sur I'Université de Saint-Boniface, C.P.L.M. ¢. U150,

L Université est un organisme de bienfaisance enregistré et il bénéficie 3 ce titre de I’exonération
d’impdt sur le revenu prévue 4 ['article 149 de la Loi de l'impdt sur le revenu.

Le capital de I'Université est composé des fonds suivants : fonds non grevés d’affectations; fonds
grevés d’affectations d’origine interne et externe; fonds investis en immobilisations et fonds de
dotation. I n’y a eu aucun changement 4 ce que I'Université considére étre son capital depuis
I’année précédente,

L’Université a pour objectifs de répondre aux besoins éducatifs des collectivités francophones du
Manitoba et du Canada et de favoriser leur mieux-&tre sur les plans linguistique, culturel,
économique et social. Pour atteindre ces objectifs, elle offre, en frangais, une vaste gamme de
possibilités en matiére d’éducation et de recherche,

L’Université gdre son capital afin de s’assurer de maintenir les ressources nécessaires pour
atteindre ses objectifs. L*Université veille aussi au maintien des ressources nécessaires pour
répondre & ses obligations telles que les dépenses générales et administratives, les réparations
majeures ¢t I’achat des immobilisations requises.

Méthode de compiabiliié

Les états financiers de I’Université ont été préparés conformément aux Normes comptables
canadiennes pour le secteur public avec I’option des normes comptables s’appliquant aux
organismes sans but lucratif comme prescrit par le Conseil sur la comptabilité dans le secteur
public (chapitre SP 4200).

L’Université a adopté la méthode de comptabilité par fonds, et a comptabilisé les apports selon la
méthode de comptabilité par fonds affectés. Les apports affectés sont comptabilisés a titre de
revenus pour I’exercice au cours duquel les dépenses relatives sont engagées. Les apports non

affectés sont comptabilisés 4 titre de revenus pour I’exercice au cours duquel ils sont regus,

Il existe quatre fonds principaux a 1’ Université : le Fonds de fonctionnement général, les Fonds
affectés, le Fonds des immobilisations et le Fonds de dotation.
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UNIVERSITE DE SAINT-BONIFACE

Notes complémentaires
31 mars 2013 et 31 mars 2012

Sommaire des principales méthodes comptables (suite)
Fonds de fonctionnement général

Le Fonds de fonctionnement général couvre la prestation des programmes et les activités
administratives. Il est constitué des ressources non affectées et des subventions de fonctionnement
affectées. Il ’étend notamment aux opérations et aux activités suivantes :

-~ Secteur universitaire

— Ecole technique et professionnelle

— Education permanente

— Centre de recherche qui comprend le Centre d’études franco-canadiennes de 1’Ouest et les
apports affectés a la recherche

— Services internes qui comprennent, entre autres, les opérations administratives, financiéres et
informatiques ainsi que les services aux &tudiants

Fonds affectés

Les Fonds affectés sont composés du fonds grevé d’affectations d’origine interne et du fonds prevé
d’affectations d’origine externe. Le fonds grevé d’affectations d’origine interne représente des
fonds réservés par le Burean des gouverneurs pour divers besoins futurs. Le fonds grevé
d’affectations d’origine externe est assujetti 4 des restrictions d’un donateur ou d’autres tiers.

Fonds des immobilisations

Le Fonds des immobilisations représente les actifs nets de I’Université qui ne sont pas disponibles
pour d’autres buts parce qu’ils onf été investis en immobilisations,

Fonds de dotation

Le Fonds de dotation est constitué de sommes d’argent ou de valeurs mobilidres obtenues par voie
de legs, de dotation ou de dons et dont le capital est maintenu intact selon les directives du testateur
ou du donateur,

Constatation des revenus

Les apports affectés au fonctionnement général sont comptabilisés dans le Fonds de
fonctionnement général, a titre de revenus pour I’exercice financier au cours duquel les dépenses
visées ont €€ engagées ou, selon le cas, au cours duquel I"activité ou le projet visé a pris fin, Tous
les autres apports affectés sont comptabilisés a titre de revenus du Fonds des immobilisations, des
Fonds affectés ou du Fonds de dotation, selon le cas.

Les apports non affectés sont comptabilisés dans le Fonds de fonctionnement général a titre de
revenus pour ’exercice financier au cours duquel ils ont été regus,
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UNIVERSITE DE SAINT-BONIFACE

Notes complémentaires
31 mars 2013 et 31 mars 2012

Sommaire des principales méthodes comptables (suite)
Constatation des revenus (suite)

Les accords de financement qui sont conclus, sous forme de billets 4 ordre, avec le ministére des
Finances du Manitoba pour la construction ou I’acquisition d’immobilisations sont enregistrés
comme des subventions d’'immobilisations, Ces billets & ordre seront remboursés a partir du
financement futur accordé par le gouvernement provincial par I’intermédiaire du Conseil de
"enseignement postsecondaire {CEP}, Les subventions d*immobilisations, selon la méthode de
comptabilité par fonds affectds, sont comptabilisées & titre de revenus dans I’état des résultats. Le
financement futur re¢u du CEP en lien avec [es billets 4 ordre pour couvrir les frais d’intéréts et les
paiements du principal est exclu de 1’état des résultats.

Les apports destinés a la dotation sont comptabilisés & titre de revenus du Fonds de dotation. Quant
aux revenus de placement générés par les ressources du Fonds de dotation, peu importe que ceux-ci
aient ¢été affectés ou non, ils sont comptabilisés 2 titre de revenus du Fonds de dotation,

Tous les autres revenus de placements qui ne sont pas générés par les ressources du Fonds de
dotation sont comptabilisés 4 titre de revenus du Fonds de fonctionnement général,

Instruments financiers

L’ Université classe ses instruments financiers a la juste valeur ou au cofit amorti.

Juste valewr

Cette catégorie comprend les instruments dérivés ainsi que les placements dans les instruments
de capitaux propres cotés sur un marché actif. L’ Université a fait le choix de comptabiliser ses
placements 4 la juste valeur,

ls sont initialement comptabilisés au colt a [achat puis détenus 2 la juste valeur, Les gains et
pertes non réalisés sur la juste valeur sont comptabilisés a I’état des gains et pertes de
réévaluation, jusqu’a ce qu’ils soient réalisés. Lorsqu’ils sont réalisés, ils sont transférés et
comptabilisés & 1’état des résultats,

Les coiits des transactions li¢s aux instruments financiers comptabilisés a la juste valeur sont